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The history of Basil Read

Basil Read (Pty) 
Ltd is established 
by Basil Leonard 
Read

Basil Read  
listed on the 
Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange

1987

Kyalami Race Track
1960

1952

1962
Malelane Sugar Mill

1989
N2 Freeway between 
Umhloti and Tongaat

1998
Malmesbury Prison

Majuba Cooling Towers
1999

2001
Nedcor Head Office



Basil Read becomes the 
first truly black-owned 
construction company in  
South Africa through a sale 
of 51,9% by Bouygues to a 
consortium of Amabubesi 
Investments and Metallon

The late Piet 
Ndabane served 
at Basil Read for 
50 years

The late Edna Jardine 
served at Basil Read 
for more than  
50 years

2005

2006
Pier One, Durban 

Harbour

2012
Basil Read concludes 

BBBEE deal with 
SIOC CDT Investment 

Holdings in the 60th 
year of existence

2011
St Helena Airport 

Project Awarded

2010
Mbombela Stadium



HIGHLIGHTS

➙ Strategy refined to counter difficult trading environment at present and position the 
group for sustainable growth.

➙ St Helena contract secured – R3,1 billion to design, build, operate and transfer an 
international airport.

➙ Record order book maintained despite challenging markets.

➙ Based on 2011 carbon footprint, solid reductions recorded in resource consumption. 

➙ World-class human resources practices again reflected in ranking as Best Employer.

LOWLIGHTS 

➙ One fatality recorded for the year (2011: one).

➙ Loss-making construction contracts.

➙ Strain on working capital due to late payments from key clients.

SCOPE OF REPORT

Basil Read’s integrated annual report for the 12 months to 31 December 2012 integrates our economic, social and 

environmental results for a group-wide understanding. It also sets out the challenges and opportunities that lie ahead. 

It follows a similar report issued for the year to 31 December 2011. 

Although the group is now 60 years old, rapid expansion in recent years makes data comparability quite challenging in 

certain areas. Where practical, we are implementing common data standards. In certain sections, we separately disclose 

the performance of the TWP engineering group, given the nature of its business and different stakeholder needs. 

Following the sale of this group in March 2013, we will incorporate the retained elements of  TWP into Basil Read’s group 

performance reporting. 

Triple bottom-line reporting remains a cornerstone of our commitment to entrench global best practices in all operations. 

Basil Read therefore reports against the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (G3), and the content of this report is 

self-declared at GRI level C. Once a group-wide reporting platform is more mature, this report may be externally assured.

Triple bottom-line reporting remains a cornerstone of our commitment to entrench global best practice. We need your 
feedback to ensure that we report on the Basil Read specifics that matter to you – our shareholders. Please visit our 
website: www.basilread.co.za/investor-relations/contact/ to complete the feedback form.

Our group
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Further information is available on our website:  
www.basilread.co.za
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What we do

Group

OVERVIEW

Strong organic and acquisitive growth 
in recent years has made Basil Read a 
formidable competitor in its core sectors. 
Increasingly, intra-group synergies enable 
constituent companies to offer their clients 
a comprehensive service, while securing 
additional work for the group.

Following this rapid growth, and the 
prevailing downturn in the construction 
cycle, Basil Read is consolidating activities 
and operations into a cohesive, focused 
group by concentrating on its core skills. 
As part of this review, the major portion 
of the TWP group was sold during the year.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R6,8 billion

(2011: R6,2 billion)

Operating loss

R120,5 million

(2011: profit of R280,9 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙  New head office campus occupied

➙   BBBEE transaction concluded in 

November 2012 with SIOC CDT 

Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd

➙   Sale of TWP to WorleyParsons 

concluded in March 2013

Engineering

OVERVIEW

Basil Read’s engineering division 
complements the activities of the group’s 
construction, mining and developments 
divisions, adding a wealth of specialised in-
house expertise and experience. Within 
this division is the group’s engineering, 
procurement and construction (EPC) 
company, Basil Read Matomo, a growing 
part of the group’s service offering.

The division is also home to LYT 
Architecture, the most diversified design and 
architectural practice in South Africa with 
significant skill and experience in the design 
and delivery of a variety of projects, both in 
South Africa and abroad.

This division meets growing demand for 
companies that offer turnkey services and 
specialist skills for construction projects.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R1,8 billion

(2011: R1,1 billion)

Operating profit

R104,3 million

(2011: R82,9 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙  Solid growth in engineering business

➙   Renewed focus on engineering, 

procurement and construction (EPC) 

business

Developments

OVERVIEW

This division is strategically significant to the 
broader group: while the nature of many of 
its contracts is an integral part of our social 
licence to operate, the division also provides 
secondary work for group companies. 

From affordable housing developments 
to mixed-use residential estates and light 
industrial parks, Basil Read is working with 
national, provincial and local government, 
parastatals and non-governmental 
organisations to support national 
imperatives focused on improving the 
quality of life of South Africa’s people.

Basil Read’s flagship project in this sector is 
Cosmo City – already a vibrant community 
of over 11 000 families enjoying affordable, 
quality homes surrounded by schools, 
churches, clinics, shopping centres and 
parks. By the end of 2012, Cosmo City had 
become home to some 60 000 residents. 
Similar projects are well along the regulatory 
approval process.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R25,0 million

(2011: R38,3 million)

Operating loss

R30,0 million

(2011: profit of R9,1 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙   Key projects set to break ground 

during 2013

➙   Further sales at Klipriver Business Park 

and Cosmo City industrial park

Construction

OVERVIEW

This division incorporates Basil Read’s civil 
engineering, roads and building operations. 
Proven technical and financial engineering 
skills have reinforced our position among 
the leaders in this industry.

Major works for private and public-sector 
clients cover a broad spectrum of civil 
engineering, road and building projects, 
including earthworks, bridges, pipelines, 
infrastructure, harbour and marine works, 
industrial plants, sports facilities, roads, 
highways, airports and related industrial 
activities. 

The group also adds value through innovative 
packaging: build-operate-transfer (BOT) 
contracts, design and construct, and alternative 
solutions tailored to meet client requirements.

Using a total quality approach to projects, the 
Basil Read construction division adds value 
through unique turnkey solutions, innovative 
construction methods, effective cost control, 
design alternatives and financing options.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R4,0 billion

(2011: R4,1 billion)

Operating loss

R277,2 million

(2011: profit of R81,3 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙   Natural progression into Africa given 

depressed local conditions

➙   Active in Botswana, Namibia, 

Zimbabwe, Democratic Republic of 

Congo, Mozambique, St Helena island; 

actively tendering in Africa

Mining

OVERVIEW

Basil Read’s mining division incorporates 
opencast mining operations and the group’s 
drilling and blasting activities, housed in 
subsidiary Blasting & Excavating (B&E).

Basil Read Mining specialises in opencast 
contract mining; mine spoils rehabilitation; 
bulk earthmoving; thin, thick and multiple 
seam mining; hard-rock selective mining and 
materials handling. 

B&E provides drilling and blasting services to 
the southern African construction, quarrying 
and mining industries. It is the largest company 
of its kind and the major regional user of 
explosives in these industries. 

Basil Read Mining has operated medium- and 
long-term contracts for gold, platinum, nickel, 
iron, diamond and coal mining clients across 
Africa, using the latest operating equipment 
and innovative mining techniques to satisfy 
their evolving needs.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R1,0 billion

(2011: R930,7 million)

Operating profit

R82,4 million

(2011: R107,7 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙   Solid results underpinned by successful 

five-year multi-billion rand contract in 

Botswana through international joint 

venture

Backed by six decades of construction expertise, Basil Read has 
become synonymous with excellence in the spheres of construction, 
engineering, mining and property development.

For well over half a 

century, Basil Read has 

been helping to build 

the foundations of the 

country for all South 

Africans and plays a 

leading role in the 

construction industry in 

South Africa, building on 

its proven reputation 

for uncompromising 

quality and value-for-

money.

F llFor well over halfh lf
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Chairman’s statement

In its 60th year, Basil Read continued to secure a fresh pipeline 
of work, despite the many challenges facing the construction 
sector. With an order book maintained at R10,2 billion, the 
strongest in its history, the group continued to pursue and 
tender for a wide range of projects locally, abroad and in Africa.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
The downturn in the construction industry that began post 
2010 continued during the year. While part of this was due to 
the lagged effect of the global financial crisis, the situation has 
been exacerbated by the very slow roll-out of announced 
infrastructural investment projects in South Africa. A recent 
report revealed that capital spending by the government and 
private sector fell to its lowest level since 2005: capital 
expenditure on announced projects dropped for the third 
consecutive year to R148 billion from R174 billion in the prior 
year. The value of new projects announced last year also 
declined. 

Accordingly, we refined our strategy during the year to ensure 
the group maintains its momentum and is well positioned for the 
upturn when it materialises. Our strategy is detailed on pages 20 
to 33.

As part of this strategic review, we have renewed our focus on 
our core business of EPC (engineering, procurement, 
construction) while consolidating recent acquisitions that have 
diversified our earnings base. Accordingly, in October 2012, we 
announced the acquisition of TWP by WorleyParsons for 
R900 million. This transaction excludes Basil Read Matomo, 
TWP Investments and LYT Architecture (formerly TPS.P 
Architects). These companies will continue to operate 
autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries of Basil Read.

The rationale behind this divestment was to create value for 
Basil Read shareholders and support our focus on EPC 
business. This will include special projects, positioning the 
group for organic growth, reducing debt levels, and having 
appropriate cash reserves to invest in resources for 
government-planned local infrastructure development.

CONSTRUCTION CHARTER
We continue to show steady progress performance against the 
2009 construction sector charter. The group is a true 
reflection of the demographics of South Africa, already 
exceeding longer-term empowerment targets in key categories 
such as economic interest and skills development. In all other 
areas, we are making solid strides towards compliance.

However, in common with most of the private sector in South 

Africa, we still face obstacles in reaching our goals of real, 

sustainable economic empowerment in the areas of voting 

rights, management control and employment equity. Several 

initiatives are under way to address this.

BROAD-BASED BLACK ECONOMIC 

EMPOWERMENT (BBBEE)

Recognising the importance of ongoing transformation, 

Basil Read concluded an agreement with SIOC Community 

Development Trust during the year to acquire an effective 

25,1% in our group. The total value of the BBBEE transaction is 

R521 million, of which R100 million was paid by SIOC in cash 

and the balance will be via vendor funding. 

The SIOC Community Development Trust was established 

in 2006 as part of the unbundling of Kumba Resources, and  

holds 3% of the ordinary shares in Kumba. The trust represents 

five underlying entities that benefit mostly disadvantaged 

individuals living in areas around Kumba’s mines in Limpopo and 

the Northern Cape and comprise broad-based communities. 

Basil Read and SIOC share a common vision for the growth  

of the company in southern Africa and throughout the African 

continent. SIOC and Basil Read are both active in the mining 

sector which remains a focus area for future growth. The 

strategic partnership may benefit infrastructure development 

within various broad-based communities and contribute 

towards bolstering Basil Read’s order book.

Post implementation of this transaction, Basil Read improved its 

BBBEE rating to a level 2 contributor in terms of DTI codes. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Basil Read’s directors and senior management endorse the 

code of corporate practices and conduct set out in the King III 

report on corporate governance. Basil Read complies with this 

code as well as with the JSE Listings Requirements in all 

material respects. The group regularly reviews its corporate 

governance policies and practices and strives for continuous 

improvement. 

During the year, we welcomed Dr Claudia Manning, Nopasika 

Lila, Connie Molusi and Paul Baloyi to our board. We are 

confident they will make a valuable contribution to board 

deliberations. The board will be further supported by the 

PERFORMANCE

Order book
Maintained at R10,2 billion

Renewed focus on EPC
Disposal of TWP to WorleyParsons 

completed in March 2013 

25,1% BBBEE transaction concluded 
Effective shareholding of BBBEE partner, 

SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd

BBBEE rating
Improved following successful  

completion of BBBEE transactionLevel 2

PERFORMANCE

Strategy refined to position for upturn

Inquiry by Competition Commission to be  
concluded by June 2013

Board strengthened through new appointments

In its 60th year, Basil Read continued to secure  

a fresh pipeline of work, which presents a solid  

platform for continued growth and development.

Lester Peteni – chairman

appointment of Andiswa Ndoni as company secretary. Other 

changes to the board are detailed in the corporate governance 

report.

OUTLOOK

The injection of R900 million through the disposal of 

TWP Holdings has significantly strengthened the group’s balance 

sheet in anticipation of the impending upswing in the construction 

sector. Finance Minister Pravin Gordhan recently reaffirmed 

government’s commitment to large-scale infrastructure spend 

with some R827 billion planned over the next three years, for 

which the financing is in place. Much of this spending will be 

allocated to provinces and municipalities for various capital 

projects, with Eskom, Transnet and other parastatals funding the 

balance of projects through their own resources and additional 

borrowing, supported by Treasury guarantees.

The Competition Commission’s inquiry into the construction 

sector has recently been widely reported on in the media as the 

process nears finality. The commission has indicated that it would 

like the settlement negotiation phase to be concluded by June 

2013. Basil Read is committed to continued cooperation with the 

commission and is looking forward to restoring the reputation of 

the group and the industry as a whole through the eradication of 

anti-competitive, collusive and corrupt behaviour.

APPRECIATION

Recent years have been a truly testing time for the 

construction industry, and the review period again tested our 

group. While results for the year were disappointing, they 

underscore that Basil Read is home to a formidable group of 

people, ably led by Marius Heyns and his management teams. 

The commitment of this 7 000-strong team, coupled with 

the counsel and steady support of my fellow directors, 

present a solid platform for Basil Read’s continued growth 

and development.

Lester Peteni

Chairman
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OUR DIVISIONS  
AND OPERATIONS

Since its establishment in 1952, Basil 
Read has become one of the foremost 
construction groups in Africa. Backed 
by six decades of remarkable expertise, 
the Basil Read name has become 
synonymous with excellence in 
the spheres of construction, mining 
and engineering.
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SUSTAINABILITY

We remain committed to embedding 
sustainability into every facet of our 
business, in line with our international 
peers, and best practice, inclusive of  
the communities we operate in.

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 83

Su
st

ai
n
ab

ili
ty

 r
ev

ie
w

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 201282 Basil Read integrated 
annual report 2012882

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 169

F
in

an
ci

al
 r

ev
ie

w

168

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired have been grouped into the following categories: 

government, multinational mining companies, listed companies, unlisted companies and individuals.

Loans to 

jointly 

controlled 

entities

R’000

 Available-

for-sale 

financial

assets 

R’000

 Financial 

assets 

at fair 

value 

through 

profit or 

loss 

R’000

 Contract 

and 

trade 

debtors 

R’000

 Receiv-

ables 

R’000

 Cash and 

cash 

equiva-

lents 

R’000

 Total 

R’000

31 December 2012

Government  –    –    –    394 008  28 730  –    422 738 

Multinational mining companies  –    –    –    30 466  –    –    30 466 

Listed companies  –    5 615  –    108 221  –    1 078 240  1 192 076 

Unlisted companies  77 967  6  50 812  307 748  52 598  447  489 578 

Individuals  –    –    –    –    508  –    508 

 77 967  5 621  50 812  840 443  81 836  1 078 687  2 135 366 

31 December 2011

Government  –    –    –    566 879  54 280  –    621 159 

Multinational mining companies  –    –    –    171 491  –    –    171 491 

Listed companies  –    42 177  –    136 509  –    715 609  894 295 

Unlisted companies  56 456  6  –    209 128  57 232  428  323 250 

Individuals  –    –    –    6 635  939  –    7 574 

 56 456  42 183  –    1 090 642  112 451  716 037  2 017 769

 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

7. OTHER INCOME

Dividends received  546  –   

Rent received  –    146 

 546  146 

8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Fair value losses  –    –   

– Fair value gains  31 659  –   

Fair value losses on financial instruments

– Interest rate swaps  (2 482)  –   

(Loss)/profit on sale of subsidiaries  (312) 24 475

Loss on sale of jointly controlled entities  (4 622) –

Profit on sale of associates 441 –

24 684 24 475

The fair value gain of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss relates to the group's investment in Lehating Mining 

(Pty) Ltd. Refer to note 20 for further details.

The fair value loss on financial instruments relates to an interest rate swap entered into by one of the group’s subsidiaries in 

Botswana. Refer to note 33 for further details.

 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

9. OPERATING PROFIT

The following items have been (charged)/credited in arriving at operating profit:

Raw materials  (1 649 588)  (1 832 229)

Subcontractors  (1 186 455)  (1 164 351)

Staff costs (refer note 40)  (1 032 043)  (1 213 414)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Owned assets  (206 995)  (155 153)

Plant and equipment and rehabilitation asset  (200 123)  (145 297)

Furniture and fittings  (6 824)  (9 747)

Land and buildings and surface properties  (48)  (109)

Leased assets

Plant and equipment and rehabilitation asset  (79 174)  (75 544)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  (300)  (20 413)

(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (97)  4 249 

Gross amount  (113)  4 941 

Taxation  16  (692)

Profit on sale of available-for-sale financial assets  4 050  –   

Gross amount  4 979  –   

Taxation  (929)  –   

Amortisation of intangible assets  (619)  3 479 

Gross amount  (860)  325 

Taxation  241  3 154 

Auditors' remuneration  (8 674)  (7 781)

For services as auditors  (7 732)  (6 985)

For other services  (942)  (796)

Operating leases  (23 285)  (27 682)

Office equipment  –    (1 799)

Office space – contractual  (23 285)  (24 437)

Other services  –    (1 446)

Share-based payment  (60 539)  (545)

BBBEE transaction  (60 539)  –   

Share incentive scheme  –    (545)

Competition Commission penalty – accrual  (65 000)  (10 000)

Write down of development land  (26 607)  –   

10. NET FINANCE COSTS

Bank  19 845  21 131 

Customers and other  317  2 094 

Interest received  20 162  23 225 

Foreign exchange gains  8 534 22 321

Foreign exchange losses  (14 357)  (12 027)

Foreign exchange   (5 823) 10 294

Bank loans and other borrowings  (25 199)  (17 747)

Finance leases  (46 498)  (33 351)

Domestic medium-term note programme  (27 325)  (21 150)

 (99 022)  (72 248)

Less: Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets  –    5 689 

Interest paid  (99 022)  (66 559)

Net finance costs  (84 683)  (33 040)

Basil Read Holdings Limited is listed under heavy construction in the 

industrial sector of the JSE Limited (JSE). The group and its subsidiaries 

are active in civil engineering projects, road construction, building, mixed 

integrated housing developments, property development, opencast mining, 

and engineering design, procurement and construction, as well as related 

services. Following the sale of the bulk of  TWP’s operations in March 2013, 

Basil Read continues to operate primarily in South Africa and selected 

African markets.

Backed by six decades of construction expertise, Basil Read has become 

synonymous with excellence in the spheres of construction, engineering, 

mining and property development.

Today we stand out as a proud symbol of quality, service excellence and 

professional integrity, both in South Africa and beyond our borders.

For 60 years, Basil Read has played its part in building the foundations of 

South Africa for all its citizens. Every South African has been touched by 

Basil Read at some point – from homes to clinics and hospitals, schools, 

roads and highway systems. 

We are proud of what we offer all stakeholders, and we believe we are 

cementing our legacy.

We have referred to our four strategic themes throughout our report:

Consolidate and rationalise

Work ethic and pride

Image and reputation

Leadership through operational excellence

02 – 13
Group  

overview

14 – 27
Management 

review

28 – 81
Divisional  

review

82 – 130
Sustainability

131 – 228
Financial  

review
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Group

OVERVIEW

Strong organic and acquisitive growth 
in recent years has made Basil Read a 
formidable competitor in its core sectors. 
Increasingly, intra-group synergies enable 
constituent companies to offer their clients 
a comprehensive service, while securing 
additional work for the group.

Following this rapid growth, and the 
prevailing downturn in the construction 
cycle, Basil Read is consolidating activities 
and operations into a cohesive, focused 
group by concentrating on its core skills. 
As part of this review, the major portion 
of the TWP group was sold during the year.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R6,8 billion

(2011: R6,2 billion)

Operating loss

R120,5 million

(2011: profit of R280,9 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙  New head office campus occupied

➙   BBBEE transaction concluded in 

November 2012 with SIOC CDT 

Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd

➙   Sale of TWP to WorleyParsons 

concluded in March 2013

Construction

OVERVIEW

This division incorporates Basil Read’s civil 
engineering, roads and building operations. 
Proven technical and financial engineering 
skills have reinforced our position among 
the leaders in this industry.

Major works for private and public-sector 
clients cover a broad spectrum of civil 
engineering, road and building projects, 
including earthworks, bridges, pipelines, 
infrastructure, harbour and marine works, 
industrial plants, sports facilities, roads, 
highways, airports and related industrial 
activities. 

The group also adds value through innovative 
packaging: build-operate-transfer (BOT) 
contracts, design and construct, and alternative 
solutions tailored to meet client requirements.

Using a total quality approach to projects, the 
Basil Read construction division adds value 
through unique turnkey solutions, innovative 
construction methods, effective cost control, 
design alternatives and financing options.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R4,0 billion

(2011: R4,1 billion)

Operating loss

R277,2 million

(2011: profit of R81,3 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙   Natural progression into Africa given 

depressed local conditions

➙   Active in Botswana, Namibia, 

Zimbabwe, Democratic Republic of 

Congo, Mozambique, St Helena island; 

actively tendering in Africa

Mining

OVERVIEW

Basil Read’s mining division incorporates 
opencast mining operations and the group’s 
drilling and blasting activities, housed in 
subsidiary Blasting & Excavating (B&E).

Basil Read Mining specialises in opencast 
contract mining; mine spoils rehabilitation; 
bulk earthmoving; thin, thick and multiple 
seam mining; hard-rock selective mining and 
materials handling. 

B&E provides drilling and blasting services to 
the southern African construction, quarrying 
and mining industries. It is the largest company 
of its kind and the major regional user of 
explosives in these industries. 

Basil Read Mining has operated medium- and 
long-term contracts for gold, platinum, nickel, 
iron, diamond and coal mining clients across 
Africa, using the latest operating equipment 
and innovative mining techniques to satisfy 
their evolving needs.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R1,0 billion

(2011: R930,7 million)

Operating profit

R82,4 million

(2011: R107,7 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙   Solid results underpinned by successful 

five-year multi-billion rand contract in 

Botswana through international joint 

venture

What we do

Backed by six decades of construction expertise, Basil Read has 
become synonymous with excellence in the spheres of construction, 
engineering, mining and property development.
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OVERVIEW

Basil Read’s engineering division 
complements the activities of the group’s 
construction, mining and developments 
divisions, adding a wealth of specialised in-
house expertise and experience. Within 
this division is the group’s engineering, 
procurement and construction (EPC) 
company, Basil Read Matomo, a growing 
part of the group’s service offering.

The division is also home to LYT 
Architecture, the most diversified design and 
architectural practice in South Africa with 
significant skill and experience in the design 
and delivery of a variety of projects, both in 
South Africa and abroad.

This division meets growing demand for 
companies that offer turnkey services and 
specialist skills for construction projects.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R1,8 billion

(2011: R1,1 billion)

Operating profit

R104,3 million

(2011: R82,9 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙  Solid growth in engineering business

➙   Renewed focus on engineering, 

procurement and construction (EPC) 

business

Developments

OVERVIEW

This division is strategically significant to the 
broader group: while the nature of many of 
its contracts is an integral part of our social 
licence to operate, the division also provides 
secondary work for group companies. 

From affordable housing developments 
to mixed-use residential estates and light 
industrial parks, Basil Read is working with 
national, provincial and local government, 
parastatals and non-governmental 
organisations to support national 
imperatives focused on improving the 
quality of life of South Africa’s people.

Basil Read’s flagship project in this sector is 
Cosmo City – already a vibrant community 
of over 11 000 families enjoying affordable, 
quality homes surrounded by schools, 
churches, clinics, shopping centres and 
parks. By the end of 2012, Cosmo City had 
become home to some 60 000 residents. 
Similar projects are well along the regulatory 
approval process.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

R25,0 million

(2011: R38,3 million)

Operating loss

R30,0 million

(2011: profit of R9,1 million) 

SALIENT FEATURES

➙   Key projects set to break ground 

during 2013

➙   Further sales at Klipriver Business Park 

and Cosmo City industrial park

For well over half a 

century, Basil Read has 

been helping to build 

the foundations of the 

country for all South 

Africans and plays a 

leading role in the 

construction industry in 

South Africa, building on 

its proven reputation 

for uncompromising 

quality and value-for-

money.
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2012#

R’000

 2011# 

R’000

 2010

R’000 

2009

R’000

2008

R’000

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue  6 834 146  6 230 456  5 389 769  4 662 492  3 474 831 

Contracting  6 608 258  6 000 764  5 196 208  4 421 007  3 205 224 

Other  225 888  229 692  193 561  241 485  269 607 

Contracting and other costs  (5 768 021)  (5 044 751)  (4 237 060)  (3 766 044)  (2 794 383)

Other administrative and operating overheads*  (902 422)  (651 556)  (522 838)  (283 435)  (220 229)

Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets  (307 488)  (267 039)  (221 325)  (183 197)  (145 038)

Other income/(expenses)  25 230  24 621  252  (578)  (1 844)

Amortisation of intangible assets  (1 990)  (10 785)  (39 303)  (20 488)  (4 947)

Operating (loss)/profit  (120 545)  280 946  369 495  408 750  308 390 

Impairment of goodwill –  (32 403)  –  –  – 

Net finance (costs)/income  (77 133)  (36 007)  619  3 019  (12 314)

(Loss)/profit before share of associates  (197 678)  212 536  370 114  411 769  296 076 

Share of (losses)/profits from jointly controlled entities  (4 285)  (2 957)  1 662  –  – 

Share of profits/(losses) from associates  49 097  6 708  (188)  10  85 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (152 866)  216 287  371 588  411 779  296 161 

Taxation  (16 235)  (81 580)  (119 370)  (140 869)  (90 319)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (169 101)  134 707  252 218  270 910  205 842 

Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the company  (170 384)  140 979  260 753  274 270  204 516 

Non-controlling interests  1 283  (6 272)  (8 535)  (3 360)  1 326 

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (169 101)  134 707  252 218  270 910  205 842 

STATISTICS

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (136,54)  113,88  210,63  317,15  265,44 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (136,54)  113,88  210,63  316,49  262,12 

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (130,84)  139,65  209,25  333,12  267,04 

Diluted (loss)/headline earnings per share (cents)  (130,84)  139,65  209,25  332,43  263,71 

Dividend per share (cents) –  30,00  42,00  58,00  50,00 

Interest cover (times)  (1,16)  4,04  5,39  7,82  6,57 

Operating margin (%)  (1,76)  4,51 6,86 8,77 8,87
*  The following non-recurring charges have been included in  
“Other administrative and operating overheads” in  
the current year:

Provision for Competition Commission  65 000 

Share-based payment  60 539 

Write down of development land  26 607 

152 146
#  Includes the combined results of continued and discontinued operations.

Five-year review
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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2012#

R’000

 2011# 

R’000

 2010

R’000 

2009

R’000

2008

R’000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASSETS

Non-current assets  2 016 019  2 152 469  1 854 008  1 742 164  960 792 

Property, plant and equipment  1 272 127  1 166 213  873 390  781 855  761 470 

Intangible assets  412 689  799 995  843 183  832 667  143 907 

Other non-current assets  331 203  186 261  137 435  127 642  55 415 

Current assets  2 598 877  2 680 501  2 430 905  2 442 783  1 515 927 

Inventories  81 236  42 857  47 700  18 890  25 940 

Development land  402 375  398 686  351 938  280 718  54 734 

Contract debtors and retentions  883 617  1 308 188  898 323  813 170  448 967 

Other current assets  152 962  214 733  121 394  83 966  42 529 

Cash and cash equivalents  1 078 687  716 037  1 011 550  1 246 039  943 757 

Non-current assets held for sale  773 540  66 767  92 558 –  – 

 5 388 436  4 899 737  4 377 471  4 184 947  2 476 719 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves  1 799 554  1 814 820  1 708 885  1 500 916  789 552 

Non-controlling interests  24 768  22 901  6 404  (1 212)  2 521 

Non-current liabilities  376 266  592 847  439 156  500 465  348 150 

Interest-bearing borrowings  314 187  519 234  337 658  350 852  264 249 

Other borrowings  13 250  19 649  26 188  79 357  38 811 

Other non-current liabilities  48 829  53 964  75 310  70 256  45 090 

Current liabilities  2 992 185  2 469 062  2 219 938  2 184 778  1 336 496 

Trade and other payables  1 120 153  1 079 938  970 223  997 903  688 906 

Amounts due to customers  1 079 113  513 315  583 399  484 581  335 894 

Interest-bearing borrowings  562 980  508 071  339 733  369 464  135 936 

Other current liabilities  198 086  305 430  293 689  308 596  175 760 

Bank overdraft  31 853  62 308  32 894  24 234 –

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets 

classified as held for sale  195 663  107  3 088 – –

 5 388 436  4 899 737  4 377 471  4 184 947  2 476 719 

STATISTICS

Number of ordinary shares in issue (’000)  131 686  123 798  123 798  123 798  86 472 

Number of “A” ordinary shares in issue (’000) 33 608 – – – –

Net asset value per share (cents)  1 366,55  1 465,95  1 380,38  1 212,39  913,07 

Tangible net asset value per share (cents)  1 053,16  819,74  699,29  539,79  746,65 

Current ratio (times)  0,87  1,09  1,10  1,12  1,13 

Return on shareholders’ interests (%)  (9,43)  8,00  16,25  23,95 41,62

Return on total average tangible assets (%)  (2,66)  7,36  11,87  17,08  17,08 

Average price per share (cents) 1,216 1,265 1,270 2,475 2,475

Debt equity ratio (times)*  0,18  0,29  0,21  0,29  0,38 
* Debt equity ratio is calculated using total non-current borrowings.
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Revenue from continuing operations

R5,5 billion

(2011: R5,3 billion) 

Operating loss from continuing operations

R171 million

(2011: profit of R205 million) 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Headline loss per share

130,84 cents

(2011: headline earnings per share: 139,65 cents) 

Order book of continuing operations

R10,2 billion

(2011: R10,6 million) 

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS

➙  ISO 14001 certification maintained for all operating divisions.

➙  Solid improvement in safety statistics and international certifications retained.

➙   Annual investment in training and development is building a formidable pool of skills across the group.

A snapshot of our performance
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OPERATIONS

Construction Mining Engineering Developments

Roads Civils Buildings Mining Engineering Developments

➙  Earthworks

➙  Bridges

➙   Roads and highways

➙  Airports

➙   Supply and spraying 

of bitumen and 

related products

➙   Township 

infrastructure

➙  Airports

➙  Bridges

➙   Harbour and  

marine works

➙  Stadiums

➙  Industrial plants

➙  Pipelines

➙   Retail and office 

complexes

➙   Residential housing

➙   Apartment blocks

➙   Educational facilities

➙  Hospitals

➙   Correctional 

facilities

➙   Opencast contract 

mining

➙   Mine spoils 

rehabilitation

➙  Bulk earthmoving

➙    Thin, thick and 

multiple seam 

mining

➙   Hard rock selective 

mining

➙   Materials handling

➙   Specialised drill and 

blast services

➙   Engineer, procure, 

construct (EPC)

➙   Engineer, procure, 

construction 

management 

(EPCM)

➙   Build, own, operate, 

transfer (BOOT)

➙   Plant, process and 

mine operation

➙   Architectural design

➙   Renewable energy

➙   Property 

development

➙   Housing schemes 

for low and 

middle-income 

earners

➙   Public-private 

partnerships (PPPs)

SUPPORT

Plant Commercial Business development Human resources Finance

➙   Plant acquisitions and 

disposals

➙  Plant maintenance

➙  Legal

➙  Group insurance

➙  Group SHEQ

➙   Group commercial  

and risk

➙   PPPs

➙  Special projects

➙   International contracts

➙  Turnkey projects

➙  Energy

➙  Oil and gas

➙   Shared services – payroll

➙   Bursary student 

management

➙   HIV/Aids management

➙   Group training and 

development

➙   Group finance and 

treasury

➙   Shared services – finance

➙   Investor relations 

and reporting

➙   Information technology

➙   Corporate finance
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MATERIAL ISSUE IMPACT RESPONSE STRATEGIC GOAL

Skills shortages
Scarcity of key skills

➙   Loss of expertise affects ability to 

complete contracts

➙   Shortage of suitable candidates  

to meet black economic 

empowerment objectives 

➙   We have implemented a 

multi-million rand training 

programme, focused on 

developing and retaining a 

world-class construction  

and engineering team

pages 102, 103, 104, 106

Energy
Cost, outages, security  
of supply

➙   In six years, the cost of electricity 

has risen significantly

➙   Every prolonged power outage 

translates into lost production

➙   After determining the group’s 

carbon footprint, we have set 

measurable targets for reducing 

our resource consumption 

pages 114, 115, 116

Key material issues and management responses are reviewed annually by the audit and risk committee, and 

are shown below in no specific order.

These were identified by looking at:

➙  what stakeholders consider important;
➙  core issues and future challenges;
➙  relevant laws and regulations;
➙  key organisational values, policies, strategies, goals and targets;
➙  significant risks;
➙  critical factors for enabling organisational success; and
➙  core competencies of the organisation.

The identified topics were mapped by taking cognisance of the level of importance to the group and its stakeholders. 

The mapping indicated that the group should provide disclosure on six key topics.

Although each of Basil Read’s divisions has sector-specific risks, there are risks that 
apply to the entire group. By consolidating our robust risk management processes 
with feedback from stakeholders, we identify the issues most material to the 
sustainability of our group. 

Identifying our material issues
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MATERIAL ISSUE IMPACT RESPONSE STRATEGIC GOAL

Water
Scarcity and security of supply

➙   Shortages affect project 

deadlines

➙   Recycling and re-use initiatives 

are under way across the group

page 116

Compliance
Licence to operatep

➙   Inability to tender on large 

projects

➙   Aiming to meet and exceed 

targets in the government’s 

empowerment scorecard as 

well as the construction sector 

scorecard

➙   Maintain and improve our  

level 2 BBBEE status

pages 86, 87, 98, 99, 106, 108

Social responsibility
Corporate citizenship

➙   Stakeholder activism can  

derail project deadlines

➙   Stakeholder engagement, 

corporate citizenship and  

ethical conduct are entrenched 

principles in our group

 

pages 100, 118

Safety and health
Duty of care

➙  Loss of productivity, morale ➙   Focus on embedding world-class 

safety and health practices 

across the group

pages 108, 109, 110, 111, 112
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1. Sindile Lester Leslie  
 Peteni

3. Manuel Donnell Grota  
 Gouveia

5.  Sango Siviwe  
Ntsaluba

2. Marius Lodewucus  
 Heyns

4.  Dr Claudia Estelle 
Manning

Our board

1. Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni (68)

  Independent non-executive director, chairman, chairman of the 

chairman’s nomination and investment committee

 Qualifications: BSc (Building Science) (University of Cape Town)

  Lester has numerous years’ experience in various roles at 

construction and property development companies, and was a 

founding member of  Thebe Investment Corporation. He was 

appointed to the board in July 2006 and as chairman in May 2009.

2.  Marius Lodewucus Heyns (53)

 Chief executive officer, managing director

 Qualifications: BSc Civ Eng, PrEng, MSAICE

  Marius has 34 years’ experience in the construction industry 

across the full spectrum of activities. He has held various executive 

management positions for leading public and private companies in 

the sector and was reappointed at Basil Read in October 2004 in 

his current position.

3.  Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia (37) 

 Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

 Qualifications: BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)

  Donny has worked in finance for 19 years, including seven in the 

auditing profession. He joined Basil Read in 2001 and is responsible 

for the group financial function. He was appointed chief financial 

officer in 2004 and financial director on the board of Basil Read 

in May 2009. In addition to his finance responsibilities, Donny was 

appointed deputy chief executive officer in October 2010.

4. Dr Claudia Estelle Manning (46)

  Independent non-executive director; member of social, ethics and 

transformation committee, member of remuneration committee

  Qualifications: BA Hons (University of Natal); MPhil (Sussex 

University);  DPhil (University of Sussex)

  Claudia has worked in the economic development field for 

over 20 years, in various positions responsible for management 

and financing of infrastructure projects, sourcing and closing of 

investment transactions, and economic development consulting. 

She is currently the managing director of DAI Johannesburg, the 

southern African arm of a global development company. She has 

also worked on the Department of  Trade and Industry’s (DTI’s) 

development corridor programme, which originated a number of 

priority infrastructure investment projects in South Africa and the 

SADC region. Claudia currently serves as a non-executive director 

on the board of the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA), 

and is a member of the Presidential BEE Advisory Council. She was 

appointed to the board in August 2012.

5. Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba (52)

 Non-executive director; member of audit committee

  Qualifications: BCom, BCompt (Hons) (Unisa), CA(SA), HDip Tax 

Law (University of Johannesburg)

  Sango is a founding member of Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd, 

and serves on the boards of listed companies and public-sector 

entities. He was a founding member of SizweNtsalubaGobodo and 

Neotel. He was appointed to the board of Basil Read in July 2006.



7.  Charles Peter  
Davies

6.  Thabiso Alexander 
Tlelai

8.  Nopasika Vuyelwa  
Lila

9.  Paul Cambo  
Baloyi
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10.  Andrew Conway Gaorekwe 
Molusi

6. Thabiso Alexander Tlelai (49)

  Non-executive director; chairman of social, ethics and transformation  

committee; member of remuneration committee

  Qualifications: BCom (Memorial University of Newfoundland, 

Canada)

  Thabiso is a founding member and director of Amabubesi 

Investments (Pty) Ltd. He has been chief executive officer of  The 

Don Group since acquiring a significant shareholding in 2000, and 

has been involved in the hotel industry for over 15 years. He is 

also a founding member and chairman of the Tourism Business 

Council of South Africa. He was appointed to Basil Read’s board 

in July 2006.

7. Charles Peter Davies (66)

  Independent non-executive director; chairman of remuneration 

committee; member of audit committee, member of chairman’s 

nomination and investment committee

  Charles spent his career in the insurance industry, retiring as chief 

executive officer of Norwich Holdings in 1999. He currently serves 

on various boards in a non-executive capacity. He was appointed 

to the board of Basil Read in July 2006.

8. Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila (44)

  Independent non-executive director; chairman of audit committee

 Qualifications: HDip Acc (University of Natal), CA(SA)

  Nopasika is chief financial officer of the Eskom Pension and 

Provident Fund, a non-executive director of the Johannesburg 

Development Agency and chairs its audit committee. She is 

also a member of the audit committee of the Department of 

International Relations and Cooperation (DIRCO) and National 

Arts Festival. Her vast experience and areas of interest cover 

finance, corporate governance, management, the retirement 

industry, strategic issues, and training and development. She was 

appointed to the board in August 2012.

9. Paul Cambo Baloyi (57)

  Independent non-executive director; member of audit committee, 

chairman of risk committee

  Qualifications: MBA (University of Manchester); Senior Executive 

Programme (Harvard Business School); Management Development 

Programme (University of Stellenbosch)

  Paul has in excess of 26 years of banking experience and has 

previously been the chief executive officer and managing director 

of the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) as well as the 

chief executive officer of the DBSA Development Fund since July 

2006. Previously, Paul was managing director of Nedbank Africa and 

a divisional director of Nedbank SA. He currently serves as non-

executive director on various boards and was appointed to the 

Basil Read board in November 2012.

10. Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi (51)

  Independent non-executive director; member of social, ethics and 

transformation committee; member of risk committee

  Qualifications: MA (Notre Dame University, Ind. USA);  B Journalism 

(Rhodes University)

  Connie is currently chairman of the SIOC Community 

Development Trust and chief executive officer of Kabo Capital. He 

has 25 years’ board experience as well as South African business 

knowledge and previously held the position of executive director 

and group chief executive officer of Johnnic Communications 

Limited (Johncom) from 2000 to 2006. He currently serves as 

director on the boards of African Media and Entertainment Limited 

(chairman), Caxton and CTP Publishers and Printers Limited 

and Continental Coal Limited. He was appointed to the board in 

March 2013.
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1. Marius Lodewucus  
 Heyns

2. Manuel Donnell Grota  
 Gouveia

3.   Pieter  
Marais

Executive management committee

1.  Marius Lodewucus Heyns (53)

 Chief executive officer, managing director

 Résumé on page 10.

2.  Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia (37)

 Financial director, deputy chief executive officer

 Résumé on page 10.

3.  Pieter Marais (39)

 CFO – designate

  Qualifications: BCom (Hons) (University of Johannesburg); CA(SA)

  Pieter is a chartered accountant with a diverse financial 

background. He spent ten years at PricewaterhouseCoopers in 

the assurance division, servicing mainly listed clients in the mining, 

financial services and construction industries. He completed his 

chartered financial analyst exams and spent three years as a sell-

side equity analyst at Investec Bank. Before joining Basil Read in 

January 2012, Pieter headed up the group ERP implementation and 

management information projects at AngloGold Ashanti.



4.   Guenther  
Hellhoff

5.  Avi  
Naidoo

6.  Andiswa  
Ndoni
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4.  Guenther Hellhoff (56)

 Executive director: human resources*

  Qualifications: MA Counselling Psychology (University of Pretoria) 

  Guenther worked as a consulting practitioner in a management 

consulting practice from 1985 to 1994 where he had an extensive 

client base in the construction sector. He subsequently held a 

senior management position for a listed construction company 

where he worked with the executive team on various organisation 

and executive development projects. Guenther started his own 

management consulting practice in 2004, focusing primarily on the 

construction industry. In January 2013 he joined Basil Read in his 

current role.

5.  Avi Naidoo (40)

 Head: group risk and compliance

  Qualifications: BCom (Rhodes), BCom (Hons) (Unisa), CA(SA), 

MBA (Wits Business School)

  Avi completed his articles at Ernst & Young and then joined KPMG, 

specialising in forensic accounting and risk management. During 

this time he worked on several high-profile matters both locally 

and internationally. Avi has also worked in various roles within the 

telecommunication and private equity sectors before joining Basil 

Read in his current role in 2011. 

6.  Andiswa Ndoni (46)

 Group company secretary and legal adviser

  Qualifications: BProc, LLB, Post-graduate Diploma in Business 

Management, Certificate in Corporate Governance

  Andiswa is an attorney of the High Court of South Africa. She was 

previously the company secretary and legal counsel for Ubank 

Limited. She is a member of the Judicial Services Commission (JSC) 

and a member of the Competition Tribunal. Andiswa has 19 years 

of experience as an attorney, six of which have been as company 

secretary. She was appointed to the group in January 2013 and as 

company secretary in March 2013.

*Appointment at subsidiary level
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In its 60th year, Basil Read continued to secure a fresh pipeline 
of work, despite the many challenges facing the construction 
sector. With an order book maintained at R10,2 billion, the 
strongest in its history, the group continued to pursue and 
tender for a wide range of projects locally, abroad and in Africa.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
The downturn in the construction industry that began post 
2010 continued during the year. While part of this was due to 
the lagged effect of the global financial crisis, the situation has 
been exacerbated by the very slow roll-out of announced 
infrastructural investment projects in South Africa. A recent 
report revealed that capital spending by the government and 
private sector fell to its lowest level since 2005: capital 
expenditure on announced projects dropped for the third 
consecutive year to R148 billion from R174 billion in the prior 
year. The value of new projects announced last year also 
declined. 

Accordingly, we refined our strategy during the year to ensure 
the group maintains its momentum and is well positioned for the 
upturn when it materialises. Our strategy is detailed on pages 20 
to 23.

As part of this strategic review, we have renewed our focus on 
our core business of EPC (engineering, procurement, 
construction) while consolidating recent acquisitions that have 
diversified our earnings base. Accordingly, in October 2012, we 
announced the acquisition of TWP by WorleyParsons for 
R900 million. This transaction excludes Basil Read Matomo, 
TWP Investments and LYT Architecture (formerly TPS.P 
Architects). These companies will continue to operate 
autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries of Basil Read.

The rationale behind this divestment was to create value for 
Basil Read shareholders and support our focus on EPC 
business. This will include special projects, positioning the 
group for organic growth, reducing debt levels, and having 
appropriate cash reserves to invest in resources for 
government-planned local infrastructure development.

CONSTRUCTION CHARTER
We continue to show steady progress performance against the 
2009 construction sector charter. The group is a true 
reflection of the demographics of South Africa, already 
exceeding longer-term empowerment targets in key categories 
such as economic interest and skills development. In all other 
areas, we are making solid strides towards compliance.

PERFORMANCE

Order book
Maintained at R10,2 billion

Renewed focus on EPC
Disposal of TWP to WorleyParsons 

completed in March 2013 

25,1% BBBEE transaction concluded 
Effective shareholding of BBBEE partner, 

SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd

BBBEE rating
Improved following successful  

completion of BBBEE transactionLevel 2

PERFORMANCE

Strategy refined to position for upturn

Inquiry by Competition Commission to be  
concluded by June 2013

Board strengthened through new appointments

Chairman’s statement

In its 60th year, Basil Read continued to secure  

a fresh pipeline of work, which presents a solid  

platform for continued growth and development.

Lester Peteni – chairman
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However, in common with most of the private sector in South 

Africa, we still face obstacles in reaching our goals of real, 

sustainable economic empowerment in the areas of voting 

rights, management control and employment equity. Several 

initiatives are under way to address this.

BROAD-BASED BLACK ECONOMIC 

EMPOWERMENT (BBBEE)

Recognising the importance of ongoing transformation, 

Basil Read concluded an agreement with SIOC Community 

Development Trust during the year to acquire an effective 

25,1% in our group. The total value of the BBBEE transaction is 

R521 million, of which R100 million was paid by SIOC in cash 

and the balance will be via vendor funding. 

The SIOC Community Development Trust was established 

in 2006 as part of the unbundling of Kumba Resources, and  

holds 3% of the ordinary shares in Kumba. The trust represents 

five underlying entities that benefit mostly disadvantaged 

individuals living in areas around Kumba’s mines in Limpopo and 

the Northern Cape and comprise broad-based communities. 

Basil Read and SIOC share a common vision for the growth  

of the company in southern Africa and throughout the African 

continent. SIOC and Basil Read are both active in the mining 

sector which remains a focus area for future growth. The 

strategic partnership may benefit infrastructure development 

within various broad-based communities and contribute 

towards bolstering Basil Read’s order book.

Post implementation of this transaction, Basil Read improved its 

BBBEE rating to a level 2 contributor in terms of DTI codes. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Basil Read’s directors and senior management endorse the 

code of corporate practices and conduct set out in the King III 

report on corporate governance. Basil Read complies with this 

code as well as with the JSE Listings Requirements in all 

material respects. The group regularly reviews its corporate 

governance policies and practices and strives for continuous 

improvement. 

During the year, we welcomed Dr Claudia Manning, Nopasika 

Lila, Connie Molusi and Paul Baloyi to our board. We are 

confident they will make a valuable contribution to board 

deliberations. The board will be further supported by the 

appointment of Andiswa Ndoni as company secretary. Other 

changes to the board are detailed in the corporate governance 

report.

OUTLOOK

The injection of R900 million through the disposal of 

TWP Holdings has significantly strengthened the group’s balance 

sheet in anticipation of the impending upswing in the construction 

sector. Finance Minister Pravin Gordhan recently reaffirmed 

government’s commitment to large-scale infrastructure spend 

with some R827 billion planned over the next three years, for 

which the financing is in place. Much of this spending will be 

allocated to provinces and municipalities for various capital 

projects, with Eskom, Transnet and other parastatals funding the 

balance of projects through their own resources and additional 

borrowing, supported by Treasury guarantees.

The Competition Commission’s inquiry into the construction 

sector has recently been widely reported on in the media as the 

process nears finality. The commission has indicated that it would 

like the settlement negotiation phase to be concluded by June 

2013. Basil Read is committed to continued cooperation with the 

commission and is looking forward to restoring the reputation of 

the group and the industry as a whole through the eradication of 

anti-competitive, collusive and corrupt behaviour.

APPRECIATION

Recent years have been a truly testing time for the 

construction industry, and the review period again tested our 

group. While results for the year were disappointing, they 

underscore that Basil Read is home to a formidable group of 

people, ably led by Marius Heyns and his management teams. 

The commitment of this 7 000-strong team, coupled with 

the counsel and steady support of my fellow directors, 

present a solid platform for Basil Read’s continued growth 

and development.

Lester Peteni

Chairman
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The 2012 financial year has proven a difficult one for the 

group, particularly in the construction division which faced 

significant loss-making contracts and operational challenges, 

due to delayed payments and unresolved claims that affected 

working capital. 

The group results have been negatively impacted by a number 

of non-recurring items, which are discussed in more detail in 

the financial director’s report on page 24. If the effects of these 

adjustments are taken into account, it is pleasing to note that 

the group’s operations broke even for the year on a 

consolidated basis. Disappointingly, the construction division 

has reported a sizeable loss, largely due to a few loss-making 

contracts, but this operational loss has been offset by solid 

contributions from the group’s other divisions, namely 

engineering and mining.

The local construction sector continues to be hampered by 

the slow roll-out of projects. Despite a steady improvement in 

margins, competition remains fierce and many large 

construction groups are securing the bulk of their order books 

beyond South Africa’s borders. 

Tender activity in the building division has picked up recently, 

several design-and-construct civils tenders are in the market 

for pre-qualification and the roads tender market is providing 

steady work. The news that Sanral’s 2013 budget was approved 

at over R10 billion is positive for the sector.

However, this prolonged downturn has required management 

to concentrate on those day-to-day elements that will secure 

the ongoing success of the group – project execution, cash 

reserves, working capital management – as well as the 

long-term strategy. As the chairman has noted, we have refined 

our strategy to focus on our core business (pages 20 to 23), 

understanding that this is the foundation of our group and key 

to our success.

An excellent example of the benefits of focusing on our core 

business is the St Helena project. During the year, Basil Read 

made impressive headway in constructing an international 

airport on the island of St Helena, one of the largest 

construction projects ever awarded to our group. 

PERFORMANCE

Challenging trading conditions
Loss-making contracts in construction offset by  

profits in mining and engineering

Strategic review
Key focus areas of business plan 

refined into four strategic themes

0,31
DIFR

Group’s disabling injury frequency 
ratio reduced

R75 million Competition Commission
Total provision relating to inquiry 

PERFORMANCE

Management focused on day-to-day elements 
– project execution, cash reserves and working 
capital management

Full spectrum of training programmes offered 
by the group invaluable in addressing future skills 
needs

Sustainability embedded into every facet of our 
business

Chief executive officer’s review 

Effective implementation of our four point strategy  

will be key to the ongoing success of the group.

Marius Heyns – chief executive officer
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The interesting logistical challenges of this project are detailed 

on page 30.

In addition, Basil Read Roads International established 

operations in Mozambique after being awarded a road project 

in Gaza Province. 

With high demand for quality construction in African regions, 

Basil Read is actively exploring niche markets with long-term 

prospects in infrastructural spending. With secured contracts 

in Botswana, Namibia, Zimbabwe and the Democratic Republic 

of Congo, the group is tendering for more projects in Africa.

Other commendable achievements during the year include:

 – The next phase of the group’s move to the Basil Read 

Campus, its new headquarters in Boksburg. This brings most 

of our operating divisions under one roof. 

 – Basil Read Buildings began with the R294 million construction 

of new TWP headquarters at Melrose Arch, Johannesburg. 

STRATEGY

During the year, we engaged an external service provider to 

perform a critical review of our current strategy, from which 

the key focus areas of our business plan were derived. The four 

strategic themes identified are:

 – Consolidate and rationalise

 – Work ethic and pride

 – Image and reputation

 – Leadership through operational excellence

These four strategic themes have been further broken down 

into measurable elements, which will be closely monitored. 

Further details can be found in the strategy document on 

pages 20 to 23.

SUSTAINABILITY

We take our obligations as a corporate citizen seriously, aiming 

to enhance the quality of life of those we employ and those 

touched by our operations. This focus on sustainability is 

evident in our operations, our conduct and our strategies 

for growth. 

Equally, we aim to move beyond legislative compliance in 

furthering South Africa’s transformation, and embedding global 

standards in our corporate governance. During the year, this 

was again demonstrated in our improved black economic 

empowerment rating to level 2, and enhanced safety, health, 

environment, risk and quality processes (pages 98, 108 

and 114). 

This commitment translates into a framework for our 

corporate social investment initiatives to make a sustainable 

difference by empowering communities.

For 60 years, Basil Read has operated as a family business. 

Seven years ago, we aligned those values with the triple 

bottom-line approach by covering our economic, social and 

environmental performance in our integrated annual report 

to stakeholders.

We remain committed to embedding sustainability into every 

facet of our business, in line with our international peers, and 

best practice, inclusive of the communities we operate in.

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT

Safety, health, environmental, risk and quality (SHERQ) is 

the foundation for everything we do. It drives project 

delivery, teamwork, operational discipline and overall 

business excellence.

The group’s robust SHERQ system is both a guide and 

measurement tool to achieving targets in each of these areas. 

By steadily working towards and monitoring these goals, we 

demonstrate both the effective management practices of our 

supervisory team and commitment of our employees. 

Basil Read has an integrated approach to SHERQ, and the 

combination of commitment and continuous training has 

reduced the group’s disabling injury frequency ratio to 0,31, 

well on track to our target of 0,0 by 2015. Sadly, the group 

recorded one fatality in 2012 when a subcontractor’s 

employee died while working on one of our sites, and we 

extend our sympathies to his family. By incorporating the risk 

management function into our safety, health and environmental 

division, we have aligned our governance processes with the 

requirements of King III and tangibly reinforced our 

commitment to an integrated approach, focused on zero harm.

Equally, Basil Read’s commitment to sustainable business 

practices includes environmental issues. We have embraced the 

green building concept, aiming to supply energy-efficient 
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PROSPECTS

The uncertainty that has characterised our industry for 

several years now is still in place, although some positive 

indicators are emerging. A healthy order book is combined 

with large projects on the radar, satisfactory tender activity 

and improved margins. In addition, cross-border market activity 

is improving and we are focusing on specific countries, after 

careful consideration.

The South Africa government recently reaffirmed its 

commitment to a large-scale infrastructure investment 

programme which bodes well for the construction division. 

With the majority of the work expected to materialise in 

various provinces and municipalities, the challenge will be for 

these government structures to roll out the planned work. 

Eskom, Transnet and other parastatals are expected to fund a 

further R400 billion of projects specifically relating to power 

generation plants and new transmission lines, investment in rail, 

ports and pipelines, large new water transfer schemes and 

various airport upgrades as well as hospitals and schools.

South Africa’s sovereign credit rating has been downgraded by all 

of the major rating agencies in recent months as protests over 

poor service delivery increased to record levels in 2012 and 

social unrest characterised by violent strike activity resulted in 

billions in lost production. The industrial action highlighted 

ever-increasing frustrations regarding the unacceptably high levels 

of unemployment and poverty. Investment in infrastructure has 

been identified by the South African government as key to the 

support of the country’s medium- and long-term economic and 

social objectives, and we look forward to partnering with 

government in achieving these goals.

The group’s mining division, a specialist open pit contract 

mining service provider, has received a letter of intent from 

Weatherly International plc to perform contract mining 

services for the Tschudi Copper Project in Namibia, subject to 

Weatherly securing the requisite funding for the project. 

Weatherly has signed a term sheet with a finance provider and 

the confirmed funding is expected to be in place during the 

first half of 2013, with mining activities set to commence in 

early 2014.

buildings and lower our carbon footprint. We conduct our 

business with respect and care for the environment, minimising 

our impact by reducing energy use, preventing pollution and 

eliminating harmful substances in our operations and products. 

We continuously monitor our carbon footprint, environmental 

incidents and water consumption, with pleasing reductions 

across the board in 2012.

COMPETITION COMMISSION

We continue to engage and cooperate fully with the 

Competition Commission on its inquiry into practices in the 

industry. While the outcome is unknown, we have raised a 

provision of R75 million for a possible penalty. Ongoing 

training on new competition law reinforces our commitment 

to conducting our business responsibly.

OUR PEOPLE

The future of our industry and South Africa’s sustained growth 

as a global player rely on the exchange of skills and transfer of 

accumulated knowledge that comes with experience. In line 

with numerous studies, we believe a well-implemented and 

facilitated training programme with a clear career path creates 

job satisfaction among young professionals. It also supports 

employee retention, while helping these individuals become 

more effective, and addresses the future skills needs of the 

construction sector. 

The full spectrum of training programmes offered by the group 

are proving invaluable in this respect (pages 102 to 104). 

A major challenge in the construction sector at present is 

availability of skills. Accordingly, we are nurturing and 

developing the talent we have in the organisation by employing 

the right skills, and focusing on training – making personal 

growth in the group a reality. 

A highlight of the year was the graduation of our first intake 

under the nationally accredited foreman development 

programme. Acknowledged as one of the most challenging 

programmes in the industry, feedback from our graduates 

vindicated our investment of time, money and experience in 

building the national pool of skills.

Chief executive officer’s review continued
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The inflow of funds following the disposal of TWP Holdings 

will allow the group to significantly reduce debt and improve 

working capital levels in support of organic growth. The 

group retains its investment in TWP Investments, LYT 

Architecture and Basil Read Matomo, an identified growth 

area for the group. Basil Read Matomo, which spearheads 

the group’s engineering, procurement and construction 

(EPC) division, continues to grow its order book and is 

steadily building a reputation for delivering on time and  

on budget. The EPC model is increasingly becoming the 

preferred model for clients, particularly in the alternative 

and renewable energy space which offers significant 

growth opportunities.

The bitumen supply shortage faced by the construction 

sector contributed to the losses incurred by the roads 

division and highlighted the need to secure consistent supply. 

Through the group’s wholly owned subsidiary, SprayPave, we 

are in the process of establishing a bitumen reactor plant in 

the Western Cape which will enable the group to produce 

various grades of bitumen, to not only supply our sites, but 

to support the sector as a whole. The plant, which we 

expect to be operational in the second half of 2013, will 

enable the group to enter the production process at an 

earlier stage and we are in negotiations with leading 

refineries to secure the supply of crude oil short residue. 

Since acquiring SprayPave in 2005, the company has grown 

exponentially, backed by the financial strength and stability of 

the Basil Read group, and has been earmarked for expansion 

in the industry.

Human settlements remain a key focus area for the South 

African government and the developments division is well 

positioned in this regard, with two new projects breaking 

ground. Malibongwe Ridge broke ground in July 2012 and will 

re-house the Itsoseng informal settlement while providing 

homes for over 5 000 families. Savanna City is set to break 

ground in 2013 following the approval of the urban 

management plan and the receipt of the township 

establishment approval, with only the finalisation of the 

services agreement outstanding.

The developments division has embarked on a growth strategy 

to look at opportunities across the African continent. A range 

of strategic partnerships has been established with financiers, 

housing development agencies and other developers with the 

aim of establishing and growing our footprint in a measured 

way. A range of housing development opportunities continues 

to be explored in Zambia, Rwanda and Kenya with further 

possibilities being investigated in Ghana and Tanzania. 

A cautious approach is being taken to understand the different 

markets and to identify suitable opportunities.

With significant prospects, a strong order book and a recently 

bolstered balance sheet, we are optimistic that the building 

blocks are in place for a successful year ahead and the ongoing 

sustainability and growth of the group.

APPRECIATION

Basil Read has people of exceptional calibre and loyalty at 

every level. This is reflected every year in the growing number 

of employees receiving long-service awards. A select group has 

now spent 40 years with our group. This loyalty emphasises 

the family spirit that permeates our group and which we 

deeply appreciate.

The support of our suppliers in the public and private sectors, 

and relationships strengthened over decades, continues 

unabated as we work towards common goals. 

My sincere thanks to every person – on every project, and in 

every region – who plays a role in our progress.

Marius Heyns

Chief executive officer
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➙  Gear for the upswing

➙  Strengthen our core competencies

➙  Performance driven

➙  Being accountable

➙  Customer focused

➙  Quality company

➙  Building capacity

➙  Ensuring our capabilities

OUR STRATEGIC GOALS

➙
➙
➙

➙

Consolidate and 
rationalise

Work ethic and 
pride

Leadership 
through 
operational 
excellence

Image and 
reputation

e and 

Leadersh

C l d

Our strategic thinking

Understanding that Basil Read’s future must be built on its current priorities 
and environment, we critically reviewed our strategy during the year to 
build a stable platform for growth. This strategic review was preceded by a 
comprehensive analysis of the drivers of our business, the factors (internal 
and external) affecting performance and lessons learned in recent years. 
To ensure our appraisal was sufficiently objective, we commissioned Marsh 
to conduct an independent risk audit.

Based on our critical challenges, the focus of our business plan for the next 
year and beyond is shown below.
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➙  Strategic soundness

➙  Financial soundness

➙  Sound use of corporate assets

➙  Quality of products and services

➙   Community and environmental social 

responsibility

➙   Increased shareholder value as a 

long-term investment

➙  Quality of marketing

➙  Quality of management

➙   Capacity to innovate and adapt quickly 

to market conditions

➙   Ability to attract, develop and retain 

talent

We will be reducing operating costs through better efficiencies 
and a capacity to innovate and optimise. We will be gaining a 
better understanding of where the construction sector is going and 
gearing our focus towards best opportunities

We will be rebuilding our credibility and goodwill so that 
all stakeholders perceive us as having value as a long-term 
investment. We will be improving the quality of our marketing 
and business development initiatives

We will be providing quality of products and services by improving 
project execution on all contracts. We will be instilling a culture of 
discipline, accountability and pride

We will be aligning internal processes and policies with best 
practice to get us back to understanding the construction basics 
that made us great in the past

IMPLEMENTING OUR GOALS DESIRED OUTCOMES
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PROGRESS AGAINST  THE FOUR STRATEGIC THEMES WILL BE CLOSELY MEASURED

FINANCIAL 

MEASURES

➙   Achieve stable balance sheet

➙   Rightsize overheads to turnover/profit

➙   Achieve a minimum of 4% to 5% group operating margin in the current climate

➙   Keep total debt to tangible equity at under 33,3%, reducing to 25% in the medium 

term

➙   Capital expenditure frozen for six months and then strictly controlled

OPERATIONAL 

MEASURES

➙   Embed integrity of management information for sound decisions

➙   Understand the factors that have contributed to contractual losses and develop 

mechanism to avoid reoccurrence

➙   Ensure each business unit shows clear process optimisation for better tendered 

margins

BUSINESS 

DEVELOPMENT 

MEASURES

➙   Ensure a more focused and purposeful business development strategy and 

structure is in place

➙   Continue our public-private partnership strategy, but more selectively and at 

minimal cost

➙   Ensure a more robust and sustainable Africa strategy is developed and 

subsequently followed

➙   Ensure Basil Read is included on the tender lists of more private clients than at 

present to better balance the workload between private and public clients

Our strategic thinking continued
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PROGRESS AGAINST  THE FOUR STRATEGIC THEMES WILL BE CLOSELY MEASURED

HUMAN RESOURCES 

MEASURES

➙   Greater levels of technical competence at all key operations

➙   Competent people in all critical positions

➙   Focus our development priorities on construction basics

STRATEGIC 

MEASURES

➙   Profit as the key driver

➙   More positive image with investors and shareholders

➙   Maintain level 2 BBBEE rating

ORGANISATIONAL  

CULTURE MEASURES

➙  Achieve performance-driven culture of accountability

➙   Entrench solid work ethic at all levels



24 Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

The 2013 financial year was a difficult one for the group, 

particularly in the construction division, where contract losses 

resulted in the group reporting earnings and headline earnings 

losses for the first time in eight years. Liquidity constraints 

due to the funding of operational losses, delayed payments 

and unresolved claims added to the challenges faced by 

the division. 

The difficult trading conditions again highlighted the need for 

sound internal controls, policies and procedures and financial 

discipline. We have recently implemented a business process 

improvement project with a view to updating our policies and 

procedures and aligning them to best practice to optimise 

performance. A cost control training programme is being 

reintroduced to ensure management information is of the 

highest standard. We are also starting a longer-term project to 

examine the group’s requirements in procuring an integrated 

enterprise resource planning (ERP) system to better support 

the operations of the group.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Despite revenue increasing by 10% to R6,8 billion, trading 

conditions in the construction sector resulted in the group 

reporting an operating loss of R120,5 million. Solid operating 

performances from the mining and engineering divisions were 

undermined by poor results in the construction division. 

Results for the year were further affected by a number of 

non-recurring charges during the year.

Substantial losses have been incurred on the following 

contracts:

 – Nata to Pandamatenga road – undertaken by Sladden 

International in Botswana, this contract is expected to be 

completed by June 2013. A further loss of R125 million 

was incurred in the review period due to disagreements 

with the client’s representative on measurement and other 

claim entitlements.

PERFORMANCE

10% Revenue
Increase in revenue to R6,8 billion 

from R6,2 in 2011

60% Cash on hand
Up to R1,046 billion from  

R653,8 million in 2011 

-15% Interest-bearing debt
Reduced to R877,2 million from  

R1,0 billion in 2011

175 cents Dividend
Special dividend per share declared out 
of the proceeds of the disposal of TWP

PERFORMANCE

Debt burden of the group to be reduced with 
proceeds from disposal of TWP

BBBEE transaction concluded with SIOC CDT 
Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd, a broad-based 
community trust

Business process improvement and integrated 
ERP implementation projects started

Financial director’s report

The dedication and commitment of all employees 

is vital as we work together to return the group 

to profitability.

Donny Gouveia – financial director
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 – N12 Tom Jones – contract is behind schedule and a loss of 

R85 million has been recorded in the year to December 

2012 due to various problems including shortages of steel 

and bitumen supply and the strike action in the transport 

sector. Completion is scheduled for April 2013.

 – Generally, the roads and civils sectors have been affected by 

difficult working conditions, including labour unrest, 

unseasonal rainfall and planned production targets not being 

achieved.

The following non-recurring items adversely impacted the 

group’s performance:

 – A non-cash IFRS 2 charge for the recently concluded BBBEE 

transaction with SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd 

of R60,5 million.

 – A non-cash writedown of development land relating to the 

group’s investment in the Rolling Hills Estate in Mpumalanga 

of R26,6 million.

 – A provision raised during the period of R65 million for the 

Competition Commission’s investigation into the 

construction industry, which is expected to be finalised 

before June 2013. The total provided now stands at 

R75 million.

Earnings for the year decreased by 221% to R170,4 million, 

with headline earnings decreasing by 194% to R163,3 million. 

Adjustments to headline earnings mostly relate to impairment 

of property, plant and equipment in the engineering division, 

loss on sale of jointly controlled entities and profit on sale of 

available-for-sale financial assets.

The effective tax rate remains high as the group has not 

recognised the full tax benefit for losses incurred. In coming 

years, as profits are generated by the affected entities, the 

group will be able to use taxable losses to reduce the overall 

effective tax rate.

The group again made a sizeable capital investment of  

R501,7 million in plant and equipment, particularly in the 

construction and mining divisions. Contract mining is capital 

intensive by nature, with the fleets of plant needing to be 

replaced every three to four years, depending on the nature of 

the plant item and work undertaken. The increase in capex for 

the construction division is a direct result of the contract to 

construct an airport on St Helena island and, to a lesser 

degree, the award of the Olifants River Water Resources 

Development project.

Cash on hand at the statement of financial position date was 

R1,0 billion, an improvement on the balance of R653,8 million 

as at 31 December 2011. The inflow of cash is largely a result 

of an inflow of working capital, particularly the receipt of 

advance payments. Cash balances have been further improved 

due to the receipt of R99,4 million in terms of the BBBEE 

transaction with SIOC CDT Investment Holdings.

A significant amount of cash remains tied up in the group’s 

property portfolio, which comprises land held for both 

residential and industrial purposes. Despite interest shown 

in the group’s residential development, sales have been slow 

and market conditions in the upper-end residential and 

second-home market remain difficult. Demand for industrial 

land has improved slightly and further sales have been 

recorded at Klipriver Industrial Park, with significant interest 

still being generated. 

Despite having a signed settlement agreement and receiving a 

part payment for outstanding amounts owing by the Free State 

provincial government, the group is still due payments totalling 

R80 million and continues to negotiate with the Free State 

province in this regard. The expectation is that these payments 

will be received as soon as the 2013/2014 provincial budgets 

have been approved and allocated.
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using a Monte Carlo simulation-based option pricing model. 

The assumptions used in this model include a closing spot 

price of R9,68 per share as at 15 November 2012, volatility of 

34% and a dividend yield that ranges between 1,4% and 3,3% 

during the term of the option.

CORPORATE ACTIVITY

On 1 January 2012, the group disposed of its 50% stake in 

Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd for R4 million, resulting in the 

recognition of a loss on disposal of R4,6 million. 

In February 2012, the group disposed of 100% of Basil Read 

Properties No 3 (Pty) Ltd, a property-owning subsidiary for 

R66,3 million. The agreement was concluded with 

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd, a related party to the 

group. In terms of the agreement, Basil Read further agreed to 

acquire 50% of Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd for 

R33,5 million. Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd is the 

owner of the Basil Read head office campus.

In October 2012, the group announced it had entered into a 

sale of shares agreement with WorleyParsons, whereby its 

subsidiary WorleyParsons RSA Group (Pty) Ltd would acquire 

the entire issued share capital held by Basil Read in TWP 

Holdings, for cash of R900 million. The proposed transaction 

included the sale of TWP Holdings and the following 

subsidiaries and joint ventures that were legally bound 

together through a reorganisation that happened prior to the 

effective date of the transaction: TWP Limpopo Engineers 

(Pty) Ltd, TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd, Effluent Technologies 

(Pty) Ltd, TWP Environmental Services (Pty) Ltd, TWP Projects 

DRC SPRL and TWP SúdAmerica, and Lisinfo 203 Trading 

(Pty) Ltd (a joint venture of TWP Holdings). The remaining 

Debt levels reduced moderately to R877,2 million from 

R1,0 billion in the prior year, resulting in the group returning 

to a net cash position. The decrease in debt is due to the 

repayment of instalment sale agreements and settlement of the 

banking loan during the year. The maturing notes under the 

domestic medium-term note programme were all successfully 

refinanced. The outstanding notes, BSR05, BSR09 and BSR10, 

will be settled as they fall due, following the inflow of cash 

after the disposal of TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd, further reducing 

the debt burden of the group. The debt equity ratio at the 

statement of financial position date was 18,0%.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

During the year the group concluded a BBBEE transaction with 

SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd (SIOC) for an 

effective holding of 25,1% of the total issued share capital of 

Basil Read through the specific issue of 7 883 238 ordinary 

shares at a price of R12,56 per share for cash of R99,0 million 

and 33 607 507 “A” ordinary shares at a price of R0,01 per 

share for cash of R336 075. The effective date of the 

transaction was 15 November 2012.

No share-based payment applies to the 7 883 243 ordinary 

shares issued to SIOC as the issue price of R12,56 per share 

was above the closing market price of R9,68 per share on the 

effective date.

The economic substance of the issue of the “A” ordinary 

shares is the granting of a call option on Basil Read shares. 

A once-off share-based payment on the issue of “A” ordinary 

shares of R60,5 million has been accounted for in the review 

period. On initial recognition, being the effective date, the 

derivative financial liability has been measured at fair value 

Financial director’s report continued
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subsidiaries and joint ventures of TWP Holdings not forming 

part of the disposal will remain with the group and will 

continue to operate on a standalone basis. The transaction was 

effective on 12 March 2013.

DIVIDENDS

On 14 March 2013, the directors declared a special dividend of 

175 cents per share out of the proceeds of the disposal of 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd. 

IN CLOSING

The 2012 financial year was a particularly difficult period for 

the group, mostly as a result of challenging trading conditions 

in the construction sector. The dedication and commitment of 

all employees is vital as we work together to return the group 

to profitability, and I thank every member of the Basil Read 

team for their efforts to date.

As part of our continuous improvement project with regard to 

communication and disclosure to all stakeholders, we welcome 

your views and suggestions. Feedback can be sent to: 

communications@basilread.co.za. 

Donny Gouveia

Financial director



OUR DIVISIONS  
AND OPERATIONS

Since its establishment in 1952, Basil 
Read has become one of the foremost 
construction groups in Africa. Backed 
by six decades of remarkable expertise, 
the Basil Read name has become 
synonymous with excellence in 
the spheres of construction, mining 
and engineering.
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In a bid to unlock massive economic opportunity for the island, 
the St Helena government and UK Department for 
International Development allocated over R3 billion to develop 
the island’s first airport late in 2011. This is the biggest project 
the UK government has ever signed and one of the largest 
contracts for Basil Read.

Phase 1 involves infrastructural development for the airport, 
including bulk fuel installation, terminal building, air traffic 
control tower, concrete runway and other navigational aids and 
operational equipment.

Basil Read is constructing a temporary fuel storage facility for 
1,5 million litres of diesel, a desalination plant, 14km of access 
roads, workforce accommodation, workshops and offices. 
Given that existing roads are narrow, with tight corners, and 
do not have the carrying capacity for heavy loads, the access 
road precedes a haul road that will transport construction 
equipment from Rupert’s Bay to site at Prosperous Bay Plain, 
300m above sea level.

One of the key challenges facing the project team is pumping 
3 million litres of water to site per day. This was partially addressed 
by building a desalination plant to process pumped seawater.

Because equipment and material will be sourced from as far afield 
as China, Europe, South America and Africa, to transport fuel, 
materials and plant to and from the island, Basil Read has chartered 
a massive Thai cargo vessel, NP Glory 4, for 36 months. With 
cargo-carrying capacity of 2 400 tonnes, this vessel is 78m long, 
16m wide and has a fully laden draft of 3,5m. The ship has a 
70-tonne ramp and deck space of 800m2, which allows it to carry 
over 140 containers, each 6m long. At peak, the vessel’s cargo will 
be made up of some 900 tonnes of diesel and 1 500 tonnes of 
deck cargo. It has also been fitted with a 40ft crane on deck, 
enabling operators to handle up to 30-tonne loads anywhere on 
the deck. The vessel is expected to complete the round trip from 
Walvis Bay, where most goods and equipment will be consolidated, 
to the island and back, over 21 days.

In May 2012, construction started on the 14km access track 
for the haul road. The access track will follow the general 
alignment for the haul road and allow us to move large 
machines from Rupert’s Bay to Prosperous Bay Plain.

Work on the temporary jetty presented problems. After an 
incident in April where heavy seas washed away some of the 
concrete, the team adapted their method and poured the concrete 
jetty wall in three stages. The last stage was successfully completed 
at the end of May, just in time for the arrival of the ship.

In June, the NP Glory 4 brought the first shipment of heavy 
plant, including a 70-tonne excavator. This will initially be used 

to cut the access track from Rupert’s Bay to Pipe Ridge, 
meeting with the track being cut down the hill.

St Helena’s military records indicated that Prosperous Bay Plain 
was a practice shooting range during WWII. An extensive search 
was conducted by specialised units from local government, Basil 
Read staff and an explosive materials detection dog. With no 
remains found that represented significant danger, the area was 
cleared for construction work in July 2012.

In February 2013, a successful 73-tonne blast loosened around 
120 000m3 of material for construction purposes. While the 
blast was originally planned for January, the discovery of a 
Wirebird nest and eggs in the vicinity delayed proceedings to 
allow the two chicks to hatch. Both were in good health 
following the blast.

We were particularly proud to be presented with the Project 
of the Year award by Construction World magazine for our St 
Helena Island airport project. The judges unanimously awarded 
top honours in the civil and building contractors (outside 
South Africa) category to Basil Read after considering the 
island’s remoteness, skills availability and infrastructure 
capacity to complete a project of this magnitude.

At present, Basil Read already has a core workforce of 
25 people on site. Given that the island has highly educated 
and skilled people, the majority of the workforce will be from 
St Helena and should peak at around 250 people. 

By February 2013, employees and subcontractors on the 
St Helena airport project had achieved 500 000 hours without 
a lost-time injury, reflecting the standards Basil Read was 
careful to inculcate from the start. 

When construction is complete in 2015, Basil Read and 
partner Lanseria Airport will operate the St Helena airport for 
10 years. Once operational, there will be one to two flights 
per week, depending on demand. The airport has been 
designed to accommodate expansion and will initially handle 
the Boeing 737-700 and Airbus A319, with the potential to 
take the 737-800 later on.

The island has earmarked tourism as a key attraction and has 
initiated programmes and developments, including 
accommodation facilities and infrastructure upgrades, in 
anticipation of the tourist influx. Eco-tourism and historical 
tourism will be niche market attractions.

Interestingly, with the R3,5 billion St Helena airport project, 
Basil Read has come full circle. Sixty years ago, one of the 
group’s first contracts was to build the airport at Bloemfontein 
at a fraction of the cost of St Helena.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

Jimmy Johnston – Project director*, Deon de Jager – Island director*
Graham Temlett – General manager

St Helena airport project

Building an airport on the most isolated island in 
the world is not without its challenges. From rough 
seas to unexploded munitions from World War II, 
the St Helena airport project team has faced some 
interesting issues in tackling phase 1 of this 
four-year contract.
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The project is located in the Olifants River catchment 

incorporating the Steelpoort River catchment area, and 

extends into the Mogalakwena and Sand River catchments. 

Within this region are the towns of Mokopane, Burgersfort, 

Steelpoort, Roossenekal, Jane Furse, Polokwane, Lebowakgomo 

and the rural communities of the Lepelle-Nkumpi, Fetakgomo 

and Greater Tubatse municipalities.

Phase 2 of the project comprises De Hoop Dam, currently 

being constructed by the Department of Water Affairs, and 

a bulk water transfer system consisting of a number of pump 

stations and pipelines. The De Hoop Dam will be the bulk 

storage facility to boost the current water supply in 

Limpopo province.

The construction contract was awarded to Basil Read in 

February 2012, in support of commitments given to the Jane 

Furse community that water will be supplied to the Nebo 

Plateau by 2013.

The scope of work being undertaken by Basil Read includes:

 – Approximately 40km of welded steel pipeline varying in 

diameter between 1 100 and 1 800mm, with a wall thickness 

of between 5 and 11mm

 – One pump station at Steelpoort (2m³/s) for both the 

Olifants River Water Resources Development Project and 

the existing Lebalelo scheme

 – Cathodic protection to the pipelines

 – Auxiliary works comprising, inter alia, access roads, road 

deviations and an operations centre. 

Associated with the above structures, and to be implemented 

under the same contact, are the electrical, hydro-mechanical 

and instrumentation works. Construction commenced in 

mid-March 2012 and is expected to take place over a 

21-month period.

Initial delays were experienced due to certain sections of the 

site not being made available as land compensation issues and 

disputes needed to be resolved. The site has since been handed 

over and construction is progressing well.

FLEET OF PIPELAYERS ACQUIRED

To facilitate the successful completion of the project, Basil Read 

acquired three Volvo PL4608 pipelayers and, in doing so, became 

the owner of the largest fleet of Volvo pipelayers in Africa. This 

state-of-the-art equipment marks a major advance for the 

group, as the Volvo brand is seen as a leader in the field.

One of the benefits of using Volvo pipelayers is the cost-saving 

versatility of their design. Conventional pipelayers, traditionally 

built on a heavily modified bulldozer platform, cannot be 

adapted for other uses but the Volvo pipelayers, due to their 

excavator platform, are multi-purpose machines.

Another factor that was key to the decision to purchase the 

fleet was the enhanced standard safety features of the Volvo 

pipelayers. The wide working platforms reduce the risk of 

tipping, and highly visible green, amber and red light bars are 

mounted at either side of the boom tips, reflecting the state of 

the load. The boom foot is mounted as far inboard as possible, 

moving its centre of gravity closer to the machine’s centre-line, 

for enhanced stability. The hydraulically elevating cab improves 

overall visibility, especially into the trench and increases site 

safety in general. The innovative load management system 

(LMS) enables the operator to see what he can safely pick up. 

Real-time information is displayed on an in-cab monitor, 

together with visible and audible warning signals when the safe 

load limit is being reached.

With their innovative, patented design, the new Basil Read 

Volvo fleet offers cost-effective versatility as a pipelayer, 

excavator or for other heavy lift applications. This acquisition 

strengthens the group’s position in the pipelaying industry, 

enabling the group to tender more competitively for large 

diameter pipeline construction projects in future.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

Marco Valente – Chairman:  Valente Brothers*, Kgomotso Sekgobela – Managing director:  Valente Brothers*
Willem Meyer – Project director: Olifants River Water Resources Development Project*

Olifants River Water Resources  
Development Project

Basil Read was awarded the R1,2 billion contract to 
construct phases 2C and 2H of the Olifants River 
Water Resources Development Project being developed  
by the Trans-Caledon Tunnel Authority (TCTA).  
This second phase of the project is under way to  
create a bulk water supply to meet the needs of  
new mining developments and local communities  
in Limpopo province.

32 Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012



D
iv

is
io

n
al

 r
ev

ie
w

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 33



34 Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

CONSTRUCTION

The construction division incorporates 
Basil Read’s civil engineering, roads and 
building operations. Proven technical 
and financial engineering skills have 
reinforced Basil Read’s position 
among the leaders in the industry.
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The review period was particularly challenging for the group’s 

largest division, given subdued market conditions and fierce 

competition. The construction market remains flooded with 

resources, both plant and people, following the completion of 

infrastructure associated with the 2010 FIFA World CupTM. 

While the year was again notable for fewer tenders being 

submitted at lower values, Basil Read secured several key 

projects, collectively valued at R4,0 billion. With fewer tenders 

on offer, and significant pressure on margins, we continue to 

focus on securing new work at acceptable margins and keeping 

resources occupied.

Given the state of the local market, the focus has naturally 

shifted to other parts of Africa, where the need for quality 

construction groups remains high. At present Basil Read is 

exploring niche markets with long-term prospects in 

infrastructural spend in Africa. With secured contracts in 

Botswana, Namibia, Mozambique and the Democratic Republic 

of Congo and offices established in Zambia, the group is 

actively tendering for projects in Africa, where there are a 

number of public and private work opportunities.

For the review period, revenue was R4,0 billion 

(2011: R4,1 billion) with operating loss at R277,2 million 

(2011: R81,3 million). The divisional order book at year-end 

was R7,6 billion.

Despite solid growth in the division, margins have been 

affected by a number of loss-making contracts, particularly in 

the roads sector, which has historically been one of the group’s 

key performers. While these losses have been fully accounted 

for in results, we are pursuing opportunities for recovery 

through negotiation and dispute resolution.

OUTLOOK FOR 2013

Conditions in the local construction sector remain challenging 

although there are encouraging signs that the trading 

environment is set to improve. Tender activity is increasing, 

albeit slowly, and increased competition continues to affect 

margins. The division continues to explore opportunities 

beyond the borders of South Africa to mitigate the 

concentration risk of working predominantly in the local 

industry. Cross-border work presents a different set of 

risks and opportunities, which need to be identified and 

carefully managed.

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Performance characterised by  
loss-making contracts

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   Four-year contract to construct and operate an airport 

on St Helena Island with a project value of R3,1 billion.

➙   Olifants River pipeline project for Trans-Caledon Tunnel 

Authority.

➙   Preferred bidder (in a consortium) for N1/N2 toll road 

contract.

PERFORMANCE

  Focus on securing work at acceptable 
margins.

  Actively tendering for projects in Africa, 
where the need for quality construction 
groups remains high.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

Chris Erasmus – Chief operating officer: Construction, John Brink – Head of 
finance: Construction, Logan Moodley – Executive director: Construction*

58%

Construction 
Roads

Civils

Buildings

WHAT WE DO

➙ The construction division offers its clients innovative 
solutions, reliable service and an unwavering 
commitment to delivery in the disciplines of roads, 
civils and buildings.
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It was another challenging year for the roads division. Margins 
were under severe pressure as all market players continued to 
compete aggressively for any tenders available. Bitumen 
shortages again hampered operations in certain areas while 
strike action affected others. A number of difficult contracts 
neared completion during the year. Others are complete, but 
final certificates depend on the outcome of various 
negotiations or investigations (N17 Bethal, Kroonstad – 
Vredefort road).

Progress on works during the year is summarised below.

N12 Tom Jones
This technically challenging project is now due to be 
completed in April 2013 after force majeure delays resulted in 
time extension but without cost. Basil Read Roads has been 
recognised for its excellent work and innovative construction 
techniques on this project.

Fonteintjie
Due to recent scope changes, a time extension was granted to 
end-February 2013 and may be negotiated until end-June 2013. 
The division is on track to complete the project within the 
negotiated period.

Ermelo – Morgenzon road
This project ran without incident and both phases were 
handed over by February 2012. Final certificates are pending 
although the defects inspection has been completed 
without incident.

N9 – Colesberg
After starting in March 2011, progress to date on this joint 
venture between Basil Read Roads and Newport Construction 
has been excellent. Both sections (N1 and N9 interchange) are 
well advanced and on schedule. This R300 million project is 
due for completion in March 2014.

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Competitive conditions resulted in pressure  
on margins

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: R360 million road upgrade near Marburg, 

KwaZulu-Natal.

➙  Namibia: R170 million access road, Swakopmund.

➙  Mozambique: R335 million joint venture for Gaza project.

PERFORMANCE

  Sites to interact and leverage off each 
other’s resources.

  Innovative construction techniques 
employed on contracts.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

16%

Dave Bennett – Managing director: Basil Read Roads*

Construction continued

Basil Read Roads

WHAT WE DO

➙  Basil Read Roads, with its skilled teams, is a leader in 
high-profile road contracts in southern Africa.
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Construction continued

Basil Read Roads
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Hotazel – Kuruman road
This upgrade project began in February 2012 and is due for 
completion in October 2013. While the primary client is the 
Department of Roads in the Northern Cape, the project is 
also being funded by mines in the area, which has led to 
some smaller additional contracts in the area for these 
mining houses.

Marburg road 
This 30-month project is based in KwaZulu-Natal, close to 
Port Shepstone. Although only 11km long, it is a high-value 
contract given the number of logistical challenges. By year-end, 
establishment was nearing completion.

Gobabis – Otijenene road, Namibia
This 160km upgrade project was completed in August 2012. 
While being part of contractual obligations, the local skills 
developed in the area have allowed us to secure further work 
around Swakopmund.

Swakopmund uranium access road, Namibia
This R170 million 14-month project began in January 2013. 
As noted, the senior staff complement includes a large local 
contingent trained on the Gobabis project, which allowed Basil 
Read to offer a competitive tender without sacrificing margin.

Gaza project, Mozambique
This joint venture project with Portuguese company, Opway, 
began in May 2012. To date work is progressing well despite 
major flooding in the Chokwe area over December 2012 and 
into January 2013. As a 49% joint venture partner, Basil Read’s 
share equates to R165 million for this 18-month programme. 

OUTLOOK FOR 2013
The divisional outlook for 2013 seems more buoyant, with both 
provincial and national government putting more work out to 
tender. Basil Read Roads is focused on competitive pricing while 
managing its resources appropriately to allow different sites to 
interact and leverage off each other’s resources. 

Q  Where and when were you born? 
  I was born in Marble Hall, on a farm called Boschoek 

on 13 March 1978.

Q  Where did you spend your childhood?
  I grew up there and only moved up to Johannesburg 

in 1996 after completing my matric in 1995.

Q Describe your best and worst childhood memory.
  My best childhood memory was when my dad took me 

on a trip around Gauteng (PWV area as it was known 
then). My worst memory was when the farmer pointed 
a gun at my mom after accusing her of starting a veld 
fire, when actually we were only walking home from my 
grandmother’s place and the fire had already started.

Q Where did you go to school?
  I completed my primary education at a village called 

Mamphokgo and had to stay with my grandmother 
to be able to do this as there was no school on the 
farm where I was born. I did my high school some 
20km away as there was no high school at the village 
where my granny was staying. I had to walk to and 
from school as there was no dedicated school bus 
and taxis were an expensive option.

Q  What tertiary education do you have? How did 
you study?

  I have a National Diploma: Cost and Management 
Accounting, I studied full time through the then Wits 

Technikon. My studies were funded through a 
bursary from the Limpopo premier’s office.

Q Briefly describe your career to date.
  Soon after graduating in 1999, I started working 

for Basil Read Mining as a trainee cost controller. 
I worked for the mining division for eight years 
where I was exposed to some of the exciting and 
fast- paced projects. My first major project as a site 
administrator was the Phalaborwa Mining operation 
and from there I was part of the team that started 
at the Mupane gold mine in Botswana. I then moved 
to the Letlhakane and Damtshaa mines after being 
promoted to area cost controller for the Botswana 
operations. I joined the Basil Read Roads division in 
May 2008 as cost control manager for the BRCD JV, 
an experience I will always cherish.

Q What is your current job title?
  My current job title is Divisional Cost Controller : 

Basil Read Roads.

Q  How has working at Basil Read helped with your 
career progression?

  Everything I know I learnt here at Basil Read and 
I will forever be grateful for the opportunity and the 
experience attained over this period. Being able to 
grow within Basil Read has afforded me a great 
opportunity to fully understand the culture of the 
organisation and to carry the baton forward.  

KENNETH MMASEEMETransformation case study
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Newport Construction’s focus during the year was on two 

existing Sanral road contracts, both joint ventures with Basil 

Read (N1 Fonteintjie and N9 Colesberg) as detailed under 

Basil Read Roads. Although progress on both long-term 

contracts was generally satisfactory, they are recording 

substantial losses. This is due primarily to original tender 

pricing being exacerbated by constraints on working areas, 

adverse weather and poor performance by key subcontractors. 

The quality of workmanship remains very high and the site 

teams are committed to completing the projects in 2013.

Van Stadens wind farm

This R61 million civil and building works project, which began 

in mid-November 2012, is a fast-track development to 

construct foundations for nine 3MW wind turbine generators, 

6km of access roads and associated substation buildings. 

Despite adverse conditions, the project is progressing well and 

is currently ahead of schedule. 

Coega 

Newport was awarded the project management contract to 

design and construct 2,4km of precast concrete wall for the 

Coega Development Corporation. Although the value of the 

contract is relatively small (R1,5 million), the concept of 

developing SMME subcontractors is aligned with Newport’s 

strategy to transfer skills and nurture sound partnerships with 

emerging contractors.

As one of the fastest-growing civil engineering contractors in 

the Eastern Cape, Newport Construction (70% held by Basil 

Read) is well placed to capitalise on the expected upturn in 

activity in this province, underscoring its empowerment 

credentials and focus on transferring skills to SMME 

subcontractors. 

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Losses recorded primarily due to unachievable  
tender pricing

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: N9 Colesberg: R300 million joint venture 

project.

➙   South Africa: Wind farm: R61 million contract for Basil 

Read Matomo.

PERFORMANCE

  Quality of workmanship remains high 
despite difficult working conditions.

  Strategic initiative to transfer skills and 
nurture partnerships with emerging 
contractors.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

2%

Paul Walker – Managing director: Newport Construction*

Construction continued

Newport Construction

WHAT WE DO

➙  Newport Construction, one of the Eastern Cape’s  
fastest-growing and empowered civil engineering 
contractors, is known for the quality of its construction work.
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CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Despite recording first-ever year-end loss, order book 
remains stable

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: R279 million rehabilitation of N5 

Vaalpenspruit – Winburg. 

➙   South Africa: R560 million rehabilitation of 

R23 Standerton – Greylingstad. 

PERFORMANCE

  Company structured more effectively due to 
senior management changes.

  Strong brand identity and sound reputation 
leveraged to return company to profitability.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

It was a challenging year for Roadcrete Africa with margins 
under pressure in a highly competitive market, and 
extraordinary rainfall hampering virtually all contracts. 
Disappointingly, the company posted its first year-end loss but 
has a healthy order book from Sanral exceeding R1 billion for 
2013 and into 2014/2015. Senior management changes have 
been used as an opportunity to structure the company 
more effectively. 

Piet Retief – N2 section 33
The 14-month contract for major reconstruction of a section 
of the N2 from the KwaZulu-Natal/Mpumalanga border to 
Piet Retief was successfully concluded in February 2013.

Medupi ash dump, dams and miscellaneous 
infrastructure
Roadcrete Africa is in joint venture on this contract with Basil 
Read. Roadcrete’s share is R150 million. This project has faced 
numerous problems with a volatile workforce that has halted 
operations several times. Roadcrete will complete its work on 
the project by April 2013.

N8 Alexanderfontein to Petrusburg
Roadcrete was awarded a contract to rehabilitate 49,5km of 
the N8 for R222 million. Despite initial problems with the 
crushing subcontractor, this contract should be complete by 
November 2013. 

R37 – Polokwane
Roadcrete was contracted to upgrade section 1 of national 
road R37 and construct the new Polokwane smelter 
interchange. The contract value is R82 million, and completion 
is scheduled for July 2013.

R35 – Amersfoort
Roadcrete was awarded the contract to rehabilitate the 
R35 and D2514 from Amersfoort to Majuba power station, 
valued at R122 million. This contract has been severely 
hampered by rainfall due to the type of material used in the 
works. Completion is scheduled for November 2013.

N5 – Winburg
Roadcrete was recently awarded a R279 million contract to 
rehabilitate the N5 between Vaalpenspruit and Winburg. 
This 24-month contract started in February 2013.

R23 – Standerton
Roadcrete is rehabilitating the section of R23 between 
Standerton and Greylingstad. This 33-month contract has a 
value of R560 million and started in March 2013.

6%

Johannes van Tonder – Operations director: Roadcrete Africa*
Noel Cassels – Operations director: Roadcrete Africa*

Construction continued

Roadcrete Africa

WHAT WE DO

➙  Roadcrete Africa is an established low-cost, high-quality 
producer in the road infrastructure arena.
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CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Poised for growth following most profitable year in 
company’s history

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Consistent supply to Derbigum, a key client.

➙   South Africa: SS60 supplied to Concor Roads.

➙   Namibia: Mobile emulsion plant supplied 3 million litres 

of SS60.

PERFORMANCE

  Cape Town branch opened in 2013 to 
support geographic expansion.

  Establishment of bitumen reactor plant will 
increase service offering.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

SprayPave had a very good year, recording its second-highest 

turnover and highest profit in its 31-year history. This Gauteng-

based company offers world-class technology to a broad base 

of customers throughout sub-Saharan Africa from a fleet of 

bitumen distributors and haulers. With the addition of a Cape 

Town branch in 2013, SprayPave is concentrating on securing 

market share in that province and surrounding areas.

The company’s sophisticated manufacturing plant remains a 

competitive advantage, with 100% of product supplied 

manufactured in-house for optimum quality control and 

competitive pricing. 

The key challenge during the year remained the inconsistent 

supply of bitumen and failure of refineries to keep pace with 

rising demand. 

To mitigate the risk of fluctuating bitumen supply and as part 

of the expansion in the Western Cape, SprayPave is establishing 

a bitumen reactor plant which will produce various grades of 

bitumen. Expected to be operational in the second half of 

2013, the plant will enable the group to enter the production 

process at an earlier stage. Negotiations with leading refineries 

to secure the supply of crude oil short residue are currently 

under way.

To further support expansion initiatives, the Durban plant was 

upgraded and modernised during the year to include a new 

weighbridge, manufacturing plant, modified bitumen plant and a 

world-class laboratory. SprayPave’s head office in Gauteng was 

expanded to incorporate new workshop facilities and a 

training room.

With an order book of over R139 million for 2013, and an 

expanded fleet, SprayPave is well placed to capitalise on 

opportunities in its specialist field.

2%

Steven Single – Managing director: SprayPave*
Philippe Chirnside – Commercial manager: SprayPave

Construction continued

SprayPave

WHAT WE DO

➙  SprayPave supplies and sprays top-quality bituminous  
products for Basil Read and other leading construction  
companies in Africa. 
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CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Significant loss incurred on Nata to Pandamatenga 
road contract

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   Botswana: 135km road contract between Nata and 

Pandamatenga.

➙   Botswana: R62 million road contract for Debswana’s 

Orapa mine.

PERFORMANCE

  Management concentrating on securing 
new contracts.

  Client relationships to be nurtured in 2013 
to avoid disputes in future.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

Sladden International (Botswana) was acquired by Basil Read  

in 2010 to enhance the group’s civil engineering capabilities in 

Africa. The company’s client base includes the Botswana 

government, Debswana, African Copper and Tati Nickel Mine.  

It has also maintained a presence in the prestigious diamond 

mines of Jwaneng and Orapa since 1977. 

Sladden recorded a loss for 2012, mostly attributable to losses 

on the Nata-Pandamatenga project. This was the company’s 

key contract during the year and will continue well into 2013.  

The losses on the contract are attributable to disagreements 

with the client’s representative relating to measurement and 

other claim entitlements. Sladden is actively trying to resolve 

these disagreements which could result in recoveries in the 

2013 financial year. 

Sladden was recently awarded a nine-month contract at 

Debswana’s Orapa mine. The contract consists of the stripping 

and stockpiling of 91 000m3 of topsoil and the construction of 

a 2m thick rock fill platform, which will be capped with a 

sub-base course layer. Various drainage structures will also 

be constructed.

Management is concentrating on sourcing new contracts for 

2013 and beyond, and structuring the company appropriately.

3%

Thapelo Matsheka – Chairman: Sladden International*

Construction continued

Sladden International

WHAT WE DO

➙  Sladden International, operating since 1963, is a  
respected civil engineering contractor based in  
Francistown, Botswana.
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The type of work undertaken by this division includes projects 
where concrete structures are the dominant feature such as: 
industrial plants, mining process plants and infrastructure; 
power generation plants; water and effluent treatment, storage 
and distribution; marine structures, etc. It also offers design-
and-construct services where required.

During the year, Basil Read acquired the specialist sliding 
company, Conform, adding slipform concrete capabilities to the 
civil engineering division.

The following projects were completed during 2012:
 – Ngezi mining concentrator plant, Zimbabwe;
 – Port of Durban container terminal;
 – Sunderland Ridge waste water treatment plant works;
 – N17 toll plazas; and
 – Grootegeluk coal mine.

The division recorded losses on some of these projects, 
specifically Sunderland Ridge, the toll plazas and Grootegeluk. 
While these were all completed during the year, outstanding 
commercial issues may generate some upside on these projects.

Key contracts during 2012 and going forward are summarised 
below:

Kusile power station 
The division is involved in three contracts on this Eskom project. 
 – The Kusile civil work joint venture (Basil Read 25% share) is 
progressing well. The estimated final value is now around 
R7 billion with completion scheduled for 2015;

 – The division is a shareholder (33,3%) in the silo joint 
venture with a total contract value of R150 million; and

 – The Kusile civil work joint venture has also subcontracted 
Basil Read (Conform) to construct columns to the inclined 
coal conveyor for a contract value of R30 million.

Medupi power station (Eskom)
The division is engaged in two packages, namely the clarifiers 
contract, valued at R150 million and the ash dumps and coal 
stockpile yards, valued at R600 million. There were numerous 
delays during the year, mainly due to labour disputes and 
unprotected strikes. These projects will be completed in 2013.

Prasa – resignalling: Durban
This R1 billion project is in Durban where we are part of a 
consortium with Bombardier and others to upgrade signalling 
on rail lines around Durban. Basil Read is responsible for the 
civil work, worth R110 million.

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Non-recurring charges affected operational profits

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: R516 million contract for the construction 

of Medupi ash dumps, dams and related infrastructure 

for Eskom.

➙   South Africa: Construction of clarifiers at Medupi power 

station for Eskom valued at R132 million.

➙   South Africa: Civil works at Kusile power station for 

Eskom in joint venture.

➙   Democratic Republic of Congo: Construction of process 

plant and mine infrastructure at Kansuki copper mine.

PERFORMANCE

  Design-and-construct contracts being 
pursued as tender activity increases.

  Slipform concrete capabilities added to 
service offering through acquisition of 
Conform.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

17%

Eugene du Toit – Managing director: Basil Read Civils (Acting)*

Construction continued

Basil Read Civils

WHAT WE DO

➙ Basil Read Civils operates on a project basis, mainly in 
South Africa and neighbouring countries. Projects further 
afield are pursued for selected clients and where we 
have the required capacity and expertise.
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The Valente Brothers group has built a solid reputation in the 

civil engineering construction sector, specialising in 

constructing bulk infrastructure, specifically pipeline 

infrastructure and pipe jacking. Now fully integrated into Basil 

Read, the Valente Brothers group comprises Valente Brothers, 

Phambili Pipelines and Tubo Jacked Pipelines.

Landmark contracts include the first potable water pipeline to 

Sun City; 42km of 1 000mm diameter pipeline for the 

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry – one of the largest 

potable water projects of the late 1990s; moving large bulk 

services for the Gautrain project’s airport link; and over 

120km of bulk pipelines for the Arabie Dam bulk water 

supply scheme.

Zuikerbosch to Panfontein Pipelines

This R35 million contract for client, Rand Water, involves the 

construction of steel welded pipelines from Zuikerbosch pump 

station to Panfontein reservoirs as well as the construction of 

a 2 000m² concrete lined dam with various reinforced 

concrete chambers on the pipeline and in the Zuikerbosch 

works itself.

Phases 2C and 2H, Olifants River Water Resources 

Development Project

Although awarded to Basil Read Civils, the Valente Brothers 

group is overseeing execution of this contract due to its 

extensive experience in the construction of pipelines. 

Construction began during March 2012 and is expected to 

take place over a 21-month period. Initial delays were due to 

certain sections of the site not being made available as land 

compensation issues and disputes needed to be resolved. 

Despite these early setbacks, the site has since been handed 

over and construction is progressing well.

As detailed in the project report on page 32, the group 

became the largest fleet owner of Volvo pipelayers in Africa to 

facilitate the successful completion of the project. The 

acquisition of these specialised plant items should also enable 

the group to tender more competitively for additional large 

diameter pipeline construction projects.

The Valente Brothers group’s other key contracts include the 

SAFDEV Kruisfontein project valued at R25 million and the 

Baviaanspoort Glenway project worth R22 million. 

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Smaller group entity providing specialist services

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Olifants River pipeline project for 

Trans-Caledon Tunnel Authority.

➙   South Africa: R35 million water Zuikerbosch project.

➙   South Africa: SAFDEV Kruisfontein project for R25 million.

➙  South Africa: R22 million Baviaanspoort Glenway project.

PERFORMANCE

  Acquired during 2010, the Valente Brothers 
group expands the group’s service offering 
into the specialist field of pipelines.

  Largest fleet owner of Volvo pipelayers in 
Africa should enhance prospects.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

1%

Marco Valente – Chairman:  Valente Brothers*
Kgomotso Sekgobela – Managing director:  Valente Brothers*

Construction continued

Valente Brothers group

WHAT WE DO

➙ The Valente Brothers group offers niche contracting 
services in the field of pipeline, bulk services and 
trenchless technology.
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The building division recorded reasonable results for the year 

under difficult market conditions. Despite having secured most 

of the required workload for the 2013 financial year, tendering 

conditions remained extremely competitive, particularly in the 

Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal. 

The division successfully completed a number of projects 

during the period, including:

 – Additions and alterations to Worcester Hospital.

 – Nurses’ college residence for Thaba Tshwane Department of 

Defence valued at R210 million.

 – Upgrading secondary runway at Waterkloof air force base 

valued at R300 million.

 – Phase 1 of the Gautrain’s Marlboro station parking deck.

Medupi power station

Work continues on the R260 million contract for 

miscellaneous buildings at Medupi power station. The contract 

period was extended following civil unrest with completion 

now expected towards the end of 2013.

Kusile power station 

Work began in January 2012 with up to 18 buildings under 

construction at the same time. This pace will continue for 

the next four years, culminating in the completion of some 

90 buildings by the contract’s end in 2017. This is an equal 

joint venture with Stefanutti Stocks. 

Both power station projects have proven very challenging, 

given the scale of legislative requirements, local labour and 

procurement. The teams are focused on ensuring that both 

projects are managed satisfactorily. 

Peter Gerolemou – Managing director: Basil Read Buildings* 
Reinoud Oranje – Deputy managing director: Basil Read Buildings*

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Good performance in difficult market with tender 
activity improving

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Joint venture contract to construct around 

90 buildings at Eskom’s new Kusile power station.

➙   South Africa: R260 million contract to construct 

miscellaneous buildings at Medupi power station.

➙   South Africa: R300 million project for new TWP 

headquarters.

PERFORMANCE

  Leading contractor for the construction of 
government healthcare facilities.

  Poised for expansion into new geographic 
territories, including across the African 
continent.

* Appointment at subsidiary level

11%

WHAT WE DO

➙ The buildings division is active in South Africa’s major 
centres and specialises in hospitals, offices, shopping 
centres, schools and industrial buildings.

Construction continued

Basil Read Buildings
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Construction continued

Basil Read Buildings
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Melrose Arch 

Construction on a new R300 million headquarters for TWP at 

Melrose Arch, Johannesburg, began in May. Consisting of five 

basements and seven floors, this 41 000m2 project is well on 

track for its scheduled completion in March 2014. This 

state-of-the-art building will incorporate the latest green 

technology and accommodate around 1 200 staff members.

Natalspruit Hospital

The R1,5 billion Natalspruit Hospital project, involving a 

760-bed facility for the Department of Public Works, was 

successfully completed in the year under review. The project 

included an on-site daily clinic and academic facilities for 

trainee doctors and other medical staff as well as state-of-the-

art auditorium. 

Trompsburg Regional Hospital 

Work on this R260 million project is progressing well, with 

completion set for end 2013. 

St Helena airport terminal building 

Work is set to start in May 2013, with the building division 

responsible for staff and technical expertise. 

Q  Where were you born?
  Free State, Bethlehem.

Q  Where did you spend your childhood?
  Qwa-Qwa, Phuthaditjhaba.

Q  Describe your best and worst childhood 
memory.

  My worst memory was when I lost one of my 
brothers in 1992; he was so funny and caring 
and always treated me like a real last born at 
home. Losing him at the age of 12 was quite a 
shock to me as I was still young and we were 
close. The best memory will always be growing 
up in a very loving family and being able to take 
care of each other – that is the most precious 
thing I will forever cherish. 

Q  Where did you go to school?
  I attended Qholaqhwe Primary School and 

Mmathabo Secondary School.

Q  What tertiary education do you have? How did 
you study?

  I completed an end using computing course at 
Multi-Careers College in Kempton Park. I 
happened to hear on the radio about a 
programme that was started by Naledi 
Pheelwane called Y2Y Youth Programme. 
The programme organises sponsors to assist 
post-matric students who are less privileged and 
help them to do something with their lives. I was 
fortunate to be one of them.

Q  Briefly describe your career to date.
  I started working at Basil Read in the stationery 

department in 2008. In 2011, I moved into the 
procurement department as a data capturer and 
was promoted to the position of junior buyer.

Q  How has working at Basil Read helped with 
your career progression?

  I was given an opportunity to show my abilities. 
Through effective training and with the right 
people guiding me, I have progressed well 
although I still have a lot to learn. I hope to 
achieve more in the years to come. 

MARY MALEKATransformation case study
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MINING

Basil Read Mining specialises in 
opencast contract mining, mine spoils 
rehabilitation, bulk earthmoving, thin, 
thick and multiple seam mining,  
hard-rock selective mining and 
materials handling.
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Basil Read Mining remains a stable performer in the group, 

with ongoing contracts despite a visible decline in both the 

number and value of mining contracts being awarded in South 

Africa. As evidenced by widespread illegal strikes in 2012, the 

domestic mining industry is currently a major concern. Basil 

Read Mining is already active in Botswana and Namibia, but 

well placed to capitalise on business opportunities further 

afield in Africa.

PERFORMANCE

The mining sector was extremely difficult to anticipate and 

interpret in the review period given the uncertainty in global 

markets and commodities. This resulted in a very challenging 

year for Basil Read Mining, exacerbated by some unforeseen 

difficulties in its contracts. The division as a whole, including 

Blasting & Excavating, remained profitable, however, recording 

10% growth in turnover to R1,0 billion (2011: R930,7 million) 

and an operating profit of R82,4 million (2011: R107,7 million) 

at a margin of 8,1% (2011: 11,6%). A significant portion of the 

division’s profits are derived from the Majwe Mining joint 

venture, which is classified as an associate entity and therefore 

not included as part of operating profit. Despite the current 

state of the mining industry, the division’s order book is at a 

healthy R1,5 billion (2011: R2 billion). Capital expenditure of 

R173 million during the year underlines the ongoing 

investment in new plant and equipment (2011: R411 million). 

Basil Read Mining and Blasting & Excavating maintained their 

separate accreditations (ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 

18001) during the period, illustrating the continual drive for 

safety and quality that surpass industry standards.

South Africa

Basil Read Mining has formed a joint venture with Concor to 

execute work at Beeshoek mine, part of the Assmang group. 

The partners have completed the first year of mining and the 

project is progressing well.

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Stable performer in the group despite uncertain  
conditions locally

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Joint venture contract at Beeshoek mine for 

Assmang.

➙   South Africa: Contract at De Beers’ Venetia mine.

➙   Botswana: Contract for phase 2 at Jwaneng mine for 

Debswana as part of the Majwe Mining joint venture.

PERFORMANCE

Need for significant capital expenditure 
prohibitive to rapid expansion.

Established contract mining partner of choice 
for projects in southern Africa.

*Appointment at subsidiary level

Francois Stock – Financial director: Basil Read Mining*

Antonie Fourie – Managing director: Basil Read Mining*

10%

Mining continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ Basil Read Mining has become the contract mining 
partner of choice for projects in southern Africa, 
reflecting its exceptional safety record, growing 
capabilities and world-class resources.

Basil Read Mining
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Mining continued

Basil Read Mining
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In December 2012, the division completed mining operations 

at Venetia mine. Work entailed cleaning and waste handling in 

the pit, with an additional service to move tailings on the mine. 

Botswana

All contractual obligations at Jwaneng mine to move the 

phase 1 of the Cut 8 project were completed by year end. 

The contract for phase 2 at Jwaneng (in which Basil Read is 

part of a joint venture) is progressing well after some initial 

challenges, with production reaching the targets set at tender 

stage. A related contract was signed with Discovery Metals to 

assist with waste removal in its pits. This project started in 

December and is running well. 

Namibia

The three-way joint venture between Basil Read Mining, 

Concor and Grinaker-LTA faced some significant challenges 

Q Where and when were you born?
 I was born on 17 May 1984 in the small town of 

Mandeni in KwaZulu-Natal. 

Q Where did you spend your childhood?
 In Mandeni with my family.

Q Describe your best and worst childhood memory.
 Best memories are of the nicknames that my dad used 

to call us and the jokes that he used to tell, especially to 
keep us going when we were ploughing maize, 
potatoes, etc. and doing the garden.   

   One of my worst memories was when I asked for 
something that was required at school and was not 
able to get it in time, for example, school uniform and 
books. At the time, I would not tell my parents what 
was required at school because I knew that they could 
not afford to buy it for me. In addition, there was no 
time to do homework as I had to help my mother with 
house chores, such as fetching water and collecting 
wood. I also had to walk quite a distance to get to 
school and back; it took one and a half hours to walk 
to school.

Q Where did you go to school?
 I attended St Cyprian’s Primary School and 

Nkwenkwezi High School. 

Q What tertiary education do you have? How did you 
study?

 National diploma in taxation and B Tech in taxation 
(Durban University of  Technology) – I used National 

Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS) to finance my 
studies. My mother used to help me out with money 
for food and registrations in the beginning of each year 
using her pension. 

 Postgraduate diploma in accounting (University of 
Fort Hare) – this was a two year programme as 
I had to upgrade from technikon level to university 
level at a SAICA accredited institution to achieve 
my CA(SA) qualification.

Q Briefly describe your career to date.
 After completing my postgraduate diploma in 

accounting, I joined Deloitte in 2009 as a trainee 
accountant in the auditing field, which I completed at 
the end of 2011. During the time I was with Deloitte 
I wrote the necessary examinations to qualify as a 
CA(SA) on completion of my training.

Q When did you start working at Basil Read? What 
was your job title?

 I started working at Basil Read on 16 July 2012 as a 
finance manager, focusing on group reporting.

Q What is your current job title?
 Finance manager

Q How has working at Basil Read helped with your 
career progression?

 It has helped to enhance my knowledge of accounting 
standards and group accounting to understand how 
things are done in practice.

MAKHOSI MHLONGOTransformation case study

during the year, after Areva’s urgent review of uranium resulted 

in Trekkopje being made partially dormant. The contract scope 

was reduced and the partners had to attain certain milestones 

to reach the contract value. This was achieved through good 

leadership and a concerted effort by every member on site. 

The contract ended well.

Basil Read Mining has received a letter of intent from 

Weatherly International plc to perform contract mining 

services for the Tschudi Copper project in Namibia, subject to 

Weatherly securing the requisite funding for the project. 

Weatherly has signed a term sheet with a finance provider and 

the confirmed funding is expected to be in place during the 

first half of 2013, with mining activities set to commence in 

early 2014. This contract has not been included in the group’s 

order book.
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Blasting & Excavating (B&E) has provided drilling and blasting, 

load-and-haul and crushing services to the construction, 

quarrying, civil engineering and mining industries since 1972. 

As a leading drill and blast specialist contractor, the company 

has executed projects in all major southern African countries 

including Uganda, Zambia, Mauritius and Madagascar.

Key contracts over the last year include:

South Africa

B&E signed another three-year drilling contract with Venetia 

mine, Limpopo, and supplied additional drilling capacity. 

Reflecting a solid relationship with client De Beers, B&E also 

placed a drilling team at Voorspoed to assist with ongoing 

waste stripping at this mine, where the difficult geological 

structure of the pit affects drilling quantities.

The project at Uitvlugt mine for Highveld Steel and Vanadium 

has been delayed by outstanding mining permits. In the interim, 

B&E has been able to supply the client’s Mapochs mine with 

the same high quality of ore that Uitvlugt is producing. 

If outstanding permits are received in 2013, B&E will complete 

the project at Uitvlugt.

Botswana

The contract has been extended at Jwaneng mine for drilling 

works in Cut 6 and Cut 7, with a completion date of end 2014. 

B&E is also assisting the Majwe Mining joint venture at Jwaneng 

with drill rigs for restricted spaces to increase bulk drilling. 

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Industry leader producing solid results

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Three-year drilling contract at De Beers’ 

Venetia mine.

➙   South Africa: Contracts at two mines for Highveld Steel 

and Vanadium.

➙   Botswana: Drilling works in Cut 6 and Cut 7 at 

Jwaneng mine.

PERFORMANCE

Complementary services support other group 
operations.

Entrenched reputation as a leader in this 
specialist field.

*Appointment at subsidiary level

Stephen Marx – Director: Blasting & Excavating* 

Antonie Fourie – Managing director: Basil Read Mining*

5%

Mining continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ Blasting & Excavating (B&E) provides drilling and blasting, 
load-and-haul and crushing services to the construction, 
quarrying, civil engineering and mining industry.

Blasting & Excavating
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ENGINEERING

Basil Read’s engineering division 
complements the activities of the 
group’s construction, mining and 
developments divisions, adding a 
wealth of specialised in-house  
expertise and experience.
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TWP PROJECTS
TWP performed well in 2012 with revenue up 47% on 2011. 
TWP Projects has a number of long-term projects on its 
books with several being successfully commissioned during the 
year, including the South Deep gold plant upgrade and the 
SX plant for Chambesi Metals. New regional offices in Kathu, 
Centurion and Krugersdorp have developed a good workload 
and are complementing the broad spectrum of services TWP 
has to offer. A number of new projects were started over the 
year for clients such as the Anglo American group,  AngloGold 
Ashanti, Rand Gold and Norilsk Nickel.

The international offices are undergoing a few changes, largely 
related to the transaction with WorleyParsons. The Peru office 
has built up a good portfolio of work and it is likely this will 
join forces with WorleyParsons offices in the region. The TWSP 
business is being sold to WSP Australia, our 50% partner, as 
there is a duplication in services with the large WorleyParsons 
business in Western Australia.

DISPOSAL OF TWP
On 23 October 2012, the group entered into a sale of shares 
agreement with WorleyParsons Ltd (WorleyParsons) whereby 
WorleyParsons RSA Group (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of 
WorleyParsons, will acquire the entire issued share capital 
of TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd for a cash consideration of 
R900 million.  All conditions precedent to the transaction were 
met during the 2013 financial year and the transaction was 
successfully concluded on 12 March 2013.

The transaction excludes Basil Read Matomo Projects (Pty) 
Ltd and TWP Matomo Process Plant (Pty) Ltd which conduct 
the Basil Read EPC business as well as TWP Investments (Pty) 
Ltd and LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd (previously TPS.P Architects 
(Pty) Ltd). These companies will continue to operate 
autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries of Basil Read. 

TWP INVESTMENTS
TWP Investments is the investment arm for the mining and 
processing segment of the TWP group and remains in the Basil 
Read stable of companies. Its mandate is to invest in mining 
and processing projects from an equity perspective while 
creating new pipeline opportunities for the group.

Its most advanced project is the Lehating manganese project 
in the Northern Cape, for which the bankable feasibility 
study has been completed. A mining right application is in 
the process of being lodged. Talks are currently under way 
to secure project funding with construction expected to 
commence towards the end of 2013.

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE1

Contribution to group

EPCM business disposed of to WorleyParsons in 2013

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙  TWP Projects: Impala shafts projects – No 17, 18 and 20.

➙  TWP Projects: South Deep gold plant upgrade.

➙  TWP Projects: SX plant for Chambesi Metals

➙  TWP Investments: Lehating manganese project.

PERFORMANCE

Renewed focus on core business of EPC 
resulted in disposal of TWP EPCM business.

1  Revenue from TWP Investments is less than 1% of group 
revenue

20%

Engineering continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ TWP Projects is a leading engineering and project 
management firm particularly in the EPCM  
(engineering procurement and construction  
management) arena.

TWP
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Basil Read Matomo houses a solid base of skills in a unique 

process design and project execution company. In its first 

full year the company performed to plan, growing steadily on 

the back of new work and its ability to offer a turnkey 

(EPC) service. 

After the successful delivery of Pan African Resources’ first 

tailings recovery plant – Phoenix – towards the end of 2011, 

Basil Read Matomo was awarded its second EPC project with 

this client, the Barberton tailings retreatment plant. This is 

scheduled for completion in 2013. 

The company was also recently awarded the EPC contract 

to construct a new tertiary milling plant at the Two Rivers 

Platinum mine – a joint venture between African Rainbow 

Minerals and Impala Platinum – situated in the southern part 

of the eastern limb of the Bushveld Igneous Complex. 

Completion is expected in mid-2013.

Basil Read Matomo’s energy division’s offering to the market is 

structured around four main focus areas: energy efficiency, 

renewable energy, co-generation and self-generation. The 

company is equipped and skilled to deliver any alternative 

energy project including biomass/biogas, wind energy, solar 

thermal and photovoltaic power plants.

The company was awarded the R475 million EPC contract for 

the construction of the 27MW Metrowind Van Stadens wind 

farm project in the Eastern Cape. The turbine supply 

agreement was concluded in November 2012 with the first 

shipment expected in May 2013. The site is scheduled to 

become operational in February 2014.

Effective risk management is critical to the EPC model as more 

risk is carried by the company. Basil Read Matomo’s expertise 

in this area means that it is safely able to provide clients with 

complete transparency, assurance and peace of mind 

throughout a project’s development cycle. The EPC model is 

increasingly becoming the preferred model for clients which 

offers significant growth opportunities.

 

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

EPC contractor earmarked for growth

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Barberton tailings retreatment plant for Pan 

African Resources.

➙   South Africa: New tertiary milling plant at Two Rivers 

Platinum Mine.

➙   South Africa: R475 million contract for the Metrowind Van 

Stadens wind farm.

PERFORMANCE

As the EPC model becomes the preferred 
model, significant growth opportunities 
identified.

Reputation of delivery fuelling growth with 
order book at just over R1 billion.

*  Appointment at subsidiary level

6%

Erik Bruggink – Managing director: Basil Read Matomo*

Basil Read Matomo

Engineering continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ Basil Read Matomo’s engineering, procurement and 
construction (EPC) model is one of the driving factors 
behind its growth momentum.



Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 71

D
iv

is
io

n
al

 r
ev

ie
w



72 Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

The review period was significant for Basil Read Energy as the 

Metrowind Van Stadens wind farm project moved from 

development phase into construction phase in November 

2012. Construction of this project will take 14 months, with 

the plant scheduled to begin commercial operation in 2014. 

Basil Read Energy holds 23% of the equity in the project along 

with its co-shareholders.

The wind farm will be operated by 3 Energy South Africa, 

a facilities management company co-founded by Basil Read 

Energy and WindkraftTeknik, a wind farm operations company 

that has been successfully operating wind farms in Europe for 

the past 15 years. 

Basil Read Energy continues to develop the 75MW Beaufort 

West solar-power plant. In conjunction with Basil Read 

Matomo’s energy division, the project is undergoing a detailed 

value engineering process to enable it to bid in the August 

2013 round three of the Department of Energy’s renewable 

energy procurement programme.

The demand for cost-effective reliable electrical power 

continues to increase in South Africa and Africa. In December 

2012, the South African minister of energy announced 

government would procure an additional 3 200MW of 

renewable energy-generation capacity from independent 

power producers in line with the integrated resource plan for 

electricity 2010 to 2030. In addition, tariff increases proposed 

by Eskom are driving many large consumers of electrical 

power to consider alternative sources of supply. Equally, the 

African continent lacks the generation capacity to meet 

demand, with many nations looking to independent power 

producers to fill this deficit. Basil Read Energy is well 

positioned to capitalise on these opportunities. 

A critical and fast-growing sector of the energy industry, as 

more and more renewable energy power-generation capacity is 

introduced, is energy storage. In 2012 Basil Read Energy 

concluded a joint venture agreement with Highview Power 

Storage of the UK for the rights to develop and build cryogenic 

energy storage plants in Africa using Highview technology. 

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Niche business set for future growth

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: 27MW Metrowind Van Stadens wind farm.

➙   South Africa: 75MW Beaufort West solar-power plant.

PERFORMANCE

Positioned to capitalise on opportunities as 
SA government commits to procuring from 
independent power producers.

JV agreement signed to develop and build 
cryogenic energy storage plants in Africa.

*  Appointment at subsidiary level

0%

Ian Curry – Managing director: Basil Read Energy*

Dr Mark Griffiths – Business development manager: Basil Read Energy

Basil Read Energy

Engineering continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ Basil Read Energy develops, funds, owns and operates 
utility-scale power generation and energy storage assets 
in Africa. The company has been developing various 
renewable energy projects over the past three years. 
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TPS.P Architects was rebranded to LYT in September 2012, 

and remains in slightly positive territory, operating in a very 

tough building market. 

The commercial development sector appears to have reached 

a turning point as evidenced by the number of enquiries for 

new office and retail space that have steadily increased 

throughout the year. Demand in the resources sector is mixed 

as the downturn in commodities prices is balanced by 

increasing pressure on mining houses to deliver on housing, 

schooling and other social investment projects, with LYT 

commissioned to design housing projects. 

The local hospitality industry remains under pressure with few, 

if any, new hotels being planned. Cross border, however, the 

situation is quite different where the demand for hotel 

accommodation continues, particularly in West Africa. To this 

end, LYT began designing a property for City Lodge in Ghana 

and has started work on two new hotels for the Rezidor 

group in Lagos.

The retail sector has been supported to some extent by 

developments in outlying areas, with architectural commissions 

in the major centres having been curtailed or limited to 

refurbishments or extensions. One exception is the Forest Hill 

Mall in Centurion, a 65 000m² new-build regional mall for the 

Billion Group. Retail-based commissions in West Africa 

continue to flood in, especially in Nigeria and Ghana.

LYT continues to operate as the pre-eminent practice in the 

education sector, with a strong supply of projects for private 

schools. In addition, the “Green School concept” initiative is 

gaining momentum and we expect to break ground on one or 

more of these during 2013.

Despite the challenging economic circumstances, LYT has 

secured its turnover for 2013 and is actively bidding on new 

work in South Africa and further afield.

Guy Steenekamp – Managing director: LYT Architecture*

CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Highly experienced professional practice renowned for 
its design and service levels

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: Forest Hill Mall in Centurion for Billion Group.

➙   South Africa: TWP headquarters in Melrose Arch for client, 

AMDEL.

➙   Nigeria: Two new hotels for Rezidor group.

PERFORMANCE

Pre-eminent architectural practice in the 
education sector.

Significant cross-border opportunities being 
pursued, partially in West Africa.

*  Appointment at subsidiary level

1%

Engineering continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ LYT remains the most diversified design and architectural 
practice in South Africa with significant skill and 
experience in the design and delivery of mining, 
infrastructure, industrial, educational, residential, 
commercial, hospitality, retail and transportation projects, 
both in South Africa and abroad.

LYT Architecture
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DEVELOPMENTS

Basil Read Developments is a 
frontrunner in laying the foundations 
for vibrant new communities from 
affordable housing developments to 
mixed-use residential estates and light 
industrial parks.
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Basil Read Developments continues to entrench its reputation 

for developing sustainable communities, reflected in its 

Gauteng flagship project, Cosmo City – the first mixed-use, 

fully integrated sustainable human settlement in South Africa. 

Although the smallest of Basil Read’s divisions, it has the 

largest socio-economic impact with a total economic impact 

of over R60 billion during construction, affording over 

116 000 employment opportunities. For the group, this division 

is strategically significant, given its focus on sustainable 

development and the secondary work it creates for group 

companies. Some R3 billion in work, not yet included in the 

group’s order book, will be created for other Basil Read 

divisions over the life of current projects.

In 2012, the division continued to focus on several large-scale 

integrated and affordable housing developments. This forms 

part of our contribution to eradicating the housing backlog in 

South Africa by creating sustainable cities and communities.

PERFORMANCE

Basil Read Developments contributed revenue of R25,0 million 

(2011: R38,3 million) and an operating loss of R30,0 million 

(2011: R9,1 million), after accounting for a non-recurring write 

down of the Rolling Hills Estate of R26,6 million.

Cosmo City

This flagship project of 12 500 houses has reached its final 

stages. All the fully subsidised houses planned for the 

development have been handed over to qualifying families. The 

industrial park, a joint venture with Investec, is well established. 

The first tranche of stands was transferred during the year and 

numerous businesses are already operational. A pilot project of 

240 affordable houses is being investigated with the National 

Housing Finance Corporation and the Gauteng Department of 

Local Government and Housing, which will address 

government’s new policy to provide housing to the income 

group earning between R3 500 and R15 000 per month.

Des Hughes – Managing director: Basil Read Developments*

Yusuf Patel – Director: Basil Read Developments*CONTRIBUTION TO GROUP REVENUE

Contribution to group

Strategically important division given focus  
on sustainable development and work created  

for the group

KEY CONTRACTS UNDER WAY

➙   South Africa: The mega-scale integrated housing 

development, Savanna City, received final regulatory 

approvals.

➙   South Africa: The R850 million Malibongwe Ridge project 

broke ground in July 2012.

➙   Zambia: Agreement to develop mixed-use project in 

Lusaka.

➙   Rwanda: Contracted to provide a development 

management service on a 2 000 to 3 000 unit mixed-use 

residential project in Kigali.

PERFORMANCE

Significant socio-economic impact through 
creation of sustainable cities and communities

Ability to provide expert services, driving 
expansion into Africa

1%
Less
than

*  Appointment at subsidiary level

Developments continued

WHAT WE DO

➙ Basil Read Developments is a leader in creating new 
sustainable cities of affordable housing in mixed-use 
integrated developments. The division also develops 
industrial parks and lifestyle developments.

Basil Read Developments
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Developments continued

Basil Read Developments
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Malibongwe Ridge

At Malibongwe Ridge, an extension to Cosmo City, ground 

was broken in July 2012. This R850 million development will 

rehouse the Itsoseng informal settlement and provide housing 

for over 5 500 families, various social facilities and commercial 

sites in a sustainable environment. Funding has been provided 

for internal services to the first phase as well as 100 RDP units 

and 200 rental units which are due to be completed in the first 

half of 2013.

Klipriver Business Park

A pivotal spine between Johannesburg, Meyerton and 

Ekurhuleni, Klipriver Business Park continues to generate 

significant interest, despite a subdued industrial market. 

First tenants were installed during the year.

Rolling Hills Estate

A new 800ha lifestyle development on the major N4 route to 

Mpumalanga is being actively marketed. This contemporary 

estate offers a mix of freehold, sectional title, retirement, eco 

village, hotel and conference opportunities. It has attracted 

much interest, although market conditions in the upper-end 

residential and second-home sector remain difficult.

Phakisa

At Phakisa, near Welkom in the Free State, all studies have 

been completed and the project is ready to break ground. 

Disappointingly, the provincial government has failed to meet 

its obligations to this development, resulting in all work being 

delayed and possibly stopped. 

Savanna City

South of Johannesburg, Savanna City is a 1 462-hectare project 

valued at R3 billion in partnership with Old Mutual. Savanna 

City is potentially the largest private affordable urban lifestyle 

development of its kind in South Africa, surpassing Cosmo City. 

In December 2012, the Midvaal Municipality finally approved 

the urban management plan and lifted conditions on the 

township establishment approval. National Treasury committed 

to gazette additional grant funding to the municipality to install 

the bulk infrastructure needed for the development. All that 

remains is for the services agreement to be finalised before 

breaking ground. Once approved, Savanna City would take 

13 years to complete, creating 55 000 jobs during construction 

and around 13 000 permanent jobs post construction. Work 

on extension 1 (almost 1 000 stands) started in September 

2012. In total, Savanna City will provide almost 18 000 housing 

units, 16 schools, 32 institutional sites, nine municipal facilities 

and municipal services, and nine business and retail facilities. 

Zambia

The division signed a land development agreement in May 

2012 to develop a mixed-use project on a prime 15-acre site 

at the Munis Sports Club. After concept designs and a 

high-level feasibility study were completed, a market study 

was initiated to determine the best use of commercial, retail 

and office space and tenants.

Rwanda

Basil Read Developments was selected to provide 

development management services to the City of Kigali and 

its partners, Shelter Afrique and the Rwandan Development 

Bank, for an integrated housing project. The pre-feasibility 

study is under way.

The division has positioned itself in the social and gap housing 

sector where government expenditure over the next few 

years is expected to increase significantly. Basil Read 

Developments has also extended its urban management 

experience to provide expert services and capacity building 

functions in this area. 

There is great potential for integrated residential 

developments in the low/middle-income category, both in 

South Africa and across the continent. The division is exploring 

a range of opportunities across the continent against 

stringent criteria.



SUSTAINABILITY

We remain committed to embedding 
sustainability into every facet of our 
business, in line with our international 
peers, and best practice, inclusive of  
the communities we operate in.

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 201282 Basil Read integrated 
annual report 2012882
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Basil Read recognises the value of good corporate governance as 

recommended in the King III Code of Governance Principles 

(King III). The board of directors is committed to ensuring Basil 

Read complies with the JSE Listings Requirements, the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended (Companies Act), as well 

as all other codes, regulations and legislation that may apply to 

the company. As part of our objective to continuously improve 

corporate governance, we are currently completing the Institute 

of Directors’ gap analyses, and feedback will be provided to 

shareholders in the 2013 integrated annual report.

The board, with the assistance of various sub-committees and 

the company secretarial team, has reviewed the application of 

King III principles. The findings of this process are reflected in 

the relevant sections that follow:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board should elect a chairman who is an 

independent non-executive director. The CEO of the 

company should not also fulfil the role of chairman of 

the board.

The board should appoint the chief executive officer 

and establish a framework for the delegation of 

authority.

The board should comprise a balance of power, with a 

majority of non-executive directors. The majority of 

non-executive directors should be independent.

Directors should be appointed through a formal process.

The evaluation of the board, its committees and 

individual directors should be performed every year.

A governance framework should be agreed between 

the group and its subsidiary boards.

Compliant

The board of directors of Basil Read comprises two executive 

directors, three non-executive directors and five independent 

non-executive directors. The chairman is an independent 

non-executive director and his role is separate to that of the 

CEO. The company also has a full-time executive financial 

director as required by the JSE Listings Requirements. 

In line with King III, the composition of the board reflects a 

good balance between executive and non-executive directors, 

with the majority of non-executive directors being 

independent. The board is satisfied that there is an appropriate 

balance of power and authority so that no individual or group 

can dictate the board’s decision-making processes. The board is 

also satisfied that there is a clear division of responsibilities to 

ensure the effectiveness of board processes and procedures.

All appointments to the board are done in line with an 

approved policy. Appointments are formal and transparent and 

a matter for the board as a whole, assisted where appropriate 

by the chairman’s nomination and investment committee. 

When appointing new directors, the board also considers its 

own requirements, including the need for specific skills and 

expertise to achieve balance and to meet the group’s strategic 

objectives. Each appointment of a new director requires the 

approval of the board and is subject to confirmation by 

shareholders at the annual general meeting. 

During the past financial year, the following changes to the 

board were effected: 

 – Mr Andrew Conway Gaorekwe (Connie) Molusi was 

appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 

14 March 2013.

 – Mr Nigel John Townshend resigned as an executive director 

with effect from 12 March 2013.

 – Mr Paul Cambo Baloyi was appointed as an independent 

non-executive director with effect from 2 November 2012.

 – Dr Claudia Estelle Manning was appointed as an 

independent non-executive director with effect from 

23 August 2012.

 – Ms Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila was appointed as an independent 

non-executive director with effect from 23 August 2012.

 – Ms Given Refilwe Sibiya resigned as an independent 

non-executive director with effect from 31 August 2012.

Andiswa Ndoni – Group company secretary and legal adviser

Sustainability review continued

Corporate governance

SUMMARY

➙ Basil Read is committed to being a responsible corporate 
citizen in the communities and environment in which it 
operates. 

➙ The group operates against a business plan compiled by 
the executive management team and approved by the 
board.

➙ Basil Read recognises the importance of effective risk 
management and, as such, risk is a regular board agenda.
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The group operates against a business plan compiled by the 

executive management team and approved by the board. 

The board then retains effective control over the group and 

monitors the implementation of strategies and policies by the 

executive management team through various committees and 

processes. The board is satisfied that information provided is 

sufficient to enable directors to consider material matters and 

make informed decisions.

During the year, a board evaluation was completed by an 

external specialist and certain recommendations made to 

improve board performance. These recommendations are 

currently under consideration and the required steps to 

implement them will be taken in due course. The board has 

decided that a more comprehensive evaluation will be 

conducted in 2013, which will include an evaluation of the 

board, its sub-committees and each of the respective directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES 

The board should delegate certain functions to 

well-structured committees but without abdicating 

its own responsibilities.

Compliant

To facilitate effective decision making, specific responsibilities 

have been formally delegated to board committees with 

defined terms of reference, with clear transparency and full 

disclosure from these committees to the board. The board 

understands that ultimate responsibility vests with the board, 

duly assisted by its sub-committees. These include the social, 

ethics and transformation committee; audit and risk 

committee; chairman’s nomination and investment committee; 

and remuneration committee.

For more information, please refer to the company’s respective SENS announcements.

The board meets at least four times per year or as frequently as required. A schedule of attendance at board meetings held during 

the 2012 financial year is set out below:

Directors 17 Jan 19 Mar 20 Mar 7 Jun 17 Jul 23 Aug 19 Oct 21 Nov

Lester Peteni#

Marius Heyns

Donny Gouveia 

Nigel Townshend

Paul Baloyi^

Charles Davies^ Apologies

Nopasika Lila^

Claudia Manning^

Connie Molusi*

Sango Ntsaluba* Apologies

Given Sibiya^

Thabiso Tlelai* Apologies Apologies Apologies Apologies

# Independent non-executive chairman 
^ Independent non-executive director 
* Non-executive director 
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The committee meets at least twice a year, and the attendance 

record for the review period is set out below:\
Committee members 25 Sept 22 Nov

Thabiso Tlelai#

Claudia Manning^ Apologies

Connie Molusi

Nigel Townshend~

Avi Naidoo† 

# Non-executive chairman 
^ Independent non-executive director 
~ Executive director 
† Member

Basil Read is committed to being a responsible corporate 

citizen in the communities and environment in which it 

operates. The group is equally focused on maintaining 

positive relationships with all stakeholders, the well being of 

the environment and upholding universal human rights. 

We understand that our continued success is not just a factor 

of economic performance, but also relates to our investment 

in corporate, social and environmental sustainability.

Basil Read endorses the principles on ethical practices and 

organisational integrity set out in King III, and will do all that is 

necessary to ensure it operates in line with these principles. 

The committee is cognisant of its broad range of 

responsibilities in terms of the Companies Act and has 

adopted a phased approach in the execution of its mandate, 

starting with the approval of terms of reference as well as an 

annual work plan. The committee is in the process of putting 

the necessary structures in place, and will agree on a combined 

assurance framework. It is expected that the process of 

ensuring that all requirements are met and structures to be 

put in place may take a number of years but the committee is 

satisfied that the journey is well under way.

The committee monitors relevant legislation, other legal 

requirements and prevailing codes of best practice specifically 

with regard to social and economic development, good 

corporate citizenship, the environment, health and public safety, 

Social, ethics and transformation committee

The board should provide effective leadership based on 

an ethical foundation.

The board should ensure that the company is and is 

seen to be a responsible corporate citizen.

The board should ensure that the company’s ethics are 

managed effectively.

The board should act as the focal point for and 

custodian of corporate governance.

The board should appreciate that strategy, risk, 

performance and sustainability are inseparable.

The board should provide effective leadership based  

on an ethical foundation.

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ 

perceptions affect a company’s reputation.

The board should delegate to management to 

proactively deal with stakeholder relationships.

The board should strive to achieve the appropriate 

balance between its various stakeholder groupings, 

in the best interests of the company.

Companies should ensure the equitable treatment of 

shareholders.

Transparent and effective communication with 

stakeholders is essential for building and maintaining 

their trust and confidence.

The board should ensure disputes are resolved as 

effectively, efficiently and expeditiously as possible.

Compliant 

In compliance with the Companies Act, the board has 

constituted a social, ethics and transformation committee.  

The composition of this committee changed during the period, 

with Chris Erasmus,  Antonie Fourie, Digby Glover and Erica 

Grace resigning as members of the committee and Dr Claudia 

Manning being appointed as a new member. Connie Molusi was 

appointed to the committee in March 2013. 

Corporate governance

Sustainability review continued
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consumer relationship as well as labour and employment.  A gap 

analysis will be conducted on relevant legislative requirements, 

including international best practice and the committee will 

thereafter agree on action plans to close any gaps. 

The committee will seek to consolidate its understanding of 

the material social, ethical and transformational issues that 

pertain to the group and will ensure that they are managed in 

the best interest of all stakeholders. This will include the task 

of monitoring the responsible and sustainable development 

performance of the group in respect of:

 – Ethics management;

 – Corporate social investment;

 – Stakeholder relations;

 – Sustainability strategy and framework;

 – Safety, health, environment and quality; and 

 – BBBEE.

Remuneration committee

Companies should remunerate directors and executives 

fairly and responsibly.

Companies should disclose the remuneration of each 

individual director and certain senior executives.

Shareholders should approve the company’s 

remuneration policy.

Compliant

The remuneration committee comprises two independent 

non-executive directors and one non-executive director. 

The chairman of the board is not a member of this committee. 

The committee makes recommendations to the board and 

the board may approve, alter or vote against these 

recommendations.

The committee’s responsibilities and objectives are to assess 

the remuneration strategy of the group and determine 

conditions of employment. It is also responsible for the group’s 

share incentive scheme. 

The committee is satisfied that executive directors are 

remunerated according to their responsibilities and 

performance.

The group’s remuneration policy is set out in the 

remuneration committee report on page 92 and, in terms of 

King III, shareholders will have the opportunity to vote on this 

by way of a non-binding advisory vote. In compliance with the 

Companies Act, remuneration of non-executive directors will 

also be approved by shareholders at the company’s annual 

general meeting, and this resolution is included in the notice 

of annual general meeting.

The committee meets at least three times during the year 

or as frequently as required. A schedule of attendance at 

remuneration committee meetings held in 2012 is set 

out below:

Committee members 1 Feb 18 Jul 3 Oct

Charles Davies#

Claudia Manning^

Given Sibiya^

Thabiso Tlelai* Apologies

# Independent non-executive chairman 
^ Independent non-executive director 
* Non-executive director 

Chairman’s nomination and investment committee

The committee comprises two independent non-executive 

directors and one non-executive director. The CEO attends all 

meetings as an invitee and, in accordance with the JSE Listings 

Requirements, the chairman of the board is also the chairman 

of the committee.

The duties and responsibilities of the committee include 

providing balanced and well-structured recommendation to 

the board by:

 – Serving as the nomination committee to consider and 

recommend the composition of the board and its 

committees as well as the appointment of new directors.

 – Considering succession planning for the board, CEO and 

company secretary. The committee will also assist the 

CEO in considering succession planning for the financial 

director and other executive directors who may not serve 

on the board.
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The audit committee should be chaired by an 

independent non-executive director.

The audit committee should oversee integrated reporting.

The audit committee should ensure that a combined 

assurance model is applied to provide a coordinated 

approach to all assurance activities.

The audit committee should satisfy itself of the 

expertise, resources and experience of the company’s 

finance function.

The audit committee should be responsible for 

overseeing of internal audit.

The audit committee should be an integral component 

of the risk management process.

The audit committee is responsible for recommending 

the appointment of the external auditor and overseeing 

the external audit process.

The audit committee should report to the board and 

shareholders on how it has discharged its duties.

The board should determine the levels of risk tolerance.

The risk committee or audit committee should assist 

the board in carrying out its risk responsibilities.

The board should delegate to management the 

responsibility to design, implement and monitor the risk 

management plan.

The board should ensure that risk assessments are 

performed on a continual basis.

The board should ensure that frameworks and 

methodologies are implemented to increase the 

probability of anticipating unpredictable risks.

The board should ensure that management considers 

and implements appropriate risk responses.

The board should ensure continual risk monitoring  

by management.

The board should receive assurance regarding the 

effectiveness of the risk management process.

The board should ensure that there are processes in 

place enabling complete, timely, relevant, accurate and 

accessible risk disclosure to stakeholders.

Compliant 
n/aNot applicable

 – Functioning as the investment committee and being 

responsible for considering group acquisitions, mergers and 

disposals relative to the capital structure of the proposed 

deal, before making recommendations to the board.

The committee meets at least four times per year. A schedule 

of attendance at committee meetings held during the year is 

set out below:

Committee 

members 12 Mar 8 May 26 Jun 7 Aug 10 Oct

Lester Peteni#

Charles Davies^

Sango Ntsaluba*

Marius Heyns~

# Independent non-executive chairman 
^ Independent non-executive director 
* Non-executive director 
~Executive director

Audit and risk committee

The board should ensure the company has an effective 

and independent audit committee.

The board should be responsible for the governance of risk.

The board should ensure the company complies with 

applicable laws and considers adherence to non-binding 

rules, codes and standards.

The board should ensure there is an effective risk-based 

internal audit.

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ 

perceptions affect the company’s reputation.

The board should report on the effectiveness of the 

company’s system of internal controls.

The board and its directors should act in the best 

interests of the company.

The board should consider business rescue proceedings 

or other turnaround mechanisms as soon as the 

company is financially distressed as defined in the Act.

n/a

Audit committee members should be suitably skilled  

and experienced independent non-executive directors.

Sustainability review continued

Corporate governance
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Audit and risk committee continued

The board should be responsible for information 

technology (IT) governance.

IT should be aligned with the performance and 

sustainability objectives of the company.

The board should delegate to management the 

responsibility for the implementation of an IT 

governance framework.

The board should monitor and evaluate significant  

IT investments and expenditure.

IT should form an integral part of the company’s  

risk management.

The board should ensure that information assets are 

managed effectively.

A risk committee and audit committee should assist  

the board in carrying out its IT responsibilities.

The board should ensure that the company complies 

with applicable laws and considers adherence to 

non-binding rules, codes and standards.

The board and each individual director should have a 

working understanding of the effect of the applicable 

laws, rules, codes and standards on the company and  

its business.

Compliance risk should form an integral part of the 

company’s risk management process.

Internal audit should follow a risk-based approach to  

its plan.

Internal audit should provide a written assessment of 

the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal 

control and risk management.

Internal audit should be strategically positioned to 

achieve its objectives.

Compliant 

In compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the 

Companies Act and King III, the board has an audit and risk 

committee, which reports directly to the board. This 

committee’s report appears on page 96 of the integrated 

annual report.

The audit and risk committee comprises three independent 

non-executive directors and one non-executive director. In line 

with King III, the board chairman is not a member of 

this committee.

The members of the audit and risk committee changed 

during the review period. Given Sibiya resigned as member 

and chairperson and Nopasika Lila was appointed as a new 

member and chairperson. Paul Baloyi was appointed as 

member to the committee in March 2013. Committee 

members are appointed annually by shareholders at the annual 

general meeting and the relevant resolutions are included in 

the notice of annual general meeting.

The board has established controls and procedures to 

ensure the accuracy and integrity of the group’s financial 

information. These controls are designed to safeguard, verify 

and maintain accountability of the group’s assets, and to 

detect and minimise fraud, liability and loss or unauthorised 

use. All joint ventures, associates and partnerships are 

subject to the same risk profile procedure as any other 

project undertaken by the group.

Basil Read recognises the importance of effective risk 

management and as such, risk is a regular board agenda. 

Grant Thornton South Africa has been appointed as independent 

internal auditor to ensure that the risk controls and procedures 

in place are adequate and operating as envisioned.

Basil Read, through Deloitte, operates a 24-hour, dedicated 

tip-off service where employees can anonymously, and without 

fear of retribution, report any perceived unethical behaviour. 

This service has been in operation since 1 August 2008. Each 

tip-off is investigated and the results reported to the audit and 

risk committee, which in turn considers the appropriate action.

Pilferage and theft on site is an ongoing problem across the 

industry in which Basil Read operates. To address this, the 

company has engaged a specialist security company to provide 

forensic investigation and prosecutorial services when the 

need arises. 
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In March 2013, a decision was taken by the board to separate the 

audit and risk committee into two separate committees to 

ensure adequate consideration of all matters that fall under the 

ambit of these committees. The members of the audit committee 

will be as follows: Nopasika Lila will serve as the audit 

committee's chairman. Charles Davies, Paul Baloyi and Sango 

Ntsaluba will serve as members, subject to the approval of 

shareholders at the annual general meeting.  The newly formed 

risk committee will be chaired by Paul Baloyi with Connie Molusi, 

Marius Heyns, Donny Gouveia and Avi Naidoo serving as 

members.

Integrated reporting and disclosure 

The board should ensure the integrity of the company’s 

integrated report.

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be 

integrated with the company’s financial reporting.

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be 

independently assured.
#

Compliant 
#Under review

The integrated annual report is the culmination of contributions 

from the board, its various committees, the company secretarial 

department and management. The board believes it is a true 

reflection of the company and its performance.

Independent assurance on sustainability reporting and disclosures 

will be obtained in subsequent integrated annual reports.

Professional advice, induction and training

The induction and ongoing training and development of 

directors should be conducted through formal processes.

Compliant 

Formal induction programmes for new directors are in place and 

training is provided to directors should the need be identified. 

All directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice 

about the affairs of the group at the group’s expense.

Company secretary

The board should be assisted by a competent, suitably 

qualified and experienced company secretary.

Compliant 

The audit and risk committee meets at least four times per year or as frequently as required. A schedule of attendance at meetings 

during the year is set out below:

Committee members 19 Mar 12 Apr 23 May 23 Aug 19 Oct

Nopasika Lila#

Paul Baloyi^

Charles Davies^ Apologies

Sango Ntsaluba* Apologies

Given Sibiya#

# Independent non-executive chairman 
^ Independent non-executive director 
* Non-executive director 

Sustainability review continued

Corporate governance
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Following the resignation of Ms Enna Kruger as group 

company secretary with effect from 5 April 2012, Merchantec 

Capital was appointed as the company secretary to the group. 

Ms Andiswa Ndoni was appointed as company secretary to  

the group, with effect from 14 March 2013, following the 

resignation of Merchantec Capital. 

The company secretary is appointed by the board and the board 

is satisfied that the company secretary is suitably qualified, 

experienced and competent. The board has assessed 

appropriateness and expertise of Andiswa Ndoni and is satisfied 

that an arm’s-length relationship exists between the board and 

the company secretary. The company secretary is responsible for, 

among others, the duties stipulated in section 88 of the 

Companies Act, with the required statement of compliance on 

page 132 of the integrated annual report.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT 

In all our dealings with employers, suppliers, subcontractors, stakeholders and among ourselves, we at Basil Read are 

committed to upholding the principles of:

 – Respect for human dignity, human rights and social justice;

 – Non-discrimination;

 – Transparency;

 – Honesty;

 – Fairness; and

 – Accountability and responsibility.

Accordingly, we undertake to:

 – Respect and uphold the laws of the countries in which we operate. Unethical payments, business dealings or participation in 

fraudulent acts such as bribery or asset misappropriation will not be tolerated.

 – Avoid any potential conflict of interest in all our dealings. We will perform our duties diligently and to the best of our ability, 

in the best interests of the company and all stakeholders.

 – Refrain from deriving any personal advantage from our dealings. We will not accept gifts, hospitality or other favours which 

could be considered inappropriate or unwise, and which could be perceived as placing the recipient or the company under 

some kind of obligation.

 – Only use company funds, property and assets for legitimate business purposes. Improper use of the company’s electronic 

communication systems – computer systems, email and internet access – will not be tolerated. 

 – Respect the dignity of all employees, their right to freedom of association, to be rewarded fairly and to realise their full 

potential. Harassment of any kind, particularly sexual harassment, will be severely dealt with.
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REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE 

The board is responsible for ensuring the group’s 

remuneration structures are equitable and aligned with the 

long-term interests of the group and its stakeholders. To 

ensure compliance, the board has tasked the remuneration 

committee with assisting it in making decisions affecting 

employee remuneration. 

The remuneration committee comprises three non-executive 

directors with the majority being independent, including the 

chairman. Members are CP Davies (chairman), TA Tlelai and 

CE Manning. The composition and scope of the committee are 

set out in written terms of reference which have been 

approved by the board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES

For the year under review, the remuneration committee:

 – Proposed a new short-term incentive structure for the  

chief executive officer to the board for approval and 

implementation effective from January 2012;

 – Proposed a short-term incentive for subsidiary/business  

unit management;

 – Reviewed and recommended executive remuneration for 

board approval;

 – Reviewed and recommended non-executive directors’ fees 

for board approval;

 – Considered and recommended an annual increase in salary 

bill for approval by the board; 

 – Received feedback on the analysis of the annual salary 

review process for monitoring purposes;

 – Monitored the organisation’s transformation and 

employment equity targets;

 – Reviewed group employee retirement funding as well as 

healthcare benefits;

 – Received feedback relative to executive succession planning; 

and

 – Monitored and commented on the internal talent 

audit process.

REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY AND POLICY

Basil Read’s philosophy is to encourage sustainable long-term 

performance across all subsidiaries and business units. The 

purpose of our total rewards package is to attract, retain, 

motivate and reward staff, in a very competitive environment, 

to achieve the group’s objectives. The group is acutely aware 

of its dependence on appropriately qualified, trained and 

experienced specialists to achieve its goals. Furthermore, with 

the emphasis on international exposure, the demand, both 

locally and internationally, for scarce skills is ever-increasing.

As a result, the group’s remuneration philosophy needs to 

ensure that it:

 – Retains, develops and continues to attract people with the 

required skills necessary to enable the business to meets its 

current and future demands;

 – Develops a collaborative and single focused spirit among 

different business units that is directed towards attaining the 

group’s objectives and strategy rather than just individual or 

departmental success;

 – Clearly differentiates and rewards performance excellence 

while discouraging and dealing with mediocrity;

 – Achieves the appropriate balance between short- and 

long-term rewards;

 – Enables the payment of rewards and incentives out of a 

portion of the shareholder value created during any  

financial year cycle; and

 – Creates a sustainable leadership structure with the 

succession pool necessary for continuity, growth and one 

that in future becomes more representative of the 

demographic of South Africa.

Charles Davies – Chairman: remuneration committee

Sustainability review continued

Remuneration committee report

SUMMARY

➙ Remuneration structures are equitable and aligned with 
the long-term interests of the group and its stakeholders.

➙ The purpose of our total rewards package is to attract, 
retain, motivate and reward staff, in a very competitive 
environment, to achieve the group's objectives.
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The group’s remuneration philosophy, policies and structures 

have been developed around these core principles and 

conform to the best practice guidelines contained in the  

King III report for South Africa.

CURRENT COMPONENTS OF REMUNERATION

The remuneration committee ensures that the components 

of proper remuneration, inclusive of annual guaranteed 

remuneration, short-term incentives and long-term 

incentives are linked in such a way as to achieve the Group’s 

strategic objectives. 

Guaranteed remuneration

The group makes reference to a total guaranteed package (TGP) 

approach which encompasses a cash component, fixed car 

allowance, retirement funding and healthcare contributions.

The company makes reference to the Paterson ‘job grading’ 

system and participates, as well as subscribes, to external 

online benchmarking remuneration surveys which enable 

reliable comparisons of remuneration for executive job 

descriptions and across all other disciplines in the sector. 

Our policy is to remunerate all competent performing 

employees between the 50th and 75th percentiles 

ensuring they are properly benchmarked within their 

respective disciplines.

Employee benefits

Basil Read makes provision for employee retirement funding 

by means of a defined contribution fund, which is compulsory 

for all salaried construction and mining employees. It is also 

compulsory for all new salaried employees to belong to the 

group medical aid scheme. Where applicable, an employee 

can remain on their spouse’s medical aid and provide proof 

of membership.

Variable remuneration

Short-term incentives

The objectives of the short-term incentive policy are:

 – To ensure that the Basil Read group is able to attract and 

retain highly qualified and motivated executives;

 – To motivate executives to manage and lead the business 

successfully and to drive strong long-term organisational 

growth in line with strategy and business objectives;

 – To provide competitive and balanced, performance-related 

remuneration, consisting of both fixed and variable 

components;

 – To ensure that the interests of the executives are aligned 

with those of shareholders by linking remuneration directly 

to company performance; and

 – To ensure there is transparency and fairness in the executive 

remuneration policy and practices, and at the same time 

recognise that remuneration is a critical aspect of human 

resource management.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The short-term incentive bonus for the chief executive officer 

for the 2013 financial year will be calculated based on profit 

after tax on a sliding scale as follows:

< R100 million 0%

R100 – R200 million 2%

R200 – R300 million 4%

> R300 million, to a maximum of R500 million 5%

If certain predetermined transformation targets are not 

achieved, the short-term incentive bonus may be reduced.
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Executive directors, group executive management and 

divisional executive management

The payment of annual performance bonuses under the Basil 

Read short term incentive scheme is structured to ensure that 

the shareholders receive the targeted return on their 

investment and is contingent on the achievement of certain 

measures relating to the following:

 – Group performance;

 – Business unit performance; and

 – Individual performance.

The threshold for determining the maximum executive bonus 

pool to be allocated will be determined on a sliding scale 

based on a return on equity (ROE) calculation as follows: 

 – Group ROE of <15% – no executive bonus pool to be 

allocated

 – Group ROE of between 15% and 17,5% – executive bonus 

pool of 3,5% of net profit after tax of the group

 – Group ROE of between 17,6% and 20% – executive bonus 

pool of 4,25% of net profit after tax of the group

 – Group ROE of >20% – executive bonus pool of 5% of net 

profit after tax of the group

The threshold for determining the maximum divisional/

company bonus pool to be allocated to each business unit for 

all levels of staff will be determined on a sliding scale based on 

a return on equity calculation as follows: 

 – Business unit ROE of <15% – no divisional/company bonus 

pool to be allocated;

 – Business unit ROE of between 15% and 17,5% – divisional/

company bonus pool of 5% of net profit after tax of the 

business unit;

 – Business unit ROE of between 17,6% and 20% – divisional/

company bonus pool of 7,5% of net profit after tax of the 

business unit; and

 – Business unit ROE of >20% – divisional/company bonus pool 

of 10% of net profit after tax of the business unit.

The divisional/company bonus pool determined in terms of the 

formula above will be further adjusted based on group 

performance as follows:

 – Group ROE of <15% – divisional/company bonus pool of the 

business unit to be reduced by 30%;

 – Group ROE of between 15% and 20% – divisional/company 

bonus pool of the business unit to be reduced by 15%; and

 – ROE of >20% – no reduction of the divisional/company 

bonus pool.

Individual performance will be measured against a set of 

individual and job-specific criteria. Executive directors and 

group executive management can earn up to a maximum of 

200% of their annual guaranteed cost to company. Divisional 

executive management can earn up to a maximum of 100% of 

their annual guaranteed cost to company. 

In all cases, the payment of awarded bonuses to executive 

directors, group executive management and divisional 

executive management will only be made if, and when, there is 

sufficient cash available to do so. For this purpose, guidance 

will be taken from the liquidity and solvency calculations 

performed for each division and for the group.

In exceptional circumstances, the remuneration committee, on 

recommendation from the chief executive officer, may consider 

external and internal factors that may have contributed to the 

thresholds not being met and may award purely discretionary 

short-term bonuses on an individual and business unit basis.

Sustainability review continued

Remuneration committee report
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Long-term incentives

The long-term incentive for the chief executive officer is 

detailed in the directors’ report on page 135. The long-term 

incentive for all other senior executives and other staff is 

currently under review.

Details relating to the group’s current employee share scheme 

can be found on pages 137 to 140 and in note 40 to the annual 

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Executive directors

The tables showing the breakdown of the annual remuneration 

for executive directors for the years ended December 2012 

and December 2011 are set out in the directors’ report on 

page 135.

Non-executive directors

The board applies principles of good corporate governance 

relating to directors’ remuneration and also keeps abreast of 

changing trends. Non-executive directors’ fees are 

recommended to the board by the remuneration committee, 

and then proposed to shareholders for approval at the annual 

general meeting.

When determining the level of non-executive directors’ fees 

to be proposed, the committee takes cognisance of market 

practices and norms as well as the additional responsibilities 

placed on board members by new legislation and corporate 

governance principles.

The group’s policy on fees for non-executive directors is that 

they should be fee-based, market-related but not linked to 

share performance. No bonuses or share incentives are 

awarded as these can create a potential conflict of interest.

Non-executive directors qualify for reimbursement of 

expenses incurred in the performance of their duties on behalf 

of the company.

Fees paid to board and committee members for the 2012 and 

2011 years are shown in the tables on page 136 of the 

directors’ report. The proposed fees for the 2013 financial year 

are disclosed on page 136 of the directors’ report.

Charles Davies

Chairman of the remuneration committee
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The committee is pleased to present its report for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2012 as required by the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008 (the Act).

The committee’s operation is guided by a formal detailed 

charter that is in line with King III and the act, and is approved 

by the board as it is amended. The committee has discharged 

all of its responsibilities as contained in that charter.

OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE

The overall objectives of this committee are to:

 – Assist the board in discharging its duties relating to 

safeguarding assets and operating adequate systems 

and controls;

 – Control reporting processes and accurate reporting of 

financial statements in compliance with legal requirements 

and accounting standards;

 – Provide a forum for discussing business risk and control 

issues, and developing recommendations for consideration 

by the board;

 – Oversee the activities of internal and external audit; and

 – Perform those duties prescribed by the Act, the JSE  

and King III. 

The committee performed the following activities:

 – Received and reviewed reports from internal auditors on 

the effectiveness of the internal control environment, 

systems and processes;

 – Reviewed the reports of internal and external auditors 

detailing concerns arising out of their audits and requested 

appropriate responses from management;

 – Made appropriate recommendations to the board on 

corrective actions in view of audit findings; and

 – Considered the independence and objectivity of the 

external auditors and ensured the scope of additional 

services provided did not impair their independence;

 – Reviewed and recommended for adoption by the board 

financial information that is publicly disclosed. For the year, 

this included:

• The integrated annual report for the year ended 

31 December 2012;

• The interim results for the six months ended  

30 June 2012; and

 – Considered the effectiveness of internal audit, approved 

the one-year operational strategic internal audit plan and 

monitored the adherence of internal audit to its annual plan.

The audit and risk committee believes its objectives were met 

during the review period. Where weaknesses in specific 

controls were identified, management undertook to implement 

appropriate corrective actions.

MEMBERSHIPS 

During the 2012 financial year, membership of the committee 

comprised two independent non-executive directors and one 

non-executive director.

Ms Given Sibiya continued to serve as chairman of the 

committee until her resignation from the board on 31 August 

2012. As a chartered accountant with 20 years’ experience in 

accounting and auditing, both internal and external, she was 

considered suitably qualified to carry out the duties required 

of chairman. 

Ms Nopasika Lila was appointed to the committee on 

23 August 2012 and as chairman on 19 October 2012. 

Nopasika is a chartered accountant with a number of years’ 

experience in accounting, auditing and corporate governance. 

She is considered suitably qualified to carry out the duties 

required of chairman.

Nopasika Lila – Chairman: audit and risk committee

SUMMARY

➙The committee has fulfilled its obligations for the 
review period.

➙Where required, the committee is monitoring 
management actions to enhance the 
control environment.

Audit and risk committee report

Sustainability review continued
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Mr Charles Davies continued to serve on the committee in 

the year under review. Charles has extensive management 

experience at executive level and serves on various boards in 

a non-executive capacity.

Mr Sango Ntsaluba continued to serve on the committee in 

the year under review. Sango is a chartered accountant with 

more than 20 years of experience. 

As required by the JSE Listings Requirements, the committee 

should comprise at least three independent non-executive 

directors. To comply with this requirement and following 

various appointments to the board in 2012, Mr Paul Baloyi was 

appointed to the committee on 14 March 2013. Paul has 

extensive management experience at executive level,  

significant banking experience and serves on various boards 

as a non-executive director.

Details of committee membership appear on pages 89 and 90.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

The committee has satisfied itself through enquiry that the 

auditor of Basil Read Holdings Limited is independent as 

defined by the Act. The committee, in consultation with 

executive management, agreed to an audit fee for the 2012 

financial year. The fee is considered appropriate for the work 

that could reasonably have been expected at that time.  Audit 

fees are disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.

A formal procedure governs the process by which the external 

auditor is considered for providing non-audit services. Each 

engagement letter for non-audit work in excess of R250 000 is 

reviewed by the committee in advance of this work. Routine 

work assignments, including auditor letters required for 

tendering purposes, below the value of R250 000, are not 

required to be approved by the committee. 

Meetings were held with the auditor where management was 

not present, and no matters of concern were raised.

The committee has reviewed the performance of the external 

auditors and has nominated, for approval at the annual general 

meeting, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the external auditor 

for the 2013 financial year. 

Mr F Lombard assumed the role of designated auditor for the 

2012 financial year and will continue for the 2013 financial year.

FINANCIAL DIRECTOR REVIEW

The committee has reviewed the performance, 

appropriateness and expertise of the chief financial officer, 

Mr MDG Gouveia, and confirms his suitability for appointment 

as financial director in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audit and risk committee has evaluated the integrated 

annual report for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 

considers that it complies, in all material aspects, with the 

requirements of the act and International Financial Reporting 

Standards. The committee has therefore recommended the 

annual financial statements as set out on pages 142 to 221 for 

approval to the board. The board has subsequently approved 

the financial statements, which will be open for discussion at 

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Nopasika Lila

Chairman of the audit and risk committee
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Within the group, risk is regarded as the impact of uncertainty 

on the objectives of key processes and activities of the group. 

Hence, a holistic approach to managing uncertainty, 

representing both risk and opportunity, has been adopted in 

the group. By better understanding and managing risk, we are 

able to add value, reduce cost, be better informed in making 

decisions and provide greater clarity and certainty to all our 

employees, customers and stakeholders. 

Effective risk management is central to the group strategy of 

maintaining a competitive advantage and adapting to changes 

in the internal and external environment. The underlying 

principles of an integrated enterprise-wide risk management 

system is that risk management forms part of all strategic, 

business process and operational activities.  

To continually improve the risk management methodology in the 

group, we reassessed the maturity of our risk management process 

and procedures with the assistance of Marsh Risk Consulting. 

During this process, we sought to improve our understanding of 

the group’s risk-bearing capacity, risk appetite and risk tolerance. 

These constraints are being embedded in all divisional and business 

unit decision making. The risk identification process has been 

refreshed across the group and management teams are looking at 

processes to ensure identified risks are actively managed to reduce 

the impact of uncertainty on organisational strategy.  

The group continues to use a hybrid risk management 

methodology which assesses risk from a top-down and 

bottom-up approach. Risk assessments are performed 

continuously at four levels in the group:

Enterprise Conducted bi-annually at enterprise level by 
the group’s executive management team, board 
of directors and sector advisers.

Operational Conducted every quarter by the management 
team of each functional level, business unit and 
operating entity.

Project Conducted monthly by the relevant project 
teams and at specific completion points with 
the broader project management team and 
divisional management teams.

Tender 
evaluation

As part of the tendering process, a detailed risk 
assessment is performed on the proposed project.

*Appointment at subsidiary level

Risks are evaluated in terms of probability of occurrence 

and impact on the business across several matrixes. The key 

risk areas facing the group can be summarised as (in no 

particular order):

 – Project selection and execution;

 – Project management and reporting;

 – Liquidity management; and

 – Entering new markets.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The internal audit function is a key element of the group’s 

assurance structure. The group continues to outsource its 

internal audit function to Grant Thornton, whose work is 

guided by the group’s risk register, management perceptions 

and previous audit findings. Internal audit activity is governed 

by a charter approved by the group’s audit and risk committee. 

Internal audit provides objective and independent assurance, 

via the group audit committee, to the management and board 

of Basil Read about risk management, control and governance 

processes and systems.

COMPLIANCE

Over recent years, the regulatory landscape has changed 

dramatically with no industry immune to increasing compliance 

pressures to improve governance structures and practices 

within the business. These pressures are placed on the group 

by both local and international regulators. At Basil Read we are 

committed to the highest standards of corporate governance 

and business ethics in all our activities, and this remains the 

cornerstone of our business. 

The group continues to operate in several countries across the 

African continent, and each has unique legal, financial and taxation 

regimes that need to be complied with. This has increased the 

burden of ensuring effective compliance programmes.  

Throughout this year, we have focused on reinforcing our 

commitment to being a responsible corporate citizen in all 

jurisdictions in which we operate. Accordingly, during the year, 

we introduced programmes to improve compliance with new 

legislation and codes of good governance. A group-wide 

anti-corruption policy has been developed and implemented 

Norman Milne – Commercial director*
Avi Naidoo – Head: group risk and compliance

SUMMARY

➙ Effective risk management is central to the group 
strategy of maintaining a competitive advantage and 
adapting to changes in the internal environment.

➙ At Basil Read we are committed to the highest  
standards of corporate governance and business  
ethics in all our activities.

➙ We are committed to being a responsible citizen 
in all jurisdictions in which we operate.

Risk management

Sustainability review continued



Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 99

Su
st

ai
n
ab

ili
ty

 r
ev

ie
w

to reinforce our zero-tolerance approach towards corruption 

in countries where we operate. This policy has been developed 

taking into account the requirements of the South African 

Preventing and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act as well as 

the United Kingdom’s Bribery Act. All senior staff were trained 

to ensure they understand the legislative requirements and 

their responsibility to ensure compliance.

The Companies Act 71 of 2008 became effective in 2011, and 

we have continued the process of aligning the various group 

companies’ constitutional documentation to the requirements 

of this Act. This process of drafting and obtaining approval from 

shareholders of the new memorandums of incorporation was 

completed before the 31 March 2013 deadline.  

The group continues to engage openly with the competition 

authorities to resolve any matters raised in its investigation of 

the construction sector.  

TIP-OFFS ANONYMOUS

Tip-offs Anonymous is an independently managed hotline 

facility designed to enable our employees and stakeholders to 

report possible incidents of fraud or corruption without fear 

of retribution. During 2012, we continued to create awareness 

of and trust in the Tip-offs Anonymous facility.

GOALS FOR 2013

 – Embedding risk methodology across the group. The 

executive management team will continue to focus on 

refining the risk-bearing capacity model to entrench decision 

making against the group’s risk tolerance and appetite. 

Once embedded, enterprise risk management systems will 

be supported by appropriate information technology;

 – Development of the legal framework will continue in 2013 

with a focus on cross-border jurisdictions. As we expand 

our footprint, it is critical that we maintain focus on 

regulatory compliance in these jurisdictions and support  

the in-country project teams;

 – Early project interventions will be a focus area for 2013. 

Early interventions that support project teams will enable 

them to better manage risks and deliver our projects 

successfully with greater certainty of outcome;

 – The business continuity process will be refined to consider 

ever-changing threats to our operations. A revised business 

continuity plan will be rolled out in 2013, ensuring all 

staff are aware of the appropriate responses to possible 

threats; and

 – In 2013, we will continue training our staff on high-risk; and 

legislation such as anti-bribery and corruption and 

competition law.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY GOVERNANCE 

Following the appointment of a group chief information officer 

(CIO) in the review period, a management and steering 

structure was established to effectively manage the group 

information technology (IT) infrastructure and information 

systems (IS) functions. Related management committees 

were formed across the group to manage the day-to-day 

maintenance and enhancement of IT infrastructure and 

systems. These committees report to the IT steering 

committee which in turn reports to the group audit and 

risk committee.

In the first half of the year, current information systems 

were assessed against the emerging requirements of different 

business units and an appropriate strategy developed. 

This highlights three primary areas of activity:

 – Short-term risk mitigation to further enhance the core 

business system;

 – Medium-term exercises to develop or enhance system 

capabilities in priority areas; and

 – A longer-term project to define and procure an integrated 

enterprise resource planning (ERP) system to more 

optimally support the wider needs of the group.

Other areas of focus during the review period include:

 – IT integration across the group;

 – Improved software asset management to ensure licensing 

compliance;

 – IT business continuity planning;

 – Review of procurement channels and strategies; 

 – Improvements to the group-wide area network (WAN); and

 – Enhanced system functionality in various key areas to 

support the business.
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As the concept of sustainability becomes entrenched in the 
wider Basil Read group, management is focusing on a more 
formalised stakeholder identification and engagement process. 
While we have long been committed to complete transparency 
for our shareholders, we are extending this to all stakeholders, 
acknowledging that their input and support are invaluable in 
our continued progress. 

As part of this process, during the year, we continued to hold 
open days and roadshows. These were extremely well received 
by all stakeholders. The open days involve members of our 
executive management team hosting a mixed group of 
stakeholders at a range of sites in our various divisions, giving 
them the opportunity to interact with Basil Read management 
and learn more about the group’s operations.

Basil Read’s business is to build the roads, bridges and power 
stations on which our economy and our society depend. 
Our impact, however, goes way beyond infrastructure. In this 
section we elaborate on the achievements, challenges and 
disappointments of our social and environmental performance 
for the review period. 

CONSTRUCTION SECTOR BBBEE SCORECARD 
As a sector, we believe the codes of good practice on 
broad-based black economic empowerment (BBBEE) for the 
construction sector (the construction charter) implemented in 
June 2009 are addressing inequalities in the sector. In time, this 
will unlock potential and enhance growth – for the ultimate 
benefit of the entire South African nation.

The charter is a framework for the construction sector to 
address broad-based transformation, enhance capacity and 
increase productivity to meet global best-practice standards. 
Its implementation will be monitored by the construction 
charter council, which will have executive capacity and will 
provide the necessary links to government institutions.

Basil Read is committed to the transformation of the South 
African construction industry to be more representative of 
the demographics of the country. We acknowledge that 
transformation is a journey and not something that can be 
achieved overnight. The critical areas are skills development, 
employment equity and management control and we are 
pleased with the improvement shown in these areas. 
The building blocks we put down today will form the path 
to a transformed company in future.

Q  Where and when were you born? 
  I was born in Queenstown in the Eastern Cape on  

the 15th of July 1982.

Q  Where did you spend your childhood?
  I spent my childhood in Queenstown with my mom 

and my late brother before we moved to Johannesburg 
in 1989. In 1992 we returned to the Eastern Cape. 

Q  Describe your best and worst childhood memory.
  My best childhood memory would be the day I was 

selected to play for Umthatha Bush Bucks football club 
in a premier league. My worst childhood memory was 
losing my brother at a young age, particularly as he was 
the one who had taught me how to play soccer.

Q  Where did you go to school?
  I did my lower level at Lonwabo Primary and my higher 

level at Mhlotshana High, both in Queenstown.

Q  What tertiary education do you have? How did you 
study?

  I did not have a chance to further my studies because 
I come from a poor background. I have since completed 
a three-month computer course. 

Q   Briefly describe your career to date.
  I have a promising career because I am surrounded by 

people who will go an extra mile to make sure I follow 
the right path in life.

Q  When did you start working at Basil Read? What 
was your job title?

  I started working at Basil Read in March 2009 as a 
plumber assistant, where I worked more with the 
maintenance team.

Q  What is your current job title?
  I am currently working in the mailroom and stationery 

department as a mailroom clerk.

Q  How has working at Basil Read helped with your 
career progression?

  Working for Basil Read was a dream come true to 
me in terms of personal growth within the company. 
To move from being a plumber to administration is 
amazing to me.

ZUKO MCITWATransformation case study

Sustainability review continued

Stakeholder engagement

SUMMARY

➙ Management is focusing on a more formalised 
stakeholder identification and engagement process.

➙ Basil Read is committed to the transformation of the 
South African construction industry to be more 
representative of the demographics of the country.
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HIGHLIGHTS

 – Implementing world-class human resources practices;

 – Considerable improvement in disabling-injury frequency  

rate (from 0,58 in 2009 to 0,31); and

 – Carbon footprint determined for group.

With the formation of a social, ethics and transformation 

committee, operating under a board-approved charter,  

Basil Read has taken an important step towards more fully 

integrating sustainability into its strategy and operations.  

The committee’s specific areas of responsibility include:

 – Social and economic development

• 10 UN Global Compact principles;

• OECD recommendations on corruption;

• Employment equity; 

• BBBEE;

• CSI

• Public health and safety

• Community development

• Consumer protection

• Ethical practices

• Employment equity

• Employee health and safety

• Employee development

• Transformation

• Economic development

• Prevention of corruption

• BBBEE

• Carbon emissions

• Environmental impact

• Global Reporting Initiative  

 standards

Marketplace Workplace

Natural 
environment

Social 
environment

 – Good corporate citizen

• Promoting equality, preventing discrimination and  

reducing corruption

• Contribution to community development

• Record of sponsorship, donations and charitable 

contributions;

 – Environmental, health and public safety;

 – Consumer relationships; and

 – Labour and employment

• International Labour Organisation protocol on decent 

work and working conditions

• Contributing towards employment relations and 

educational development.
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therefore continually sourcing and developing its skills base  

at all levels, with strong emphasis on enhancing operations 

capacity and capability.

In line with our values and responsibility towards our people, 

Basil Read is investing in its employees through a number of 

focused developmental and wellness initiatives.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

Basil Read is involved in a number of key employee 

development initiatives. Transformation targets are also being 

driven through these initiatives.

The Basil Read bursary scheme

A large component of our bursary scheme is directed at 

developing our technical and operational expertise in key 

disciplines: civil engineering, quantity surveying, building 

management and financial management. From a transformation 

perspective, Basil Read has achieved the demographic targets 

required by the BBBEE scorecard.

Basil Read has just celebrated its 60th year. From inception, 

our founder, Basil Read, established an organisational culture 

based on family values. This culture has been maintained 

throughout our history. Today the Basil Read brand is 

recognised and respected throughout the industry and the 

broader community as one rooted in a strong family-values 

identity, and evidenced by the number of employees with  

20 to 30 years of loyal service with the company. 

In line with our family-values traditions, Basil Read has retained 

critical skills and avoided staff reductions despite tough trading 

conditions in the construction industry which have forced 

many of our competitors to downsize their staff complements. 

Construction remains a very people-intensive industry and, as 

such, a major employer in the South African economy. Given 

the stated government expenditure in the national budget of 

February 2013 to improve infrastructure, our industry should 

continue to contribute significantly to creating employment 

and supporting the GDP growth of our country. Basil Read is 

The Basil Read bursary scheme

Discipline

Number of

candidates Male Female

Civil engineering 16 10 6

Chemical engineering 2 0 2

Quantity surveying 8 5 3

Industrial engineering 1 1 0

Mechanical engineering 2 2 0

Geology 1 0 1

Human resources 2 2 0

Accounting 1 0 1

Construction management 4 3 1

Housing and development 1 1 0

Mechanical engineering 1 1 0

Structural engineering 1 1 0

Total 40 26 14

Guenther Hellhoff – Executive director: Human resources*

Bernard Johnson – Group remuneration and services manager

*Appointment at subsidiary level

SUMMARY

➙ The Basil Read brand is recognised and respected 
throughout the industry and the broader community as 
one rooted in a strong family-values identity.

➙ Basil Read is investing in its employees through a number 
of focused developmental and wellness initiatives.

➙ Transformation remains a priority on the Basil Read 
strategic agenda.

Sustainability review continued

Our people 
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Learnerships

Learnerships play a pivotal role in strengthening our 

operational capability. Improving production and achieving 

operational excellence is a core strategic driver.

Foreman training scheme

Basil Read’s flagship foreman development programme meets 

all the standards required by the Construction SETA (CETA). 

In addition, the programme has been extensively customised 

by Basil Read management, working with an accredited 

external service provider, to ensure that our foremen are 

some of the best developed in the industry, and provide a solid 

platform for achieving construction excellence. 

Our foreman training scheme draws on unemployed people 

from our communities as well as existing employees. From our 

pool of 38 foremen learners, 20 have recently graduated.

These graduates will now be monitored and re-assessed, and 

further programmes introduced to accelerate their ongoing 

development.

Health and safety

The nature of construction and mining carries inherent risk. 

Basil Read strives to continually enhance safe working 

practices to minimise the risk of injury to our employees. 

Accordingly, we initiated a health and safety learnership 

(NQF 3 level) in mid-2011, a 30-month programme with the 

first graduation date in December 2013. Currently eight 

learners are enrolled in the programme to provide more 

health and safety practitioners for our operations. In support 

of transformation, the full complement of students was drawn 

from historically disadvantaged employee groups. 

Managerial learnerships 

After selecting two groups of site agents and general foremen 

(some of whom do not yet have adequate formal qualifications 

and some with formal qualifications, ie NQF 4), we are 

developing the incumbents towards an NQF level 5 managerial 

qualification. This will give these employees the opportunity to 

secure appropriate qualifications for future promotion and 

expand their career paths.

Apprenticeships and learnerships

No. Level Course description PDI male PDI female White male Total

1 NQF3 Health & Safety Learnership 7 1 0 8

2 NQF3 Carpenter Apprenticeship 10 3 1 14

3 NQF4 Foreman Development – Group 1 10 3 2 15

4 NQF4 Foreman Development – Group 2 7 0 6 13

5 NQF4 Foreman Development – Group 3 6 3 2 11

6 NQF4 Supervision of Construction Processes 6 0 3 9

7 NQF5 Management Construction Processes 2 0 7 9

Total 48 10 21 79
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In line with the requirement to continually uplift skills, Basil 

Read provides opportunities for people working in a broad 

range of trades, but who lack formal qualifications, to enrol in 

formal apprenticeships as welders, electricians or diesel 

mechanics, among others.

Operator certification 

In line with legal requirements, Basil Read continues to invest 

heavily in ensuring that all our plant and equipment operators 

are properly certified.

Study grants

Basil Read encourages its employees to capitalise on 

continuous professional development opportunities. During 

the year, 20 study grants were provided to employees, eight of 

these to employees from historically disadvantaged groups.

CASE STUDY: RAISING THE BAR

After completing one of the most rigorous learnership programmes in 

the South African construction industry, Basil Read’s first graduates  

from the three-year foreman development programme are taking their 

place in the construction sector. 

Basil Read began the supervision of construction processes learnership 

(foreman development programme) in January 2010 with the aim of building 

a strong pipeline of foremen for the future. Understanding clearly the pitfalls 

of a lack of skilled artisans on site, we focused on training unemployed 

individuals and young students from technical schools and FET colleges. 

SETTING THE STANDARD

While the CETA (construction education and training authority) NQF 4 

national certificate: supervision of construction processes learnership is 

well-known in the construction sector today, there is currently no other 

company that offers the same level of training as Basil Read does. 

We have tailored the NQF 4 to include aspects from all four facets of the construction division, including civil, roads, building and mining, and 

added basic skills such as bricklaying, plastering, formwork reinforcing, concreting, scaffolding, V drains, curbing, gabions, pipe laying, stone pitching 

and precast elements.

In addition, students also attended training courses at Wiehahn Formwork and Form-Scaff, and visited the factories of Rocla, Steeledale 

Reinforcing, Corobrik and Afrisam. To round off this extensive programme, students received training on the Basil Read SHEQ policy as well as 

disciplinary policies and procedures. 

We believe this intensive training programme has set Basil Read apart from others in the sector because you cannot lead a team if you do not 

have first-hand experience and a thorough understanding of the task required.

ABET programmes

Our adult basic education and training (ABET) programmes 

are ongoing and essentially focused on community 

development initiatives in areas where we undertake 

construction and mining projects. 

APPRENTICESHIPS

Basil Read initiated a carpenter apprenticeship scheme in 2010 

for the Kusile project, with 14 apprentices enrolled. The scheme 

will conclude at the end of 2013 when apprentices take their 

trade tests. In line with transformation targets, 13 of the 14 

apprentices are from historically disadvantaged employee groups.

Sustainability review continued

Our people
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CASE STUDY: RAISING THE BAR

SELECTION CRITERIA

Passing the programme was challenging, with a minimum mark of 80% required. But the challenges began at the selection phase, when we 

made it clear we were looking for high-quality candidates. After an overwhelming response from eager applicants, 45 potential candidates 

with a minimum entry level of grade 12 with maths and English were invited to the next level, which involved comprehensive 

assessments. From that, 20 students were invited for one-on-one interviews and finally the top 16 candidates went on to become the 

first group on the Basil Read foreman development programme. While the selection criteria may seem stringent, we believe our approach 

has been effective, with a 0% dropout rate so far. 

A valuable learning experience for all

At the end of 2012, these 16 men and women were fully qualified and, thanks to the unit standards Basil Read added to the standard NQF 4, 

already well-equipped to participate in the construction sector. 

For Basil Read, lessons learned from the inaugural intake will be applied to future intakes. 

A word from the learners

“Through the various components of this programme, I have gained valuable knowledge. It has also been challenging, not just on a mental and 

physical side, but on a personal level. It has helped me foster a new sense of independence and responsibility. At the same time, it has been 

highly rewarding and it’s true that hard work and perseverance pays and can help you create opportunities.” 

Marc Plumridge 

Currently working with Basil Read Roads.

“In 2010 I was interviewed among hundreds of other young people. The panel initially saw someone who may be too feminine and I had to 

convince them that women also have a critical role to play in what has traditionally been seen as a man’s world. Through this experience, I have 

gained a great deal of knowledge on how to work according to drawings and specifications. I have also gained a lot of knowledge about 

various construction materials, plant and equipment, quality assurance, environment, the importance of good planning, production and, most 

importantly, health and safety.”

Nomthandazo Bernice Langa

Currently working with Basil Read Civils. 

“Fresh out of college, I thought I knew it all when it came to construction, but thanks to this programme, I soon realised there was still much 

to be learned. I believe Basil Read helped transform my thinking, equipped me with the necessary skills and groomed me in such a way that 

I began to see construction and life in a whole new way.”

Collen Thabo Skosana

Currently working with Basil Read Civils.
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The empowerment status of key subsidiaries is externally 

verified each year. Basil Read (Pty) Ltd is now a level 2 

value-added (125%) contributor, well placed to participate in 

large contracts for major parastatals and state-owned entities. 

We understand that sustainable broad-based black economic 

empowerment is a journey. While the group scores well in 

some areas – preferential procurement, enterprise and 

socio-economic development – we face industry-wide 

challenges in ownership, management control, employment 

equity and skills development. These are the cornerstones of 

transformation in the local construction industry. We trust that 

the construction charter will support an industry-wide effort 

to accelerate this process.

TRANSFORMATION 

Transformation remains a priority on the Basil Read strategic 

agenda. Through our transformation agenda, we are addressing 

three focus areas: employment equity; BBBEE targets; and 

enterprise development.

Employment equity – we are actively addressing targets 

through our recruitment, promotions, and training and 

development practices.

Employment equity scorecard of Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Occupational levels Male Female
Foreign 

nationals

A C I W A C I W Male Female Total

Top management 3 – 3 11 – – – – – – 17

Senior management 6 – 2 22 2 – – 1 – – 33

Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management 21 6 10 111 9 – 2 11 10 – 180

Skilled technical and academically qualified 
workers, junior management, supervisors, 
foremen and superintendents 890 23 6 168 54 7 4 67 15 1 1 235

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 500 2 7 27 23 2 2 6 – – 569

Unskilled and defined decision making 537 1 – – 96 – – – 2 – 636

Total permanent 1 957 32 28 339 184 9 8 85 27 1 2 670

Temporary employees – – – – – – – – – – –

Total 1 957 32 28 339 184 9 8 85 27 1 2 670

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

Basil Read continues to enjoy sound labour relations. During 

the year, no significant industrial actions occurred that were 

directed at the company. Basil Read is involved in various 

mega-projects such as Kusile and Medupi for Eskom as well as 

a pipeline project in Limpopo province, the Trans-Caledon 

Tunnel Authority (TCTA). Of these three mega-projects, only 

Medupi has experienced labour unrest which was essentially 

aimed at the client and not contractors.

BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT AND 

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

Basil Read fully supports the objectives of South Africa’s 

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003 

and its associated codes of good practice. Since 2009, the 

group has reported against the statutory construction industry 

scorecard, which shows steady progress in most areas.

Basil Read became the first truly black-owned construction 

company in South Africa in 2005, when over 50% of the company 

was acquired by the Amabubesi Investments and Metallon 

consortium. Although Metallon has since sold its stake, following 

the transaction with SIOC Community Development Trust 

detailed by the chairman, the latest analysis shows that over 34% 

of the group is held by black shareholders.

Sustainability review continued

Our people
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EMPLOYEE WELLNESS

In line with our values and responsibility to our employees,  

Basil Read is focusing on a number of wellness initiatives. 

A dedicated manager will be appointed to drive these initiatives.

Basil Read provides various counselling services for employees 

who may be experiencing personal difficulties.

We also promote wellness day initiatives where professional 

healthcare service providers offer HIV testing, assessments for 

vital health indicators and flu vaccinations to our employees.

Costs are carried by the company.

We provide on-site paramedic and nursing staff on our 

St Helena project.

We have a fully equipped gym facility at our Basil Read Campus 

and our canteen encourages healthy eating plans for staff.

ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT

Through our enterprise development programmes, Basil Read 

is helping developing contractors to build sustainable 

businesses. This assistance takes two forms: providing 

resources so that developing contractors are able to compete 

in the market; and coaching, guiding and mentoring developing 

contractors and their employees. 

Beneficiaries of our enterprise development programmes currently include:

Beneficiary 

Black

 ownership

Black 

women

 ownership

BBBEE

 recognition

 level

BR-Tsima Construction 85% 13,09% Level 1

Triple E Construction 100% 50% Level 3

Dipcivils 58,23% 2,33% Level 4

Makali Plant and Construction 65% 15% Level 1

Makgetsi Construction Enterprise 100% 60% Level 3

Anquet Construction Solutions 100% 0% Level 1

Transformation case study JOSEPH MAKOTA

Q Where were you born?  
 Stirtonville in Boksburg.
 

Q Where did you spend your childhood? 
 Boksburg.

Q Briefly describe your career to date.
 I joined Basil Read on 1 March 1971 as a goods 

receiving and dispatch clerk in the workshop buying 
department. Six months later I was transferred to 
the radio room, where my responsibilities included 
operating the radio to communicate with our sites, 
time-keeping and wages preparations for hourly-paid 
employees and creditors accounts processing.

 In 1975 I was transferred to the head office 
creditors department. In 1994, I was transferred to 
the Maseru Bridge project in Lesotho. Later that year 
I returned to the creditors department at head 
office, which is where I continue to work.

 During my time in the procurement department, 
I had the privilege of working for Mr Basil Read 
himself. In those days, if a contract was experiencing 
difficulties, Mr Read would personally come to check 
that the proper company procurement procedures 
had been followed, keeping us all on our toes. 



108 Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

Organisation (ISO) and relevant SHE legislation, ie 

Occupational Health and Safety Act, Mine Health and Safety 

Act, National Environmental Management Act, etc.

The implementation of the annual SHERQ improvement 

plan for the group is closely monitored through monthly 

feedback to the chief executive officer and senior executives. 

Any identified shortcomings are immediately addressed 

and incorporated as goals for continual improvement.

SAFETY

We believe all workplace injuries and illnesses are preventable. 

This is driven by:

 – An uncompromising commitment to zero harm;

 – Active involvement of all stakeholders;

 – Continuously improving our systems, procedures  

and standards;

 – Applying industry best practice; and

 – Continuously training and developing our people on risk 

and safety awareness.

We are on track to our objective of reducing the DIFR 

(disabling-injury frequency rate including lost-time injuries, 

reportable injuries and fatalities) to 0,0. We measure progress 

towards this objective by monitoring data for our own 

employees and our subcontractors. At year-end, the rate for 

the construction division was 0,21 (2011: 0,40), with the group 

ending at 0,31. Commendably, the civils division and plant 

department ended the year without any lost-time injuries, 

resulting in a rate of zero. 

For the year, Basil Read (Pty) Ltd worked 4 856 378 hours 

without a lost-time injury, which includes subcontractors. 

Basil Read Mining/Blasting & Excavating achieved 1 604 731 hours 

without a lost-time injury.

GOVERNANCE

In keeping with international best practice, Basil Read’s risk, 

safety, health, environmental and quality practices are 

incorporated into a group SHERQ division. This ensures a 

risk-driven approach to safety, health and environmental 

practices on project sites and incorporating all these activities 

into the quality management system to consistently maintain 

quality standards.

The SHERQ approach supports the governance requirements 

of guidelines such as King III and the Companies Act 71 of 

2008 and forms the basis of the integrated certification of the 

Basil Read group under the international ISO 9001, ISO 14001 

and OHSAS 18000 standards. Both project and operational 

risk are managed according to the ISO 31000 guideline on risk, 

ensuring Basil Read remains at the forefront of managing risk 

– both on an enterprise level and within projects for 

our clients.

Three-yearly certification audits were carried out in 2012, 

resulting in Basil Read retaining its NQA certification in 

ISO 9001, OHSAS 18001 and ISO 14001. During the year, 

Roadcrete Africa achieved ISO 9001 certification and stage 

one of the OHSAS 18001 audit. Stage two is scheduled for 

March 2013. SprayPave will apply for OHSAS 18001 and 

ISO 9001 certification in 2013. Basil Read Mining/Blasting & 

Excavating successfully passed their first surveillance 

assessment by PricewaterhouseCoopers in terms of ISO 9001 

and OHSAS 18001 in June 2012, with a second surveillance 

assessment planned for May 2013.

The group applies a ‘do it right first time' principle on every 

project, with the SHERQ system functioning as the procedural 

tool during project management. As such, Basil Read fully 

complies with the requirements of the International Standards 

Billy Becker – Director: Group SHERQ*

Johan Booysen – Group health and safety manager

*Appointment at subsidiary level

SUMMARY

➙ Basil Read's safety, health, environment, risk and quality 
practices are incorporated into a group SHERQ division.

➙ Our management system provides the framework for 
integrating hazard identification, risk analysis and risk 
management into all our activities.

➙ Basil Read maintains and continually improves its quality 
assurance and quality control systems to ensure the 
delivery of a quality product to clients.

Sustainability review continued

Safety and health
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Regrettably, we had one fatality in 2012 when a subcontractor’s 

employee died while working on the Golden Highway roads 

project. After any incident, we conduct an in-depth 

investigation to determine the root cause and ensure the 

conclusions/lessons learned are distributed across the group 

to prevent similar events from recurring.

Our management system provides the framework for 

integrating hazard identification, risk analysis and risk 

management into all our activities. This, together with 

management commitment, contributes to reaching our goals. 

We have introduced the INX SHEQ management system to 

standardise procedures across the group. This enables 

management to view performance and progress by displaying 

real-time data. The system facilitates cross-pollination of data 

and sharing lessons learned, ensuring a proactive approach to 

managing safety and health.

During 2012, Basil Read received numerous awards for our 

health and safety performance:

 – Medupi civils site was acknowledged by Eskom for achieving 

1 million LTI-free hours;

 – Trompsburg Hospital site received first place in the Master 

Builders Association Free State competition for the second 

consecutive year and is aiming for a hat-trick in 2013; and 

 – Kusile: This Basil Read Buildings joint venture with Stefanutti 

Stocks achieved second place in the Gauteng regional 

competition of the President’s Cup award. 

Commendable safety performances during the year included:

 – 1 million LTI-free hours was achieved at Kusile and 

Natalspruit Hospital;

 – Zimplats: We completed the project without a single LTI, 

resulting in 1,3 million LTI-free hours;

 – Grootegeluk: We completed the project in 850 days without 

an LTI;

 – Colesberg: We have worked over 1 million hours LTI free; 

and

 – Basil Read Mining/Blasting & Excavating: B&E’s Venetia 

operation reached 1 282 620 LTI-free hours in July 2012 

(since the start of project in 2008), while the Jwaneng 

project achieved 1 million LTI-free hours in May 2012. The 

mining division as a whole achieved 2,5 million LTI-free 

hours in July 2012.

To foster awareness, we run monthly poster campaigns across 

the group. Our behaviour-based safety programme is on track, 

with the first site award presented early in 2013. This system 

has helped change the attitude of employees and supervisors 

to safety, creating a culture in Basil Read where employees 

look out for each other. This initiative was responsible for the 

birth of the group slogan “because we care’’. It was taken a 

step further during the review period when Basil Read Mining 

launched an awareness campaign using industrial theatre to 

promote the importance of safety entitled “zero harm – 

because we care’’. The slogan is branded on personal 

protective equipment, in email signatures and on all internal 

correspondence. This ongoing visibility entrenches both the 

importance of the message and management’s commitment to 

the well being of all employees.

Finding suitably qualified safety personnel with adequate 

experience and knowledge is an ongoing challenge. Accordingly, 

the SHEQ and training departments introduced a safety officer 

development programme in 2010. As this runs over three 

years, the first graduates will come through the programme in 

2013, better equipped with both technical and practical skills 

to perform in their work areas.
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Basil Read management use this dashboard information to determine whether the group is managing safety effectively. The information is presented at executive 
management meetings to establish future objectives and strategies to ensure a safe working environment for all employees. The group has seen a decrease in the 
all injury frequency rate (AIFR) as well as the disabling injury frequency rate (DIFR), due to an increased awareness of safety issues as well as more effective 
implementation of control measures.

Safety and health

Sustainability review continued



Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 111

Su
st

ai
n
ab

ili
ty

 r
ev

ie
w

CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONAL DASHBOARD

Near misses and property damages

 Near misses – 66
 Property damages – 75

2012 injury time analysis year to date

 00:00-04:00 – 0%
 04:00-08:00 – 1,16%
 08:00-12:00 – 88,44%
 12:00-16:00 – 9,25%
 16:00-20:00 – 1,16%
 20:00-00:00 – 0%

Root cause analysis rolling 12 months

 Activity type – 9%
 Failed defences – 6%
 Individual/Team actions – 14%
 Lack of control – 14%
 Organisational factor types – 19%
 Other – 4%
 Quality – 3%
 Sub-standard act – 11%
 Sub-standard condition – 3%
 Task/Environmental conditions – 15%
 Other – <2%

MINING OPERATIONAL DASHBOARD

Near misses and property damages

 Near misses – 29
 Property damages – 218

2012 injury time analysis year to date

 00:00-04:00 – 10,0%
 04:00-08:00 – 12,5%
 08:00-12:00 – 35,00%
 12:00-16:00 – 20,00%
 16:00-20:00 – 12,50%
 20:00-00:00 – 10,0%

Root cause analysis rolling 12 months

 Individual/Team actions – 34%
 Other – 37%
 Quality – 3%
 Sub-standard condition – 16%
 Task/Environmental conditions – 9%
 Other –<2%
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counselling sessions and periodic awareness campaigns. 

The response has been extremely positive and we will 

consider rolling this out more widely. 

During the year, 175 employees were declared temporarily 

unfit for duty, eight permanently unfit for duty, 218 fit with 

specific restrictions and 31 tested positive for cannabis. 

This equates to 11% of all medicals performed during  

the year.

QUALITY

Basil Read maintains and continually improves its quality 

assurance and quality control systems to ensure the delivery 

of a quality product to clients. The performance of the 

management system is evaluated during group audits and 

results are presented to senior management during regular 

management review meetings.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH

Basil Read regards the health of its employees just as 

important as their safety. During 2012, we conducted  

584 pre-employment, 2 221 periodical and 919 exit  

medical examinations. 

We have conducted hygiene surveys and effectively addressed 

noted opportunities for improvement. These reports were 

used by our occupational health practitioner to incorporate 

health hazards to which employees were likely to be exposed 

into the medical screening process. 

Basil Read, in common with the rest of the construction 

industry, continues to face the challenge of employees using 

cannabis and/or habit-forming drugs. On one of our sites we 

established a trial project, in conjunction with the local health 

department and labour departments, offering voluntary 

Q  When did you start working at Basil Read? What 
was your job title?

 I joined Basil Read on 25 July 2011 as an 
administrator for Basil Read Energy.

Q What is your current job title?
 Business development manager, Basil Read Energy.

Q  How has working at Basil Read helped with your 
career progression?

 My business acumen has increased exponentially due 
to the motivation and lessons from extraordinary 
mentors within the Basil Read group. I have also 
been able to focus on using all of my strengths 
productively and managing my weaknesses 
constructively. 

Q Where and when were you born? 
 In exile in Harare, Zimbabwe, 23 March 1987.

Q Where did you spend your childhood? 
 In Pretoria.

Q What tertiary education do you have? 

 BCom (Marketing) from the University of the 
Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.

Q Briefly describe your career to date.
 My career started off as a pension funds 

administrator at Alexander Forbes where I stayed for 
two years after which I moved into a junior strategy 
role in the consulting division. I am currently a 
business development manager for Basil Read 
Energy with some ad hoc marketing responsibilities.

NQOBILE SIMELANETransformation case study

Safety and health

Sustainability review continued
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Transformation case study PERITTY NGOMANE

Q Where and when were you born?
 In a small village called Islington at Bushbuckridge 

(Mpumalanga) on 24 April 1977.

Q Where did you spend your childhood?

 Islington at Bushbuckridge (Mpumalanga)

Q Describe your best and worst childhood memory.

 My best

 – Fetching wood and water after school

 – Making an open fire outside our two-room house

 – Occasionally watching my grandfather’s goats

 –  Sitting around the fire late at night, listening to my 

granny’s stories or playing

 –  Reciting the scripture at church in front of 

everyone

 My worst

 –  Waking up at 4am to plough or grind mealie meal 

before going to school

 –  Going to school without shoes as we could not 

afford them; I would make shoes by using a box 

and some rope to avoid the heat or thorns

 –  My mother having to use money lenders to pay 

for my tertiary education

 –  Wearing pyjamas to school that had been given to 

me as I did not have decent clothes to wear

Q Where did you go to school?

 –  Primary school – Khokhovela

 –  High school – Mhlangane

 –  Tertiary – Pretoria College, Varsity College and 

Unisa

Q What tertiary education do you have? How did you study?

 –  Certificate in food and hospitality, funded through 

a loan that my single mother arranged

 –  Bookkeeping, that I was unable to complete due to 

finances

Q Briefly describe your career to date.

 –  I worked as a catering manager and bookkeeper at 

Compass Group. I later worked as a bookkeeper 

at SA Mint Coin World

Q When did you start working at Basil Read? What was your 

job title?

 –  I started on 10 August 2011 as a mailroom and 

stationery supervisor

Q What is your current job title?

 –  Data capturer in the international finance 

department

Q How has working at Basil Read helped with your career 

progression?

 –  I am gaining a lot of wisdom and knowledge that is 

helping me to improve and grow
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The building has been designed to be more energy efficient 

than standard commercial office buildings by using:

 – A high ratio of external glazing to reduce dependency on 

artificial light;

 – Large overhangs to shade glazing as far as possible;

 – Motion-operated light sensors; and

 – Energy-efficient light fittings.

Other examples of incorporating a greener lifestyle in our 

business include Basil Read’s Rolling Hills Estate where design 

is coordinated with the environment and rocky outcrops, 

unique wetlands and biodiversity are well protected. The use of 

energy and water is aimed at long-term sustainability. An 

eco-village within the estate is planned where homes will be 

self-sufficient from electricity grids and sanitation works. This 

will assist the estate in minimising its carbon footprint.

KEY ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

Through the principle of continuous improvement, the group 

has proactively updated its environmental checklist, based on 

ISO 14001, ISO 14064:1 and current environmental legislation. 

This ensures alignment between ISO requirements, legislation 

and the client. These are supplemented with our own stringent 

framework to ensure the best possible environmental 

practices are implemented on sites.

While there has been ongoing improvement in reporting 

environmental KPIs, the group continues to provide training  

to improve accuracy and completeness in reporting.

An environmental incident process is in place to minimise 

incidents and, where they do occur, to manage them more 

effectively. Training and awareness continue to address this issue.

ENVIRONMENTAL

Environmental consideration has become an integral part of any 

business. In understanding the impacts of its construction 

activities, Basil Read is committed to protecting and sustaining 

the environment. The group’s SHERQ policy stipulates 

conducting our business in an environmentally friendly and 

sustainable manner, while our SHERQ system is a tool to 

measure our environmental performance against our key 

performance indicators (KPIs). The group’s environmental 

objectives are to:

 – Prevent pollution;

 – Comply with relevant environmental legislation and other 

requirements; and

 – Continuously improve against our KPIs to ensure an 

effective management system.

HIGHLIGHTS

 – Basil Read retained its ISO 14001 certification in 2012;

 – Group carbon footprint 2012 determined; and

 – Group remains an active part of the Green Building Council 

of South Africa.

The group’s commitment to green building extends to the 

intelligent design of the Basil Read Campus, which houses all 

construction and mining staff and subsidiary companies at the 

head office in Boksburg. 

The campus buildings are positioned on a north-south orientation 

to maximise the use of natural light and for optimum efficiency 

when options such as solar power are implemented. All buildings 

use solar heaters for hot-water supply. Glazing (high-performance 

double glazing) has been limited to the eastern and western 

façades to minimise solar heat gain into the building, reducing the 

workload on the air-conditioning system.

Paulesa Rametse – Group environmental manager

SUMMARY

➙ Basil Read is committed to protecting and sustaining  
the environment.

➙ The group remains an active part of the Green Building 
Council of South Africa.

➙ ISO requirements and legislation supplement Basil Read's 
stringent framework to ensure the best-possible 
environmental practices are implemented on sites.

Environmental

Sustainability review continued
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Carbon emissions

Carbon emissions were calculated according to ISO 14064:1, as 

well as the Greenhouse Gas Protocol guidelines. This covered 

only activities over which Basil Read has control. By applying 

these principles, the greenhouse gas (GHG) inventory is a fair 

representation of the company’s GHG emissions.

In line with international best practice, data was collected on direct 

emissions (scope 1), indirect emissions (scope 2) and other 

indirect emissions (scope 3). Direct emissions are those from 

sources owned or controlled by the company. An indirect emission 

is the result of the company’s activities, but occurs at sources 

owned or controlled by another company. While the boundaries  

of scope 1 and 2 emissions are clearly defined, scope 3 presents 

more of a challenge. This additional voluntary disclosure requires 

surveying an organisation’s entire supply chain, as well as those of 

its suppliers. Basil Read elected to include scope 3 emissions in its 

carbon footprint in the interest of transparent reporting. 

Our carbon footprint quantifies and reports emissions 

associated with the following activities:

 – Scope 1: fossil fuel consumption – diesel and petrol;

 – Scope 2: use of national grid electricity; and

 – Scope 3: business travel (road and air).

CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONAL DASHBOARD

Temporary operations – scope 1 and 2

 2012 tonnes CO
2
-e  2011 tonnes CO

2
-e

Basil Read 
Plant

SprayPave

Roadcrete

Roads

Civils

Buildings

Mining

6 740
1 106

162

9 069

31 185

3 623

3 264

5 599

634

1 016

1 119

36 136

6 602

14 055

Permanent operations – scope 1 and 2

 2012 tonnes CO
2
-e  2011 tonnes CO

2
-e

TWP Projects

Head office

1 800
1 944

1 434
30 519

Emission sources – scope 1 and 2

 Diesel – 75%
 Petrol – 0%
 Electricity – 25%

All emissions – scope 1, 2 and 3

 Scope 1 – 72%
 Scope 2 – 24%
 Scope 3 – 4%

The 2012 carbon footprint has decreased to 96 584 tonnes CO
2
-e 

from 222 092 tonnes in 2011, primarily due to reduced travel.

2011 2012

Emission intensity

Employee intensity 23,55 14,77

Financial intensity 0,036 0,014
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WATER

Environmentalists believe the next war is going to be over 

water. More importantly, South Africa is facing a water crisis 

now. Water problems can have a severe impact on business 

and be even worse in a community’s social and economic life.

Basil Read monitors its water consumption at operations. 

The group used 300 324kl of water for activities in 2012. 

We continue to monitor our consumption to manage this 

better, and conserve it in the best possible way.

To save water, toilets are fitted with dual-flush systems; taps 

are electronically operated to supply required amounts only. 

Rainwater from the roof and groundwater from the subsoil 

drainage system is collected in storage tanks in the basement 

and used for irrigation, alleviating pressure on the municipal 

water supply. 

WASTE

Basil Read has a specific plan to ensure waste management is 

properly implemented. We continue to separate our waste to 

comply with legislative requirements, and to reduce our impact 

on the environment.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Global climate change (caused by GHG) has been identified as 

a risk where detrimental weather and temperature extremes 

will have a direct effect on our construction operations, 

rendering sites unworkable (flood events) and affecting the 

health and safety of our workforce. Our operations in the civil, 

roads and buildings divisions particularly are highly vulnerable 

to short- and long-term effects of climate change.

The group has identified this risk, and monitoring our carbon 

emissions is the first step to reach our carbon emission 

reduction target. Other risks include high electricity costs, 

high water bill, and carbon taxes.

LOOKING AHEAD

Across the SHERQ function, several initiatives are under way, 

including: 

 – Incorporate sustainability into the company’s strategy.

 – Continue with environmental training and awareness 

programmes to stay abreast of best practices in the industry 

and legislation.

 – Protect the environment to the best of our ability.

Sustainability review continued

Environmental
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Q  Where and when were you born?
 I was born in Soweto on 24 March 1968.

Q Where did you spend your childhood? 

 In a boarding school in Swaziland.

Q Where did you go to school? 
  Lomahasha Central and Entfonjeni High School in Swaziland.

Q What tertiary education do you have? How did you study? 
  Housing policy development and management programme with 

Wits Business School (part time), environmental management and 
environmental law with Northwest University, Potchefstroom 
Campus (part time).

Q Briefly describe your career to date. 
  I was self-employed for a long time, running a brick manufacturing 

plant, a hairdressing salon and a communication tower installation 
company.

Q  When did you start working at Basil Read? What was your job 
title? 

 I  joined Basil Read in 2007 as an assistant community liaison officer 
in Cosmo City.

Q What is your current job title? 

  I am the environmental manager for Basil Read Developments and 
I assist with stakeholder relations as well.

Q  How has working at Basil Read helped with your career 
progression? 

  I have been exposed to new career and study opportunities. Before 
joining Basil Read I didn’t know anything about the importance of 
environmental management and today I am the environmental 
champion for the developments division.

Transformation case study

SYLVIA NDLOVU

Transformation case study

STANLEY MAHLALELA

Q Where and when were you born?
  I was born in Tembisa on  

14 October 1982.

Q Where did you spend your childhood?
 I spent my childhood in Tembisa.

Q Describe your best and worst childhood memory.

 Best – the love, warmth and protection that I got from my parents.

 Worst – the poverty we experienced.

Q Where did you go to school?

 Primary education – Phuthumani Primary School.

 Secondary education – Tersia King Learning Academy.

Q What tertiary education do you have? How did you study?

 I have a diploma in business information technology, a three-year 
diploma that my grandfather paid for, for which I am forever 
grateful.

 I am now studying purchasing and supply management which I am 
grateful that Basil Read is paying for.

Q Briefly describe your career to date.

 After graduating I worked for a company called Skynet Worldwide 
Express as a data capturer and was then promoted to an in-house 
clerk. I then worked in the international department at Speed 
Services Couriers after which I luckily found a job at Basil Read.

Q  When did you start working at Basil Read? What was your 
job title?

 I started working for Basil Read in July 2008 as a mailroom clerk.

Q What is your current job title?

 IT office administrator.

Q  How has working at Basil Read helped with your career progression?

 I have gained a lot of experience at Basil Read, I enjoyed working in 
the mailroom and stationery department because I learned how to 
multitask and deal with pressure. Humble beginnings make a person 
strong; they make you who you are, because you will always know 
where you came from and where you are going. I’m glad that I 
moved into the IT department because I studied IT so it will help 
me to gain experience in my career. I would love the opportunity 
to move into the procurement department to gain additional 
exposure. My ultimate goal is to be the one of the best buyers that 
Basil Read has ever had.
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For Basil Read, corporate social investment is more than just 

a responsible business practice – it is an investment in the 

future. The group has a long history of aligning itself with 

meaningful and sustainable programmes that leave an enduring 

legacy, and we are committed to forming significant and lasting 

partnerships with beneficiaries. With ongoing support aligned 

to our core business objectives, Basil Read aims to make a 

difference in the lives of the communities in which it operates.

We believe that for corporate social investment (CSI)  

to be truly effective in making a lasting and meaningful 

difference to the lives of underprivileged people and to 

CASE STUDY: METROWIND IS SERIOUS ABOUT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

Following the successful installation and commissioning of solar-powered 

area lighting in the community of Fitches Corner on Mandela Day in 

2012, the Metrowind Van Stadens wind farm helped to improve the lives 

of the communities of Shamrock and Witteklip by installing similar 

solar-powered area lighting. The lights were commissioned in  

December 2012, transforming conditions for local residents just in time 

for Christmas. 

Witteklip is metres away from a main road, and street lighting will do 

much to reduce the risk of pedestrian accidents and crime. In Shamrock, 

some residents have lived for 15 years without any form of  

external lighting.

The lighting was funded by Basil Read Matomo, which is responsible for 

the engineering, procurement and construction of the Metrowind Van 

Stadens wind farm.  

In addition, Basil Read Matomo invested over R400 000 to develop black-owned small and medium business enterprises in the Nelson 

Mandela Bay Metro during the year. These construction and engineering enterprises will continue to receive financial support, as well as 

mentorship and professional advice to develop their businesses.

We believe small and medium enterprises are the incubators of job creation in South Africa. The growth of the renewable energy industry in 

the Eastern Cape, particularly the wind farms being developed in and around the Nelson Mandela Bay Municipality, are a catalyst for economic 

growth in one of the most impoverished provinces in the country. We are committed to contributing to the growth and development of 

communities and businesses in this region and hope to make a meaningful and sustainable difference over time. 

the overall economic wellbeing of the country, it needs 

to be well-managed and underpinned by the principle 

of sustainability.

During the year, Basil Read contributed R3,25 million to 

selected projects. The bulk of this was invested in a school 

for the Jozini community in KwaZulu-Natal. The balance was 

spread among NGOs focused on enterprise development, 

education, health and sport. Many employees contribute in 

their personal capacity by volunteering time, cash donations 

or participating in individual fundraising efforts. 

SUMMARY

➙ With ongoing support aligned to our core business 
objectives, Basil Read aims to make a difference in  
the lives of the communities in which it operates.

➙ Many employees contribute in their personal capacity  
by volunteering time, cash donations or participating  
in individual fundraising efforts.

Corporate social investment

Sustainability review continued
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HEALTH 

During the year, the group supported health-related initiatives, 

including:

 – CHOC (children’s haematology oncology clinics) provides 

direct practical help to children with cancer, from diagnosis 

stage: the group sponsored an employee who completed  

the CHOC Cows cycling fundraiser.

 – Sunflower Fund for terminally ill children.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

Education

Guided by the philosophy that "a school is a centre of 

community life", Basil Read built a proper brick-and-mortar 

school to replace the existing mud-walled church building 

CASE STUDY: STYLISH FAREWELL TO SCHOOL

Basil Read Developments (BRD) understands and appreciates the 

challenges that some scholars in and around Cosmo City deal with, and 

the different financial backgrounds they come from. As a result, BRD 

helped make the 2012 matric farewell a memorable experience for  

the grade 12 students of two high schools in Cosmo City (Cosmo 

Secondary 1 and Cosmo City Secondary 2) ensuring a wonderful 

send-off into adulthood. 

BRD worked with the schools to plan a Spring Market day for 

September 2012, inviting community members to support this initiative. 

BRD contributed the produce for various stalls which were set up and 

managed by students with assistance from teachers. The event included  

a modelling show for Miss Cosmo Secondary, soccer and netball  

matches by the schools’ A teams and a car wash and entertainment  

by fellow students.

BRD also secured support from Project Princess which donated dresses to girls in need at both schools. Hair and makeup on the day was 

sponsored by Toni Firmani and Beauty Solutions.

After a successful fundraiser and all the assistance on board, the big day was a great success for students and teachers. This year, BRD will again 

assist the schools and do as much as possible to make a difference in the lives of the students and the community of Cosmo City. 

serving pupils of the Nondabuya Primary School in  

Jozini, in the Umkhanyakude District Municipality in  

KwaZulu-Natal. 

Pupils could not wait to move into the new school Basil Read 

had built for them, complete with sports facilities and a 

beautiful garden. Community members will also be able to  

use the school as a community centre. 

Basil Read incorporated sustainable elements to make the 

building warmer in winter, cooler in summer and capable of 

recycling rainwater for irrigation purposes. The new school 

was officially handed over in June 2012 by the MEC for 

Education, Senzo Mchunu.  
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CASE STUDY: DEVLAND EDUCATION CAMPUS SOWETO

Basil Read is one of the sponsors and partners in a community project in 
Soweto called the Devland Community Education Campus project. This 
project attempts to broaden the horizons of the youth of Soweto by 
providing learning and business processing facilities in the heart of the 
largest township in South Africa. Together with other partners, such as 
Growing Up Africa (GUA), Golden Triangle Development Company, 
Builders Warehouse, Target Cranes, Afrisam, Saint-Gobain, Basil Read 
contributed to project development and design. 

The project will be the first of its kind in the township and cer tainly 
a needed resource by the community. The centre design has been 
completed and, when constructed, will be a flagship of functional 
design, sense of place and sustainability in the building industry. It has 
been designed with various sustainability attributes such as energy 
efficiency and green building technologies. 

This follows an earlier and successful project in Cosmo City – the Early Childhood Education Centre – in collaboration with Growing Up 
Africa and other sponsors.

Construction will begin in 2013 and various fundraising activities have been planned – including a recent auction hosted by Webber Wentzel. 
The project is again proving that through the involvement of the Basil Read family, other sponsors and suppliers are inspired to become 
involved and contribute to worthy causes that assist in uplifting the lives of needy people in South Africa. 

ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT

CASE STUDY: PAVING THE ROAD TO SUCCESS

During the year, Basil Read again teamed up with Khuthaza to inspire a 
group of entrepreneurs and contractors participating in Khuthaza’s 
development programme, when it hosted a breakfast at its head office 
followed by a site visit to the N12 Tom Jones project.

Khuthaza is a non-profit organisation that interacts with government, 
industry role-players and other stakeholders to encourage change, 
partnership and transformation. Khuthaza’s programmes are aimed at 
developing talent and contractors. Through a number of initiatives, it 
contributes to creating a foundation for sustainable change through 
industry facilitation, advocacy, information dissemination and support.  
Its aim is to position individuals for entry and development in the 
construction industry through its contractor development programmes. 
Khuthaza also provides participants with skills, exposure, networks and 
knowledge that will enable them to improve the efficient operations of 
their companies and engage more effectively with the industry.

During the site visit to Basil Read’s N12 freeway project, various technical and operational aspects were explained to the visiting group.  
These included the challenges of working as a team with a large number of subcontractors, as well as the safety and logistical challenges of 
working on such a busy highway. 

One of the highlights for participants was viewing specialised equipment imported from Germany and hearing about the specialised ultra-thin 
concrete being used on this contract. Basil Read staff shared tips on good business practice and reminded contractors to continuously plan and 
manage their building programmes.

The contractors who participated in this session rated the day very highly and greatly appreciated the time and experience the team shared with them. 

Corporate social investment

Sustainability review continued
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AMBASSADORS IN SPORT

The global Ambassadors in Sport initiative brings hope and 

opportunity to youth through football. Basil Read has been 

involved with the South African project since 2008 and now 

supports the organisation on a monthly basis, with the specific 

goal of developing a new Hope Academy in Mamelodi.

A community-based non-profit and public-benefit organisation, 

the flagship project is the Hope Academy programme being 

run across South Africa. These projects are intensely focused 

on helping disadvantaged children reach their full potential 

both on and off the football field.

Basil Read funding was used to support a coaching clinic for 

over 100 children, an ongoing weekly football programme and 

an annual football tournament for a dozen community teams.

THE BROADER GROUP

Most Basil Read subsidiaries have active CSI programmes 

under way, although an increasingly coordinated group-wide 

approach is being used. In most cases, subsidiary activities are 

targeted at specific needs in local communities.

CASE STUDY: MANDELA DAY

Basil Read Developments celebrated the 2012 Mandela Day by 

organising, preparing and serving soup to the elderly community of 

Itsoseng, an informal settlement along Malibongwe Road next to Cosmo 

City. These residents will be the primary beneficiaries of the Malibongwe 

Ridge project that Basil Read has recently begun to implement. 

The fun-filled day included much music and singing, with senior citizens 

showing the youth a few moves on the dance floor that would have 

impressed the elderly statesman and patron of the day, Nelson Mandela. 

As the 67 minutes dedicated to Madiba were drawing to a close, the 

local Honeydew police made a surprise visit and donated blankets to 

the elderly.

At head office, employees in the group finance and accounts teams 

collected groceries and clothing to be donated to Siyabonga Children’s 

Cottages, a local charity organisation. In recognition of their individual 

efforts, management of Basil Read agreed to make a contribution in the 

form of a new deep freeze, which Siyabonga had identified as a critical 

need. Due to the success of this initiative, the finance and accounts 

teams committed to similar drives on a regular basis.
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This index includes the 2009 GRI guidelines (G3.1) and 2010 construction and real estate sector supplement

GRI 

element Topic Page

STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS

1.1 Statement from CEO 17

1.2 Key impacts, risks and opportunities 14; 17; 18; 20 to 23; 88; 98

ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE

2.1 Name Cover

2.2 Primary products 2 to 4; 7

2.3 Operational structure 2 to 4; 7

2.4 Location of head office Administration

2.5 Countries of operation 1

2.6 Nature of ownership 222

2.7 Markets served 2 to 4; 7

2.8 Scale of organisation 2 to 4; 7

2.9 Significant changes to organisation Our group; 14; 26

2.10 Awards 30; 109

REPORT PARAMETERS

3.1 Reporting period Our group

3.2 Date of previous report Our group

3.3 Reporting cycle Our group

3.4 Contact points Administration

3.5 Process for defining report content Our group

3.6 Boundary of report Our group

3.7 Limitations Our group

3.8 Basis for reporting on joint ventures, etc 147 to 159

3.9 Data measurement techniques and assumptions 147 to 159; 164 to 166

3.10 Explanation of restatements Our group

3.11 Significant changes to scope, boundary or methods Our group

3.12 GRI index 122

3.13 Policy and practice on external assurance Our group

GRI index
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GRI 

element Topic Page

GOVERNANCE, COMMITMENTS AND ENGAGEMENT

4.1 Governance structure 84

4.2 Status of chairperson 84

4.3 Independent non-executive directors 84

4.4 Mechanisms for stakeholders to interact with board Our group; 27

4.5 Link between compensation and performance 92

4.6 Process for avoiding conflict of interest 84

4.7 Expertise of board 10; 11; 84 to 91; 96 to 97

4.8 Policies on economic, environmental and social performance 17; 24; 84

4.9 Procedures for board oversight of economic, environmental and social performance 84

4.10 Board performance 84; 85

4.11 Precautionary approach 84

4.12 External principles endorsed 101

4.13 Membership of industry associations and advocacy groups 84; 101

4.14 Stakeholder groups 100

Identify and report stakeholder groups engaged at organisational level versus those 

engaged at project/asset level 100

4.15 Basis for identification 100

4.16 Approach to stakeholder engagement 100

4.17 Topics and concerns raised, response 100
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GRI 

element Topic Page

ECONOMIC

EC1 Economic value generated and distributed 130

EC2
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS, RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES DUE TO 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND OTHER SUSTAINABILITY ISSUES 114 to 116

EC3 Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations 158; 197 to 198

EC4 Significant financial assistance from government zero

EC5 Standard entry-level wage compared to local minimum wage 92

EC6 Policy, practices, and spending on local suppliers 107

EC7 
Procedures for local hiring, proportion of senior management and all direct employees, 

contractors and subcontractors hired from local community
107

EC8 Development and impact of infrastructure investments and services for public benefit 118 to 119

EC9 Significant indirect economic impacts 118

MATERIALS

EN1 Materials used by weight, value or volume nr

EN2 Percentage recycled and re-used input materials 114 to 116

ENERGY

EN3 Direct consumption by primary energy source 115

EN4 
Indirect consumption by primary source (in gigajoules (GJ) and kilowatt hours (kWh), using 

recognised conversion factors)

115

CRE1 Building energy intensity 115

EN5 Energy saved from conservation and efficiency improvements 115

EN6 Reductions from energy-efficient or renewable energy-based products and services 115

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption, reductions achieved 115

WATER

EN8 Total water withdrawal by source (m3/year) 116

EN9 Sources significantly affected by withdrawal nr

EN10 Percentage and volume recycled and re-used nr

CRE2 Building water intensity nr

nr – Not reported

GRI index continued
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GRI 

element Topic Page

BIODIVERSITY

EN11 
Location and size of land owned, leased, managed or next to protected areas, areas of high 

biodiversity value 

n/a

EN12 Description of significant impacts of activities n/a

EN13 Habitats protected or restored n/a

EN14 Strategies, actions and plans for managing impacts on biodiversity n/a

EN15 IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species in areas affected by operations n/a

EMISSIONS, EFFLUENTS, AND WASTE

EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight 115

EN17 Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions 115

CRE3 GHG gas emissions intensity from building energy 115

CRE4 Greenhouse gas emissions intensity from new construction and redevelopment activity nr

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, reductions achieved 115; 116

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances nr

EN20 NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions by type and weight n/a

EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination (planned and unplanned in m3/yr) nr

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method 116

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills nr

EN24 Waste transported under terms of Basel Convention (Annex I, II, III, VIII) n/a

EN25 
Identity, size, protected status, and biodiversity value of water bodies and related habitats 

significantly affected by discharges of water and runoff
n/a

CRE5
Land remediated and in need of remediation for the existing or intended land use, according 

to applicable legal designations
n/a

n/a – Not applicable

nr – Not reported
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GRI 

element Topic Page

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

EN26 
Initiatives to enhance efficiency and mitigate environmental impacts of real estate and 

infrastructure assets, extent of mitigation
114

EN27 Percentage of products sold and packaging materials reclaimed by category n/a

COMPLIANCE

EN28 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations zero

TRANSPORT

EN29 Significant impacts of transporting products, and members of workforce 115

EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and investments by type nr

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE: LABOUR PRACTICES AND DECENT WORK

LA1 Workforce by employment type, employment contract, gender and region 106

LA2 
Number and rate of new employee hires and employee turnover by age group, gender, and 

region nr

LA3 Benefits for full-time employees not provided to temporary/part-time employees 93; 102 to 107

LA15 Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, by gender nr

LABOUR/MANAGEMENT RELATIONS

LA4 Percentage employees covered by collective bargaining agreements 106

LA5 Minimum notice period on significant changes, including specified in collective agreements nr

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

LA6 
Percentage workforce represented in formal joint H&S committees to monitor and advise 

on programmes 106

LA7 
Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, absenteeism, work-related fatalities broken 

down by employees, supervised employees and independent contractors 108 to 112

CRE6
Percentage of organisation operating in verified compliance with internationally recognised 

health and safety management system, eg OHSAS 180001 or equivalent 108

LA8 
Education, training, counselling, prevention, and risk-control programmes to assist workforce 

members, their families or community members with serious diseases 113

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions 113

n/a – Not applicable

GRI index continued
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GRI 

element Topic Page

TRAINING AND EDUCATION

LA10 Average hours of training per year per employee, by gender and by employee category 102 to 104

LA11 
Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning that support continued 

employability 102 to 104; 107

LA12 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews nr

DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

LA13 
Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per category: gender, age 

group, minority group membership, and other indicators of diversity 
106

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category nr

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE: HUMAN RIGHTS

INVESTMENT AND PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

HR1 
Percentage and number of significant investment agreements with human rights clauses or 

human rights screening nr

HR2 Percentage significant suppliers and contractors screened on human rights and actions taken nr

HR3 
Total hours and percentage employee training on aspects of human rights relevant to 

operations nr

NON-DISCRIMINATION

HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken zero

FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

HR5 
Operations where right to freedom of association and collective bargaining at significant risk, 

actions to support rights zero

HR6 Operations with significant risk for incidents of child labour, measures to eliminate zero

HR7 Operations with significant risk of forced or compulsory labour, measures to eliminate zero

SECURITY PRACTICES

HR8 
Percentage security personnel trained in policies/procedures on human rights relevant to 

operations nr

INDIGENOUS RIGHTS

HR9 Number of violations involving rights of indigenous people and actions taken zero

HR10
Percentage and number of operations subject to human rights reviews and/or impact 

assessments n/a

HR11
Number of grievances related to human rights filed, addressed and resolved through formal 

mechanisms zero

n/a – Not applicable

nr – Not reported
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GRI 

element Topic Page

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE: SOCIETY

COMMUNITY

SO1 
Percentage of operations with implemented local community engagement, impact assessments, and 

development programmes 118

SO9
Operations with significant potential or actual negative and positive impacts on local 

communities 118 to 121

SO10
Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in operations with significant potential or 

actual negative impacts on local communities
118

CRE7
Number of persons voluntarily and involuntarily displaced and/or resettled by development, 

broken down by project nr

CORRUPTION

SO2 Percentage and number of business units analysed for risks related to corruption 98

SO3 Percentage of employees trained in anti-corruption policies and procedures 98 to 99

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption 98 to 99

PUBLIC POLICY

SO5 Public policy positions and participation in public policy development and lobbying nr

SO6 
Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to political parties, politicians, and related 

institutions n/a

ANTI-COMPETITIVE BEHAVIOUR

SO7 Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust and monopoly practices, outcomes 14 to 16; 18; 25; 91

COMPLIANCE

SO8 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations 14 to 16; 18; 25; 91

n/a – Not applicable

nr – Not reported

GRI index continued
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GRI 

element Topic Page

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY 

CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

PR1 

Lifecycle stages in which impacts of real estate and infrastructure assets are assessed for 

improvement, percentage of significant products and services categories subject to such 

procedures 

nr

PR2 

Number non-compliances with regulations and voluntary codes on health and safety impacts 

of real estate and infrastructure assets (only to operation, refurbishment and demolition of 

assets) during lifecycle, by type of outcomes

zero

PRODUCTS AND SERVICE LABELLING

PR3 
Type of information required (eg building and infrastructure components and materials), 

percentage of significant products concerned 
n/a

CRE8
Type and number of sustainability certification, rating and labelling schemes for new 

construction, management, occupation and redevelopment
108 to 109

PR4 Incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes on labelling zero

PR5 
Practices related to customer satisfaction including results of surveys measuring customer 

satisfaction nr

MARKETING COMMUNICATIONS

PR6 Programmes for adherence to laws, standards, and voluntary codes 84

PR7 Incidents of non-compliance zero

CUSTOMER PRIVACY

PR8 Substantiated complaints on breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data zero

COMPLIANCE

PR9 
Significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning provision and use 

of products and services

zero

n/a – Not applicable

nr – Not reported



The value added statement measures performance in terms of value added by the group through the collective efforts of 
management, employees and the providers of capital. The statement shows how value added has been distributed to those 
contributing to its creation.

2012

 R'000  % 

2011

 R'000  % 

VALUE ADDED DURING THE YEAR
Total revenue  6 834 146  6 230 456 

Contract revenue  6 608 258  6 000 764 
Other revenue  225 888  229 692 

Cost of materials, subcontractors and other services  (4 706 887)  (4 070 347)

Value added from trading operations  2 127 259 98,61  2 160 109 98,93
Interest income  30 081 1,39  23 284 1,07

Total value added  2 157 340 100,00  2 183 393 100,00

DISTRIBUTIONS DURING THE YEAR
Management
Salaries, retirement and other benefits  13 987 0,65  22 462 1,03
Employees
Salaries, retirement and other benefits  1 884 663 87,37  1 602 331 73,38
Providers of capital
Interest on borrowings and dividends paid  104 068 4,82  112 418 5,15
Government
Taxation  16 235 0,75  81 580 3,74

Total distributions  2 018 953 93,59  1 818 791 83,30
Retained for re-investment  138 387 6,41  364 602 16,70

Depreciation  307 488  267 039 
Income retained in the business  (169 101)  97 563 

Total distributions  2 157 340 100,00  2 183 393 100,00

NOTES
Income retained in the business
Breakdown of income retained in the business is as follows:
Controlled income from operations  (219 481)  97 127 
Share of profit of associates after taxation  49 097  6 708 
Non-controlling interests  1 283  (6 272)

 (169 101)  97 563 

Value added 2011

 Employees – 73%
 Providers of capital – 5%
 Government – 4%
 Retained for re-investment – 17%
 Management – 1%

Value added 2012

 Employees – 87%
 Providers of capital – 5%
 Government – 1%
 Retained for re-investment – 6%
 Management – 1%
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Value added statement
for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Directors’ responsibility statement

Certificate by company secretary

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of Basil Read Holdings 

Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial statements presented on pages 142 to 221 have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and include amounts based upon judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, 

consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS that they consider to be 

applicable have been followed. The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the financial statements fairly presents 

the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the group at year-end. The directors also prepared the other 

information included in the annual report and are responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with 

reasonable accuracy the financial position of the group companies to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements 

comply with the relevant legislation.

Basil Read Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries operate in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and 

regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, 

but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going-concern basis, since the directors have no reason to believe that the 

group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. These financial 

statements support the viability of the company and the group.

The group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, audited the financial statements and their report is presented on 

page 141. The preparation of the financial statements was supervised by the financial director, Donny Gouveia.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 27 March 2013 and are signed on their behalf by:

SLL Peteni  ML Heyns

Chairman  Chief executive officer

27 March 2013 27 March 2013 

In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), 

that for the year ended 31 December 2012, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all 

such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

A Ndoni

Company secretary

27 March 2013
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2012

The directors present their 28th annual report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of the company and of the 

group for the year ended 31 December 2012.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Basil Read is one of the top construction companies in South Africa. The company is listed on the JSE Limited and its subsidiary 

companies are active in the areas of civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed integrated housing developments, property 

development, bitumen distribution, opencast mining, blasting and engineering and project management solutions. These subsidiaries 

operate throughout Africa and internationally.

DIVIDENDS

A special dividend of 175 cents per share was declared on 14 March 2013 following the completion of the disposal of TWP Holdings 

(Pty) Ltd.

No dividend was declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year, the group issued 7 883 238 ordinary shares for a cash consideration of R12,56 per share and 33 607 507 “A” 

ordinary shares for a cash consideration of R0,01 cents per share in terms of a BBBEE transaction concluded with SIOC CDT 

Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd, thereby giving them an effective 25,1% holding. 

There was no change to the issued share capital of the company in the 2011 financial year.

OPERATING RESULTS

The financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company and that of the group for the year ended 31 December 

2012 are set out on pages 142 to 221.

The group made a loss after taxation from continuing operations of R196 million (2011: profit of R86 million) during the year 

under review.

The group made a profit after taxation from discontinued operations of R27 million (2011: R49 million) during the year 

under review.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The group acquired property, plant and equipment to the amount of R502 million (2011: R648 million) during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 1 January 2012, the group disposed of its 50% stake in Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R4 million resulting in 

the recognition of a loss on disposal of R4,6 million.

During February 2012, the group disposed of 100% of Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd, a property owning subsidiary for a total 

consideration of R66,3 million. The agreement was concluded with Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd, a related party in relation 

to the group. In terms of the agreement, Basil Read acquired 50% of Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd for a total consideration 

of R33,5 million. Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd is the owner of the Basil Read head office campus.

On 23 October 2012, the group entered into an agreement with WorleyParsons Limited (WorleyParsons) whereby it will acquire 

100% of TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd (TWP) for a cash consideration of R900 million in March 2013. The transaction excludes Basil 

Read Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd (Matomo), TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd and LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd. These companies will 

continue to operate autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries of Basil Read. 

The information relating to the company’s financial interest in its subsidiaries and joint ventures is set out in notes 16, 43, 45, 46, 47 

and 50 to the financial statements.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

During the year, the group disposed of a 12% interest in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R3,9 million.

For more information on the group’s investments in associates refer to notes 17 and 44 to the financial statements.

OTHER INVESTMENTS

During the year, the group’s investment product with Stanlib Asset Management matured, resulting in a profit on disposal of 

investment of R5,0 million.

During the year, the group acquired 13,3% of Lehating Mining (Pty) Ltd for a purchase consideration of R19 million.

BORROWINGS

Interest-bearing borrowings comprise bank borrowings, instalment sale agreements and a domestic medium-term note programme. 

Other borrowings comprise the amount due to former shareholders of the companies that the group has acquired over the last 

few years. During the year, borrowings decreased due to the repayment of banking loans and instalment sale agreements.

The decrease in borrowings was partly offset by increases in new instalment sale agreements entered into to fund 

capital expenditure.

For more information on the group’s borrowings, refer to notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 23 October 2012, the group entered into a sale of shares agreement with WorleyParsons Limited (WorleyParsons) whereby 

WorleyParsons RSA Group (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of WorleyParsons, will acquire the entire issued share capital of TWP Holdings 

(Pty) Ltd for a cash consideration of R900 million. All conditions precedent to the transaction were met during the 2013 financial 

year and the transaction was successfully concluded on 12 March 2013.

The transaction excludes Basil Read Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd and TWP Matomo Process Plant (Pty) Ltd which conduct Basil 

Read’s EPC business as well as TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd and LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd (previously TPS.P Architects (Pty) Ltd). 

These companies will continue to operate autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries of Basil Read. 

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Details of shareholder categories are set out on page 222 of this report.

DIRECTORATE

The following were directors of the company during the year under review:

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni Independent non-executive director, chairman

Marius Lodewucus Heyns Chief executive officer, managing director

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia Chief financial officer, financial director, deputy chief executive officer

Nigel John Townshend† Executive director

Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi~ Non-executive director

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba Non-executive director 

Thabiso Alexander Tlelai Non-executive director 

Paul Cambo Baloyi^ Independent non-executive director

Charles Peter Davies Independent non-executive director 

Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila# Independent non-executive director

Claudia Estelle Manning# Independent non-executive director

Given Refilwe Sibiya* Independent non-executive director
† Resigned 12 March 2013.
~Appointed 14 March 2013.
^ Appointed 2 November 2012.
# Appointed 23 August 2012.
* Resigned 31 August 2012.

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Directors’ report continued
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DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive directors

Cash portion

 of package

 R 

Benefits*

 R 

Incentive

 bonus

 R 

Gain on 

share options

 exercised

 R 

Total

 R 

2012

Paid by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 096 604  467 824 – –  3 564 428 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  2 078 040  343 595 – –  2 421 635 

 5 174 644  811 419 – –  5 986 063 

Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd

Nigel John Townshend  2 800 954  451 783  1 500 000 –  4 752 737 

 7 975 598  1 263 202  1 500 000 –  10 738 800 

2011

Paid by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 095 395  464 534  8 251 061 –  11 810 990 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  1 861 517  306 497  1 500 000 –  3 668 014 

 4 956 912  771 031  9 751 061 –  15 479 004 

Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd

Nigel John Townshend  2 618 673  457 750  1 400 000 –  4 476 423 

 7 575 585  1 228 781  11 151 061 –  19 955 427 

* Benefits include the group’s contribution towards medical aid and provident fund.

In addition to the above remuneration, Marius Lodewucus Heyns has an agreement with the group that should he meet certain 

annual criteria, an additional deferred bonus will accrue to him.

The aggregate base amount of the deferred bonus which will accrue and be paid on 31 March 2014 will be R50 million plus accrued 

interest and shall be calculated by the group’s remuneration committee in five equal annual tranches in accordance with the 

following criteria, applied annually:

 – Headline earnings per share increasing by at least a percentage equal to the spot rate as at 30 September of each year of the RSA 

Five Year Retail Bond rate plus 50%. The spot rate applicable to the 2012 results was 8%. The spot rate that applies to the 2013 

financial year is 7%.

 – Cash flow from operating activities to be cash generative in each year.

 – The criteria will carry equal weight in the determination of the amount of the deferred bonus.

 – Should the criteria not be met in any one financial year, the deferred bonus will be reduced by an amount equal to that 

year’s tranche.

 – The remuneration committee may recommend to the board and the board may, in its discretion, relax the criteria in any given 

year should it deem it necessary and appropriate.

 – Mr Heyns must remain in the employ of the group for the five-year period covered by the deferred bonus. If he leaves, unless for 

reasons of ill health, at any time during this period, none of the deferred bonus becomes due and payable.

Mr Heyns did not meet the criteria for the 2012 financial year and accordingly no provision was created in the 2012 financial 

year for payment of this deferred bonus.

Mr Heyns did not meet the criteria for the 2011 financial year and accordingly no provision was created in the 2011 financial 

year for payment of this deferred bonus.

Mr Heyns did not meet the criteria for the 2010 financial year and accordingly no provision was created in the 2010 financial 

year for payment of this deferred bonus.

Mr Heyns met the criteria for the 2009 financial year and accordingly a R10 million provision was raised in the 2009 financial 

year for payment of this deferred bonus.
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for the year ended 31 December 2012

Non-executive directors

Services as

 director

 R 

Total

 R 

2012

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  1 012 000  1 012 000 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  434 000  434 000 

Thabiso Alexander Tlelai#  365 000  365 000 

Paul Cambo Baloyi~  40 833  40 833 

Charles Peter Davies  679 500  679 500 

Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila^  161 000  161 000 

Claudia Estelle Manning^  122 500  122 500 

Given Refilwe Sibiya*  432 833  432 833 

 3 247 666  3 247 666 

2011

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  735 000  735 000 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  360 500  360 500 

Thabiso Alexander Tlelai#  294 000  294 000 

Charles Peter Davies  602 500  602 500 

Given Refilwe Sibiya*  514 500  514 500 

 2 506 500  2 506 500 
# Paid to the companies that these directors represent.
~ Appointed 2 November 2012.
^ Appointed 23 August 2012.
* Resigned 31 August 2012.

Directors’ fees for the 2012 financial year were paid according to the following table:

With effect from 1 January 2012  Member  Chairman 

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 

Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 

Audit/risk committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 

Audit/risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Social, ethics and transformation committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Social, ethics and transformation committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Chairman’s committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Ad hoc meetings – per meeting  17 500 –

Directors’ fees are reviewed annually. It is proposed that directors’ fees for the 2013 financial year be paid as follows:

With effect from 1 January 2013  Member  Chairman 

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 

Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 

Audit committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 

Audit committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Risk committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Social, ethics and transformation committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 

Social, ethics and transformation committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Chairman’s committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Ad hoc meetings – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

These fees have been waived by the executive directors. Fees are paid quarterly in arrears.

Directors’ report continued
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Highest earners including  

prescribed officers

Cash portion 

of package

 R 

Benefits*

 R 

Incentive 

bonus

 R 

Gain on 

share options

 exercised

 R 

Total

 R 

2012

Christopher John Erasmus#  2 069 613  330 453 – –  2 400 066 

Antonie Fourie#  1 741 180  209 931  1 000 000 –  2 951 111 

Digby John Glover#  2 127 669  324 941  2 000 000 –  4 452 610 

Two next highest earners#  5 454 837  88 289  2 250 000 –  7 793 126 

 11 393 299  953 614  5 250 000 –  17 596 913 

2011

Christopher John Erasmus#  1 862 126  305 003  1 500 000 –  3 667 129 

Antonie Fourie#  1 332 280  151 999  1 600 000 –  3 084 279 

Digby John Glover#  1 994 891  302 694  1 500 000 –  3 797 585 

Two next highest earners#  4 805 804  619 371  2 400 000 –  7 825 175 

 9 995 101  1 379 067  7 000 000 –  18 374 168 
* Benefits include the group’s contribution towards medical aid, provident fund and expatriate costs.
#Paid by group subsidiary companies.

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EQUITY-SETTLED INSTRUMENTS

Executive directors

The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2012:

 Number 

Average

strike 

price 

R

Average 

exercise 

price

R 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2012  380 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2012  380 000  13,95 –

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2012.

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2012  105 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2012  105 000  13,95 –

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2012.
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The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011:

 Number 

 Average

strike 

price 

R

 Average 

 exercise 

price 

R

Marius Lodewucus Heyns

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  380 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  380 000  13,95 –

347 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance 

vesting over a period of one year.

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  105 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  105 000  13,95 –

93 750 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance vesting over a period of one year.

Prescribed officers

The following prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2012:

 Number 

 Average

strike 

price 

R

 Average

 exercise 

price 

R

Christopher John Erasmus

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2012  145 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2012  145 000  13,95 –

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2012.

Antonie Fourie

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2012  90 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2012  90 000  13,95 –

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2012.

Directors’ report continued
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The following prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011:

 Number 

 Average

strike 

price 

R

 Average

 exercise 

price 

R

Christopher John Erasmus

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  145 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  145 000  13,95 –

132 500 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance 

vesting over a period of one year.

Antonie Fourie

Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2011  90 000  13,95 –

Equity-settled instruments granted during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year – – –

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2011  90 000  13,95 –

80 000 of these options had vested by 31 December 2011 with the balance vesting over a period of one year.

The terms of the equity-settled instruments are detailed in note 40.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE CAPITAL

The interests, direct and indirect, of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

Direct

2012

Number

Direct

2011

Number

Indirect

2012

Number

Indirect

2011

Number

Beneficial

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  32 070  32 070 – –

Nigel John Townshend – –  9 337 047  9 337 047 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba  6 986  6 986  2 776 939  2 776 939 

Alexander Thabiso Tlelai – –  2 774 953  2 774 953 

Christopher John Erasmus  147 628  147 628 – –

Digby John Glover – –  1 282 275  1 282 275 

 186 684  186 684  16 171 214  16 171 214 

Shares held by associates – – – –

 186 684  186 684  16 171 214  16 171 214 

The company’s directors did not trade in shares between year-end and the date the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The direct interests of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

 Number of

 unissued

 shares 

% of 

unissued

 shares

% held 

once shares

 issued

2012

Direct

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,52  0,23 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  105 000  5,67  0,06 

Christopher John Erasmus  145 000  7,83  0,09 

Antonie Fourie  90 000  4,86  0,05 

2011

Direct

Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,11  0,31 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia  105 000  5,56  0,08 

Christopher John Erasmus  145 000  7,67  0,12 

Antonie Fourie  90 000  4,76  0,07 

The right to the unissued shares are in terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme. For further details, refer to note 40(e).

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS PASSED BY SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The following special resolutions were passed by subsidiary companies during the year ended 31 December 2012 and related to 

borrowing powers:

 – Special resolution by Basil Read Holdings Ltd, in its capacity as shareholder of Basil Read (Pty) Ltd, authorising Basil Read (Pty) Ltd 

to provide financial assistance to its subsidiaries and other group companies in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act 

71 of 2008, as amended;

 – Special resolution by Basil Read Holdings Ltd, in its capacity as shareholder of TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd, authorising TWP Holdings 

(Pty) Ltd to provide financial assistance to its subsidiaries and other group companies in accordance with section 45 of the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended;

 – Special resolution by Basil Read (Pty) Ltd, in its capacity as shareholder,  authorising certain of its major subsidiaries to provide  

financial assistance to their subsidiaries and other group companies in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008,  

as amended; and

 – Special resolution by TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd, in its capacity as shareholder,  authorising certain of its major subsidiaries to 

provide financial assistance to their subsidiaries and other group companies in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act 

71 of 2008, as amended.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc will continue in office in accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act. At the annual general 

meeting, shareholders will be requested to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the group’s auditors for the 2013 financial year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary during the 2012 financial year was Merchantec Capital (Pty) Ltd (Merchantec). Following the resignation of 

Merchantec on 14 March 2013, Ms Andiswa Ndoni was appointed as the group’s company secretary.

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Basil Read Campus

7 Romeo Street

Hughes Extension

Boksburg

1459

POSTAL ADDRESS

Private Bag X170

Bedfordview

2008

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Directors’ report continued
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Report of the independent auditors

TO THE MEMBERS OF BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited set out on pages 142 to 221 

which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the income statements, statements of 

comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 

Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 

to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of Basil Read Holdings Limited as at 31 December 2012, and its consolidated and separate financial 

performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, we have read the 

directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there 

are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports 

are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies 

between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports 

and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc

Director: FJ Lombard

Registered auditor

Johannesburg

27 March 2013
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Consolidated income statement

Notes

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Revenue  5 493 465  5 320 945 

Contracting revenue  5 267 577  5 091 253 

Other revenue – development fees  26 736  21 843 

Other revenue – construction materials and services  199 152  207 849 

Contracting and other costs  (4 905 931)  (4 470 431)

Other administrative and operating overheads  (496 298)  (412 894)

Depreciation, impairment and amortisation  (287 329)  (257 060)

Other income 7  546  146

Other gains/(losses) – net 8 24 684  24 475   

Operating (loss)/profit 9  (170 863)  205 181 

Impairment of goodwill 15  –    (32 403)

Interest received 10  20 162  23 225 

Foreign exchange 10  (5 823) 10 294

Interest paid 10  (99 022) (66 559)

(Loss)/profit before share of profit from associates and jointly 

controlled entities  (255 546)  139 738 

Share of profits from jointly controlled entities 16  (4 285)  (2 957)

Share of profits from associates 17  49 097  6 708 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (210 734)  143 489 

Taxation 11  14 593  (57 537)

Net (loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations  (196 141)  85 952 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Net profit for the year from discontinued operations 26  27 040  48 755 

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (169 101)  134 707 

Attributable to

Entity shareholders of the company  (170 384)  140 979 

Non-controlling interests  1 283  (6 272)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (169 101)  134 707 

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents) 12  (136,54)  113,88 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents) 12  (136,54)  113,88 

(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 12  (158,21)  74,50 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 12  (158,21)  74,50 

Earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents) 12  21,67 39,38

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents) 12  21,67 39,38
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Notes

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (169 101)  134 707 

Other comprehensive income for the year  (4 194)  6 129 

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  3 502  5 014 

Movement in fair value adjustment reserve 19  (8 788)  1 297 

Deferred tax effect on other comprehensive income 18  1 092  (182)

Total comprehensive income for the year  (173 295)  140 836 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  

attributable to the following:

Equity shareholders of the company  (175 162)  144 886 

Non-controlling interests  1 867  (4 050)

Total comprehensive income for the year  (173 295)  140 836 
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as at 31 December 2012

Consolidated statement of financial position

Notes

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets  2 016 019  2 152 469 

Property, plant and equipment 14  1 272 127  1 166 213 

Intangible assets 15  412 689  799 995 

Investments in jointly controlled entities 16  5 269  18 175 

Loans to jointly controlled entities 16  77 967  39 876 

Investments in associates 17  66 333  17 042 

Deferred income tax assets 18  125 201  68 985 

Available-for-sale financial assets 19  5 621  42 183 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20  50 812  –   

Current assets  2 598 877  2 680 501 

Inventories 21  81 236  42 857 

Development land 22  402 375  398 686 

Contract and trade debtors 23  883 617  1 308 188 

Receivables and prepayments 24  99 198  139 725 

Loans to jointly controlled entities 16  –    16 580 

Current income tax assets  53 764  58 428 

Cash and cash equivalents 25  1 078 687  716 037 

Non-current assets held for sale 26  773 540  66 767 

Total assets  5 388 436  4 899 737 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves  1 799 554  1 814 820 

Stated capital 27  1 048 025  948 668 

Retained earnings  750 654  860 499 

Other reserves  875  5 653 

Non-controlling interests 28  24 768  22 901 

Total capital and reserves  1 824 322  1 837 721 

Non-current liabilities  376 266  592 847 

Interest-bearing borrowings 29  314 187  519 234 

Other borrowings 30  13 250  19 649 

Deferred income tax liabilities 18  48 829  53 964 

Current liabilities  2 992 185  2 469 062 

Trade and other payables 32  2 199 266  1 593 253 

Current income tax liabilities  11 970  46 651 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 29  562 980  508 071 

Loans from associates 17  20 695  37 876 

Derivative financial instruments 33  2 506  –   

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 31  162 915  220 903 

Bank overdraft 25  31 853  62 308 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale 26  195 663  107 

Total equity and liabilities  5 388 436  4 899 737 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

 Share

 capital 

 R’000 

 Treasury

 shares 

 R’000 

 Foreign

 currency

 translation

 reserve* 

  R’000  

 Fair 

value

 adjustment

 reserve 

 R’000 

 Equity-

 settled

 share-

 based

 payment

 reserve 

 R’000 

 Retained

 earnings 

 R’000 

 Total

attributable

to owners

 of the

 parent 

 R’000 

 Non-

controlling

 interests 

 R’000 

 Total

 equity 

 R’000 

Balance at  

1 January 2011  948 687  (20)  (4 458)  6 204  –    758 472  1 708 885  6 404  1 715 289 

Movement in shares held 

by the trust  –    1  –    –    –    –    1  –    1 

Disposal of subsidiary 

(refer note 47)  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    15 704  15 704 

Transactions with 

non-controlling interests 

(refer note 46)  –    –    –    –    –    (2 353)  (2 353)  4 843  2 490 

Total comprehensive 

income for the year  –    –    2 792  1 115  –    140 979  144 886  (4 050)  140 836 

Share-based payment 

(refer note 34)  –    –    –    –    545  –    545  –    545 

Reallocate equity-settled 

share-based payment  –    –    –    –    (545)  545  –    –    –   

Dividends paid  –    –    –    –    –    (37 144)  (37 144)  –    (37 144)

Balance at  

31 December 2011  948 687  (19)  (1 666)  7 319  –    860 499  1 814 820  22 901  1 837 721 

Movement in shares 

held by the trust  –    7  –    –    –    –    7  –    7 

Issue of shares in terms 

of BBBEE transaction  99 350  –    –    –    –    –    99 350  –    99 350 

Total comprehensive 

income for the year  –    –    2 918  (7 696)  –    (170 384)  (175 162)  1 867  (173 295)

Share-based payment 

(refer note 34)  –    –    –    –    60 539  –    60 539  –    60 539 

Reallocate equity-

settled share-based 

payment  –    –    –    –    (60 539)  60 539  –    –    –   

Balance at  

31 December 2012  1 048 037  (12)  1 252  (377)  –    750 654  1 799 554  24 768  1 824 322 
*  The foreign currency translation reserve is the result of exchange differences arising from the translation of the group's foreign operations to the group's presentation currency, 
the rand.



146

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes

 2012 

 R’000

 2011 

 R’000

Cash flow from operating activities  843 106  (35 865)

Cash generated by operating activities 35  1 033 498  166 424 

Net finance costs 10  (77 133)  (36 007)

Dividends paid 36  (38)  (37 019)

Taxation paid 37  (113 221)  (129 263)

Cash flow from investing activities  (403 415)  (99 291)

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 14  (501 693)  (211 910)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  54 249  39 506 

Disposal of subsidiaries 47  66 324  101 106 

Acquisition of jointly controlled entity 16  (1)  (56 449)

Disposal of jointly controlled entity 16  4 000  –   

Advances made to jointly controlled entities 16  (31 206)  (526)

Advances recovered from jointly controlled entities 16  9 695  4 462 

Acquisition of associate 17  (3 169)  (10 000)

Disposal of associate 17  3 870  –   

Advances made to associates 17  (17 466)  (5 689)

Advances recovered from associates 17  285  44 831 

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial asset 19  (3 769)  (4 628)

Disposal of available-for-sale financial asset 19  34 619  6 

Acquisition of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 20  (19 153)  –   

Cash flow from financing activities  (50 781)  (174 909)

Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 29  329 912  303 603 

Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings 29  (480 050)  (389 689)

Repayments of other borrowings 30  –    (88 824)

Proceeds from issue of shares – net of costs  99 357  1 

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  3 059  (14 838)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  391 969  (324 903)

Cash and cash equivalents – at the beginning of  

the year  653 753  978 656 

Cash and cash equivalents – at the end of the year  1 045 722  653 753 

Included in cash and cash equivalents  

as per the balance sheet 25  1 046 834  653 729 

Included in the assets of disposal group 26  (1 112)  24 

 1 045 722  653 753 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF PREPARATION

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and the Companies Act of South Africa.

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of 

available-for-sale investments and financial instruments fair valued through profit and loss. The following principal accounting 

policies are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are used by the group. These policies have 

been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 

It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 

consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

  The accounting policies detailed below have been consistently applied to the company financial statements detailed on 

pages 214 to 221.

  Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not 

been early adopted by the group 

  The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not effective and 

the group has not early adopted them:

  IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 July 2012) – The 

amendment requires entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income (OCI) into two groups based on 

whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. 

  IAS 19 (Amendment) Employee Benefits (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – The amendment 

eliminates the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and losses, streamlines the presentation of changes in assets and 

liabilities arising from defined benefit plans including the requirement that remeasurements be presented in other comprehensive 

income, and enhances the disclosure requirements for defined benefit plans to provide better information about the 

characteristics of defined benefit plans and the risks that entities are exposed to through participation in those plans. 

  IAS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – IFRS 27 

contains accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity 

elects or is required by local regulations to present separate financial statements. The standard requires an entity preparing 

separate financial statements to account for those investments at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

  IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) 

– The new IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application 

of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.

  IAS 32 (Amendment) Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 

2014) – The application guidance of IAS 32 has been amended to clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and 

financial liabilities on the statement of financial position. The amendments do not change the current offsetting model in IAS 32, but 

clarify that the right of set-off must be available today – that is, it is not contingent on a future event. It must also be legally 

enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

  The amendments also clarify that gross settlement mechanisms (such as through a clearing house) with features that both 

(i) eliminate credit and liquidity risk and (ii) process receivables and payables in a single settlement process, are effectively 

equivalent to net settlement; they would therefore satisfy the IAS 32 criterion in these instances. Master netting agreements 

where the legal right of offset is only enforceable on the occurrence of some future event, such as default of the 

counterparty, continue to not meet the offsetting requirements.

  IFRS 1 (Amendment): First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Guidance on government loans (effective 

for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013). The amendment provides guidance on how a first-time adopter 

would account for a government loan with a below-market rate of interest when transitioning to IFRS. 

  IFRS 7 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Disclosures – IFRS 9 Transitional Disclosures (effective for financial periods beginning 

on/after 1 January 2015) – The amendment requires additional disclosure on the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. This 

additional disclosure is only required when an entity adopts IFRS 9 for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013. 

If an entity adopts IFRS 9 for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2012 and before 1 January 2013, the entity can 

either provide the additional disclosure or restate prior periods. The additional disclosure highlights the changes in 

classification of financial assets and financial liabilities upon the adoption of IFRS 9.

  IFRS 7 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective for 

financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – The amended disclosures will require more extensive disclosures than 

are currently required under IFRS. The disclosures focus on quantitative information about recognised financial instruments 

that are offset in the statement of financial position, as well as those recognised financial instruments that are subject to 

master netting or similar arrangements irrespective of whether they are offset.

 IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2015):

 –   IFRS 9 published in November 2009, addresses classification and measurement of financial assets. It uses a single approach 

to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortised cost or at fair value. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on 

how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets. The standard requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the numerous impairment methods 

in IAS 39 that arose from the different classification categories. The standard also removes the requirement to separate 

embedded derivatives from financial asset hosts. 

 – IFRS 9 was amended in October 2010 to incorporate financial liabilities. The accounting and presentation for financial 

liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments has been relocated from IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and 

measurement, without change, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

The amendment introduces new requirements that address the problem of volatility in profit or loss (P&L) arising from an 

issuer choosing to measure its own debt at fair value. With the new requirements, an entity choosing to measure a liability 

at fair value will present the portion of the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in the 

other comprehensive income (OCI) section of the income statement, rather than within profit and loss. 

 – In December 2011, the effective date of IFRS 9 was delayed. The original effective date for annual periods beginning  

on/after 1 January 2013 has been delayed to annual periods beginning on/after 1 January 2015. The amendment also 

modifies the relief from restating prior periods, in that if IFRS 9 is adopted for reporting periods beginning before 

1 January 2012, comparatives need to be restated nor does the additional disclosure requirements of IFRS 7 need to be 

provided; beginning on/after 1 January 2012 and before 1 January 2013, either the additional disclosure required by IFRS 7 

must be provided or the prior periods need to be restated; beginning on/after 1 January 2013, the IFRS 7 additional 

disclosure is required but the entity need not restate prior periods. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – IFRS 10 

establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one 

or more other entities and supersedes IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. IFRS 10 changes the definition of 

control so that the same criteria are applied to all entities to determine control. The revised definition of control focuses on 

the need to have both power and variable returns before control is present. The standard provides additional guidance to 

assist in determination of control where this is difficult to assess. 

  IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – IFRS 11 establishes principles 

for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement and supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Venture. IFRS 11 classifies joint 

arrangements into joint operations and joint ventures. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have 

joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

  A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 

assets of the arrangement. The standard requires a party to a joint arrangement to determine the type of joint arrangement 

in which it is involved by assessing its rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. The focus is no longer on the legal 

structure. The existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been eliminated. Equity 

accounting is mandatory for participants in joint ventures.

  IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – IFRS 12 is a 

comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interest in other entities, including joint arrangements, 

associates, special-purpose vehicles and other off-balance sheet vehicles. The new standard requires entities to disclose 

information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risk and financial effects associated with the entity’s 

interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities. 

  IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets 

out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair value, and sets out disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. 

  IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 

2013) – The Interpretations Committee was asked to clarify when and how to account for stripping costs (the process of 

removing waste from a surface mine in order to gain access to mineral ore deposits) to address diversity in practice. The 

interpretation clarifies when production stripping should lead to the recognition of an asset and how that asset should be 

measured, both initially and in subsequent periods. 

  Annual Improvements 2009 – 2011 Cycle (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013) – Improvements to 

IFRS is a collection of amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These amendments are the result of 

conclusions the board reached on proposals made in its annual improvements project. 

  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (Amendment) 

(effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is required if the underlying standards (IFRS 10, 

11 and 12) are early adopted).  The amendment clarifies that the date of initial application is the first day of the annual period in 

which IFRS 10 is adopted − for example, 1 January 2013 for a calendar-year entity that adopts IFRS 10 in 2013. Entities adopting 

IFRS 10 should assess control at the date of initial application; the treatment of comparative figures depends on this assessment. 

The amendment also requires certain comparative disclosures under IFRS 12 upon transition. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

 The key changes in the amendment are: 

 – If the consolidation conclusion under IFRS 10 differs from IAS 27/SIC 12 as at the date of initial application, the 

immediately preceding comparative period (that is, 2012 for a calendar-year entity that adopts IFRS 10 in 2013) is restated 

to be consistent with the accounting conclusion under IFRS 10, unless impracticable. 

 – Any difference between IFRS 10 carrying amounts and previous carrying amounts at the beginning of the immediately 

preceding annual period is adjusted to equity. 

 – Adjustments to previous accounting are not required for investees that will be consolidated under both IFRS 10 and the 

previous guidance in IAS 27/SIC 12 as at the date of initial application, or investees that will be unconsolidated under both 

sets of guidance as at the date of initial application. 

 – Comparative disclosures will be required for IFRS 12 disclosures in relation to subsidiaries, associates and joint 

arrangements. However, this is limited only to the period that immediately precedes the first annual period of IFRS 12 

application. Comparative disclosures are not required for interests in unconsolidated structured entities. 

  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entities (effective for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 

2014) – The amendments apply to a particular class of business that qualify as investment entities. The IASB uses the term 

‘investment entity’ to refer to an entity whose business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, 

investment income or both. An investment entity must also evaluate the performance of its investments on a fair value basis. 

Such entities could include private equity organisations, venture capital organisations, pension funds, sovereign wealth funds 

and other investment funds. Under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, reporting entities were required to consolidate 

all investees that they control (ie all subsidiaries).

  Preparers and users of financial statements have suggested that consolidating the subsidiaries of investment entities does not result 

in useful information for investors. Rather, reporting all investments, including investments in subsidiaries, at fair value, provides the 

most useful and relevant information. In response to this, the investment entities amendments provide an exception to the 

consolidation requirements in IFRS 10 and require investment entities to measure particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit 

or loss, rather than consolidate them. The amendments also set out disclosure requirements for investment entities.

 Management is currently reviewing the impact of these standards on the group.

 HOLDING COMPANY INVESTMENTS

 Basil Read Holdings Limited’s investment in subsidiaries is recognised at cost, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

 Subsidiaries

  Subsidiaries, which are those entities (including the Share Incentive Trust) in which the group has an interest of more than 

one-half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies, are consolidated. 

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 

assessing whether the group controls another entity.

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and are no longer consolidated 

from the date that control ceases.

  The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The consideration transferred for 

the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities incurred at the 

date of acquisition. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 HOLDING COMPANY INVESTMENTS (continued)

 Subsidiaries (continued)

  On acquisition, the group recognises the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, at their fair value. 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or 

at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

  The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest and the acquisition date fair value 

of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as 

goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised but tested for impairment annually. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value 

of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit and loss. 

 Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.

  If a subsidiary uses accounting policies other than those adopted in these consolidated financial statements for like 

transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements in preparing 

the consolidated financial statements.

 Transactions and non-controlling interests

  The group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the 

group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share 

acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-

controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

 GROUP ACCOUNTING

 Associates

  Associates are entities over which the group has significant influence but does not control, generally accompanying a 

shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 

method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified 

on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss. 

  The group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised in the income statement and its share 

of post-acquisition equity movements is adjusted against the cost of the investment. Unrealised gains or losses on 

transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the associates, 

except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset. When the group’s share of losses in an 

associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the group does not recognise further losses, unless the group has 

incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associates.

  Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 

the group.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 GROUP ACCOUNTING (continued)

 Jointly controlled entities

  Jointly controlled entities are incorporated entities over which the group has joint control, generally accompanying a 

shareholding of 50% of the voting rights.

  Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the equity method of accounting. Under this method the 

group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of jointly controlled entities is recognised in the income statement and 

its share of post-acquisition equity movements is adjusted against the cost of the investment. Unrealised gains or losses on 

transactions between the group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the 

jointly controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset. In most instances, 

jointly controlled entities are formed as determined by each project and for this reason no notional purchase price allocation 

is required.

 Jointly controlled operations and assets

  Jointly controlled operations are unincorporated operations over which the group has joint control.

  The group’s interest in jointly controlled operations and assets is accounted for by proportionate consolidation. The group 

combines its share of the joint ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line 

basis with similar items in the group’s financial statements.

  Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the joint venture, except where 

unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment.

 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 Functional and presentation currency

  Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The group’s financial statements are presented 

in South African rand, which is the company’s functional and presentation currency.

 Transactions and balances

  Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 

translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 

the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

 Group companies

  The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) 

that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency 

as follows:

 – Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the 

statement of financial position.

 – Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a 

reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 

and expenses are translated at the date of the transaction).

 – Equity items are translated at the closing rate.

 – All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

 Group companies (continued)

  On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of 

borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. 

When a foreign operation is sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement 

as part of the gain or loss on sale.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

 OTHER INVESTMENTS

  The group classifies its investments in equity securities as available-for-sale or fair value through profit or loss. Management 

re-evaluates such designation on a regular basis. Investments are held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in 

response to needs for liquidity, and are included in non-current assets unless management has the express intention of 

holding the investment for less than 12 months from the statement of financial position date, in which case they are included 

in current assets.

  Purchases of investments are recognised at cost on the trade date, which is the date that the group commits to purchase the 

asset. Cost of purchase includes transaction costs. Investments are subsequently carried at fair value. Realised and unrealised 

gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these investments are included in equity. The fair value of listed 

investments are based on quoted market prices. Fair values for unlisted equity securities are estimated using applicable  

price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios refined to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer. Equity securities for which 

fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognised at cost less impairment.

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Property, plant and equipment (except for investment properties) are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 

and any accumulated impairment losses. Immovable properties are classified as either owner-occupied property or 

investment property and are accounted for accordingly.

  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item and includes transfers from equity of any 

gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. The cost of an item of 

property, plant and equipment further includes the initial estimate of the costs of its dismantlement, removal or restoration 

of the site on which it was located.

  Depreciation is calculated to write off the assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives on the 

following basis:

 – Owner-occupied buildings – Straight-line basis over 20 years.

 – Major plant and equipment – Straight-line basis over periods ranging from two to 15 years.

 – Other plant and equipment – Straight-line basis over periods ranging from three to five years.

 – Furniture and fittings – Straight-line basis over periods ranging from three to five years.

 – Freehold property is not depreciated.

  Residual values and useful lives are assessed annually and any effect of changes in residual values and useful lives are 

accounted for as a change in estimate, prospectively.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

  Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are included in 

operating profit.

  Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Major renovations 

are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset.

 BORROWINGS

  Borrowings are recognised initially as the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings as interest. Borrowing 

costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred.

 CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS

  Borrowing costs, incurred in respect of property developments or capital work in progress, that require a substantial period 

to prepare assets for their intended use, are capitalised up to the date that the development of the asset is ready for its 

intended use. Other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred.

 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Goodwill

  Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired 

subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. 

Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates and is tested for impairment as part of the 

overall balance.

  Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount 

of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

  Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those 

cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in 

which the goodwill arose.

 Contract-based intangibles

  Contract-based intangibles represent construction contracts existing at date of acquisition and are recognised at fair value. 

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the contract-based intangible over the period 

of the related contracts, which range between one and 10 years.

 Marketing-related intangibles

  Marketing-related intangibles represent the value of the trademarks and trade names existing at date of acquisition and are 

recognised at fair value. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the marketing-related 

intangibles over 20 years.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 LEASED ASSETS

 Finance leases

  Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the 

leased plant and equipment or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between 

the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental 

obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is 

charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability for each period. The plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over 

the useful life of the asset unless ownership is not assured, in which case the item of plant and equipment is depreciated over 

the lease term.

 Operating leases

  Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as 

operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 

the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to 

be made by the lessee by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

 IMPAIRMENT

  Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment losses whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 

by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell 

and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are 

separately identifiable cash flows.

 INVENTORIES

  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost basis. 

Net realisable value is determined on the latest replacement cost for consumable goods. 

 DEVELOPMENT LAND

  Development land is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is assigned by specific identification and 

includes the cost of acquisition, development and borrowing costs during development. All direct and indirect costs 

attributable to development land that are incurred to prepare development land for its intended use, are capitalised up to the 

date that the development is ready for its intended use. This is recognised at the fair value of the cost when incurred. When 

development land is ready for its intended use, borrowing costs and other charges are expensed as incurred.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 LONG-TERM CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS AND CONTRACT REVENUE RECOGNITION

 Revenue and costs

  Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, 

contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. When the 

outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, contract 

revenue is recognised over the period of the contract. When it is probable that total costs will exceed total contract revenue, 

the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

  The group uses the “percentage of completion method” to determine the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in 

a given period. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the statement of 

financial position date as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract and physical completion. Costs incurred 

in the year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from contract costs in determining the stage of 

completion. They are presented as inventories, prepayments or other assets, depending on their nature.

  The group presents as an asset (work in progress) the gross amount due from customers for contract work for all contracts 

in progress for which costs plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings. Work in progress, 

progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions are included within contract debtors and retentions.

  The group presents as a liability (advance payments received for contract work) the gross amount due to customers for 

contract work for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less 

recognised losses).

 Contract debtors

  Contract debtors comprise progress billings certified to date less payments received. Retention debtors are also raised as 

part of debtors at the time. Contract debtors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of contract debtors 

is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 

original terms of receivables.

 OTHER REVENUE RECOGNITION

  Other revenue represents amounts receivable for project management services, development fees and subsidies receivable for the 

development of low-cost housing. It also includes amounts receivable for the supply of construction-related goods and services.

  Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of discounts, VAT and other 

sales-related taxes.

  Other revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred and the amount can be reliably measured.

  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate 

over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the group. 

 Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

 CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION

  The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred taxation. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except 

to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is 

also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.



Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 157

F
in

an
ci

al
 r

ev
ie

w

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

  The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of 

financial position date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 

is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the 

tax authorities.

  Deferred taxation is provided on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 

and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the statement of 

financial position liability method. Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and 

deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial recognition, 

other than in a business combination, of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit not 

the accounting profit.

  The carrying amount of a deferred taxation asset is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 

to be recovered.

  Deferred taxation is calculated at the taxation rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or 

the asset realised.

  Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal enforceable right to offset and when the deferred 

taxation relates to the same fiscal authority.

 FINANCIAL ASSETS

  The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 

and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading or those designated as fair value through profit 

or loss on initial recognition. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months, 

otherwise they are classified as non-current. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.

  Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at 

fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

category are presented in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

 Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the statement of 

financial position date. These are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables include contract and trade debtors, 

receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position.

  Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction costs, and subsequently carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

 Available-for-sale financial assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the 

other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose 

of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

  Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction costs, and subsequently carried at fair 

value. Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, investments, contract 

debtors, receivables, trade payables, leases and borrowings. The particular recognition methods are disclosed in the individual 

policy statements or notes to the financial statements.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  Cash and cash equivalents are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. For the purpose 

of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and bank balances, net of bank overdrafts.

 PROVISIONS

  Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

  Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle that obligation at the statement 

of financial position date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 Pension obligations

  Group companies have various pension schemes in accordance with the local conditions and practices in the countries in 

which they operate. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided based 

on a function of various factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a privately 

administered pension insurance plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a fund and will have no legal or 

constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits 

relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

  The liability in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement 

of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for actuarial gains/losses and past service 

cost. The defined benefit obligation is calculated every three years by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 

method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by the estimated future cash outflows using 

interest rates approximating the terms of the related liability.

  The group has elected to apply the corridor method in terms of which the portion of actuarial gains and losses recognised is 

the excess over the greater of:

 a.  10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the previous reporting period (before deducting 

plan assets); and

 b.  10% of the fair value of any plan assets at the same date, divided by the expected average remaining working lives of the 

employees participating in the fund.

 The application of the corridor method is subject to “paragraph 58 limit”.

  The “paragraph 58 limit” ensures the asset to be recognised on the group’s statement of financial position is subject to a 

maximum of the sum of any recognised actuarial losses, past service costs and the present value of any economic benefits 

available to the group in the form of refunds or reductions in future contributions.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

 Termination benefits

  Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date 

or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises termination 

benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a 

detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to 

encourage voluntary redundancy.

 Leave pay

  Accrual is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long-service leave as a result of services rendered 

by employees.

 Share-based payments

  Share options are granted to employees in terms of the scheme detailed in note 40. The net cost of share options, calculated 

as the difference between the fair value of such options at grant date and the price at which the options were granted, are 

expensed over their vesting periods. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of 

options that are expected to vest.

  The fair value of options granted is determined by using the European binomial simulation model, taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted and any market vesting conditions.

  At each statement of financial position date, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 

vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding 

adjustment to equity.

 Options exercised are equity settled through a fresh issue of shares.

 DIVIDENDS

  Dividends are recorded in the group’s financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the 

group’s shareholders.

 SEGMENT REPORTING

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 

maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 

operating segments, has been identified as the executive management committee that makes strategic decisions.

 Intersegment transfers

  Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment results include transfers between business segments. Such transfers are 

accounted for based on commercial terms and conditions at market-related prices. These transfers are eliminated 

on consolidation.

 Segment revenue and expenses

 All segment revenue and expenses are directly attributable to the segments and are disclosed at the operating profit level.

 Segment assets and liabilities

  Segment assets include all operating assets and consist principally of property, plant and equipment, inventory, contract 

debtors and retentions and receivables and prepayments.

  Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of interest-bearing borrowings, trade and other 

payables and taxation.
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2.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 Financial risk factors

  The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price 

risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. From time to time, the group 

uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

  Risk management is carried out by financial management under policies approved by the board of directors. This function 

identifies, evaluates and, in certain circumstances, hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the group’s various 

operating divisions. The board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such 

as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess liquidity.

 a. Market risk

  i. Foreign exchange risk

    The group operates mainly in sub-Saharan Africa, Australia and South America and is exposed to foreign exchange 

risk arising from various currency exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, 

recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The group is subject to transaction and 

translation exposure due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

    Management requires that group companies and divisions manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional 

currency. The group companies and divisions are required to report potential foreign currency risk exposure to the 

centralised group treasury. The group treasury will assess the risk and the possible financial impact using various 

scenario planning techniques. To manage foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and 

recognised assets and liabilities, group treasury may use forward contracts, transacted with various financial 

institutions. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities 

are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

    The group treasury’s risk management policy is to assess the anticipated cash flows of each contract individually and 

to hedge an appropriate percentage of these cash flows so as to match costs and revenues in each foreign currency.

    The group has certain investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency 

translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations is managed 

primarily through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

    At 31 December 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R4,6 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of 

foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalents, contract debtors, 

loans from associates and trade and other payables.

    At 31 December 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the euro with all other variables 

held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R8,6 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign 

exchange gains/losses on translation of euro-denominated cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables.

    At 31 December 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the British pound with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,6 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of 

foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of British pound-denominated cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 

trade and other payables.

    At 31 December 2012, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Peruvian neuvo sol with 

all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R2,2 million higher/lower, mainly as 

a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Peruvian neuvo sol-denominated contract and trade 

debtors.

   In the prior year the group had the following foreign exchange exposures:

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R5,4 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of 

foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalents, contract debtors, 

loans from associates and trade and other payables.

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the British pound with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R8,5 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of 

foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of British pound-denominated cash and cash equivalents.
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2.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Financial risk factors (continued)

 a. Market risk (continued)

  i. Foreign exchange risk (continued)

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Australian dollar with all 

other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R3,0 million higher/lower, mainly as a 

result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Australian dollar-denominated loans to jointly 

controlled entities.

    At 31 December 2011, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Botswana pula with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,5 million higher/lower, mainly as a result of 

foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Botswana pula-denominated other borrowings.

  ii. Interest rate risk

     As the group has no significant interest-bearing assets other than cash and cash equivalents, the group’s income and 

operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

    The group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the 

group to cash flow interest rate risk, which is partially offset by cash held at variable interest rates. Borrowings 

issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. The group maintains its borrowings at 

variable interest rates. During 2012 and 2011, the group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in the 

functional currency.

    At 31 December 2012, if interest rates on interest-bearing borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with 

all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been R8,8 million lower/higher, mainly as a 

result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

    At 31 December 2011, if interest rates on interest-bearing borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with 

all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been R10,3 million lower/higher, mainly as a 

result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

  iii.  Price risk

    The group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the group and classified on the 

consolidated balance sheet as available-for-sale and fair value through profit or loss financial assets. To manage this 

price risk the group diversifies its portfolio in accordance with limits set by management.

    The group holds direct investments in the equity of other entities and has also invested in unit trust products that 

are diversified in terms of the entities invested in and have a minimum guaranteed return at the end of the 

investment term. The underlying equities are publicly traded and are included in the All Share Index as quoted by the 

Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited.

    The group’s investments in equity of other entities that are publicly traded are included in the Alternative Investment 

Market (AIM) at the London Stock Exchange (LSE) and the AltX Index at the JSE Limited (JSE).

    The group is exposed to materials price risk because of the fluctuation in the price of various raw materials, 

including diesel, steel, cement and rubber. More than 80% of the contracts that the group enters into provide for 

escalation in the prices of raw materials. In these cases, the price risk is borne by the client. In the case of fixed price 

contracts, the group is exposed to price risk. To minimise this risk, price curves are determined for each type of raw 

material and the expected movement in the cost of raw materials is built into the cost of the contract.

    To minimise the exposure to price risk for the group as well as all clients, the group may enter into supplier 

agreements for the supply of raw materials at favourable rates.

    The group may, from time to time, use derivative financial instruments to hedge certain of its materials price risk 

exposures. These instruments would be evaluated in accordance with limits set by management.
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2.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Financial risk factors (continued)

 b. Credit risk

   Credit risk is managed on a group basis, except for credit risk relating to contract and trade debtors balances. Each local 

entity is responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each of their new clients before standard payment and 

delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and 

financial institutions and credit exposures to customers, including contract debtors and outstanding receivables. For banks 

and financial institutions, only those that have a minimum short-term credit rating of ‘FI’ as rated by Fitch Ratings, are 

accepted. In certain instances, country regulations may require locally registered entities to operate banking accounts with 

local banking institutions, which may not meet the minimum rating requirement. If customers are independently rated, 

these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, the risk committee assesses the credit quality of the 

customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. In cases where the risk committee 

deems the risk level to be unacceptable, payment guarantees issued by the customer are insisted upon.

   Financial instruments which potentially subject the group to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash 

equivalents as well as trade receivables. As regards cash and cash equivalents, the group deals primarily with well-known 

and established financial institutions in South Africa and over-border.

   The group’s customers are concentrated primarily in South Africa, but also exist in the rest of Africa. The majority of the 

group’s customers are concentrated in the public and mining sectors.

  Refer to note 23 for further information on the group’s credit risk profile.

 c. Liquidity risk

   Cash flow forecasting is performed by financial management. The group treasury monitors rolling forecasts of the 

group’s liquidity requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient 

headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the group does not breach borrowing 

limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration the 

group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance, compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets and, if applicable, 

external regulatory or legal requirements. A 12-month liquidity analysis is presented to the board of directors on a 

bi-annual basis.

   Surplus cash held over and above balances required for working capital management is invested in interest-bearing 

current accounts, money market deposits and time deposits, choosing instruments with appropriate maturities or 

sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient headroom as determined by the abovementioned forecasts.

  The major sources of funds for the group are as follows:

 – Undrawn facilities.

 – Available cash.

   The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 

period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 

undiscounted cash flows, including interest repayments. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as 

the impact of discounting is not significant.

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 12 months

R’000

1 – 5 years

R’000

>5 years

R’000

Total

R’000

At 31 December 2012

Interest-bearing borrowings  62 474  534 104  329 761 –  926 339 

Other borrowings – –  13 250 –  13 250 

Trade and other payables  1 950 618 248 648 – – 2 199 266

 2 013 092 782 752  343 011 – 3 138 855

At 31 December 2011

Interest-bearing borrowings  79 810  507 483  533 485 –  1 120 778 

Other borrowings – –  20 517 –  20 517 

Trade and other payables  1 554 641  38 612 – –  1 593 253 

 1 634 451  546 095  554 002 –  2 734 548
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3. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The group considers total equity and interest-bearing borrowings to comprise capital.

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as 

net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current interest-

bearing borrowings and other borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total 

equity is calculated as ‘capital and reserves’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows: 

 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

Total borrowings (notes 29 and 30)  890 417  1 046 954 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 25)  (1 046 834)  (653 729)

Net (cash)/debt  (156 417)  393 225 

Total equity  1 799 554  1 814 820 

Total capital  1 643 137  2 208 045 

Gearing ratio (9,5%) 17,8%

The group considers a gearing ratio of less than 50% to be acceptable. This is reviewed 

annually after considering market conditions and the growth goals of the group.

The group further monitors the capital ratio on the basis of the debt equity ratio, and 

manages interest-bearing liabilities with reference to the assets they are used to finance. 

The debt:equity ratio is calculated as total long-term debt divided by total equity. Total 

equity is calculated as ‘capital and reserves’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet.

Total long-term debt  327 437  538 883 

Total equity  1 799 554  1 814 820 

Debt equity ratio 18,2% 29,7%

The group considers a debt equity ratio of less than 100% to be acceptable. This is 

reviewed annually after considering market conditions and the growth goals of the group.

The ratio of interest-bearing debt to the net book value of property, plant and equipment 

and development land is calculated as follows:

Total interest-bearing borrowings (note 29)  877 167  1 027 305 

Total assets financed  1 674 502  1 564 899 

Property, plant and equipment (note 14)  1 272 127  1 166 213 

Development land (note 22)  402 375  398 686 

Ratio of interest-bearing debt to assets financed 52,4% 65,6%

The group considers a ratio of 80% or less to be acceptable. This is reviewed annually after considering market conditions 

and the growth goals of the group.

The only loan covenant in place is in the group’s subsidiaries in Namibia. This covenant requires the subsidiaries to ensure 

that its interest-bearing debt to shareholders’ funds on a consolidated basis, expressed as a percentage of shareholders’ 

funds, is not more than 100%. For the purposes of the covenant, interest-bearing debt is defined as all debts of an interest-

bearing nature, including contingent liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents, excluding amounts received as cash advance 

payments on contracts. Shareholders’ funds mean the sum of issued share capital, share premium, reserves, excluding asset 

revaluation reserves, retained income less accumulated losses plus any ceded or subordinated shareholders’ loans less any 

amounts attributable to goodwill or any other intangible assets. The loan covenant was met at 31 December 2012.
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4. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been 

defined as follows:

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:   Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)

The following table presents the group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2012:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 

Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

– equity instruments  5 615  –  6  5 621 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  –  50 812  50 812 

Total financial assets  5 615  –  50 818  56 433 

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  –  2 506  –  2 506 

The following table presents the group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2011:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 

Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

– equity instruments  10 272  31 905  6  42 183 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –  –  –  – 

Total financial assets  10 272  31 905  6  42 183 

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  –  –  –  – 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. 

A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 

group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on 

an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These 

instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily LSE and JSE-listed equity investments 

classified as available-for-sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 

determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it 

is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument 

are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

 – Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

 – The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the statement of financial 

position date.

 – Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial 

instruments.

 – The carrying value less impairment provision of contract debtors, other receivables and trade payables are assumed to 

approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these balances. The fair value of financial liabilities for 

disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate 

that is available to the group for similar instruments.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Provision for impairment of contract debtors

A provision for impairment of contract debtors is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be 

able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 

probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are 

considered indicators that the contract debtor is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the 

contract debtor’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest 

rate. Refer to note 23 for the carrying value.

Accounting for construction contracts

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, particularly as regards construction contract profit 

taking, provisions, arbitrations and claims. The resulting accounting estimates can, by definition, only approximate the actual 

results. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Refer to note 31 for 

details of the group’s contract provisions.

The group uses the “percentage of completion method” to determine the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in a 

given period. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the statement of 

financial position date as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract and physical completion. Costs incurred in 

the year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from contract costs in determining the stage of 

completion. They are presented as inventories, prepayments or other assets, depending on their nature.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its useful life to residual value. Residual values and 

useful lives are based on management’s best estimate and actual future outcomes may differ from these estimates. Refer to 

note 14 for details of the group’s property, plant and equipment.

The group annually tests whether property, plant and equipment has suffered any impairment. When performing impairment 

testing, the recoverable amount is determined for the individual asset. If the asset does not generate cash flows that are 

largely independent from other assets or groups of assets then the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units that those 

assets belong to are determined based on discounted future cash flows.

Deferred taxation

A deferred tax asset is recognised with the carry-forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

The group considered the following criteria in assessing the probability that taxable profit will be available against which the 

unused tax losses can be utilised:

 – Whether the entity has sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same 

taxable entity, which will result in taxable amounts against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

 – Whether it is probable that the entity will have taxable profits before the unused tax losses expire.

 – Whether the unused tax losses result from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur.

To the extent that it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or unused tax 

credits can be utilised, the deferred tax asset is not recognised. To determine the probability that taxable profit will be 

available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised, the group has reviewed its forecasts of secured work for the 

foreseeable future and compared that to its total tax losses.

Refer to note 18 for details of the group’s deferred tax assets.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Defined benefit plan

The defined benefit obligation calculation is subject to estimates of future contributions, mortality tables and discount rates. 

These estimates could change materially over time. The principal actuarial assumptions used for valuation purposes of the 

group’s defined benefit plan can be found in note 40(b) of this report.

Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment 

of such contingencies inherently involves an exercise of significant judgement and estimates of the outcome of future events. 

Refer to note 38 for details of the group’s contingent liabilities.

Goodwill

The group annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 

note 1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on discounted future cash flows. 

These calculations require the use of estimates.

The following elements are used in the calculation of a cash-generating unit’s value in use:

a. An estimate of the future cash flows that the entity expects to derive from the cash-generating unit.

b. Expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of those future cash flows.

c. The time value of money, represented by the current market risk-free rate of interest.

d. The price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the cash-generating unit.

e.  Other factors, such as illiquidity, that market participants would reflect in pricing the future cash flows the group expects 

to derive from the cash-generating unit.

Purchase price allocation

The purchase price allocation of an acquired company is subject to the correct determination of the fair value of the assets 

given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of exchange. Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the 

group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of subsidiaries at the date of 

acquisition is recorded as goodwill. Details of business combinations during the year are detailed in note 46.

Share-based payment

The fair value of employee share options is determined using the European binomial simulation model. The significant inputs 

into this model are discussed in note 40(e).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Financial instruments by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

31 December 2012

 Loans and 

receivables 

 R’000 

 Available-

for-sale 

 R’000 

 Held at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Assets as per statement of financial position

Loans to jointly controlled entities  77 967  –    –    77 967 

Available-for-sale financial assets  –    5 621  –    5 621 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –    –    50 812  50 812 

Contract and trade debtors  883 617  –    –    883 617 

Receivables  81 836  –    –    81 836 

Cash and cash equivalents  1 078 687  –    –    1 078 687 

Total  2 122 107  5 621  50 812  2 178 540 

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

 At amortised 

cost 

 R’000 

 At fair value 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Interest-bearing borrowings  877 167  –    877 167 

Other borrowings  13 250  –    13 250 

Trade and other payables  2 199 266  –    2 199 266 

Loans from associates  20 695  –    20 695 

Derivative financial instruments  –    2 506  2 506 

Bank overdraft  31 853  –    31 853 

Total  3 142 231  2 506  3 144 737 

31 December 2011

 Loans and 

receivables 

 R’000 

 Available-

for-sale 

 R’000 

 Held at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Assets as per statement of financial position

Loans to jointly controlled entities  56 456  –    –    56 456 

Available-for-sale financial assets  –    42 183  –    42 183 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  –    –    –    –   

Contract and trade debtors  1 308 188  –    –    1 308 188 

Receivables  112 451  –    –    112 451 

Cash and cash equivalents  716 037  –    –    716 037 

Total  2 193 132  42 183  –    2 235 315 

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

 At amortised 

cost 

 R’000 

 At fair value 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Interest-bearing borrowings  1 027 305  –    1 027 305 

Other borrowings  19 649  –    19 649 

Trade and other payables  1 593 253  –    1 593 253 

Loans to associates  37 876  –    37 876 

Derivative financial instruments –    –    –   

Bank overdraft  62 308  –    62 308 

Total  2 740 391  –    2 740 391
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired have been grouped into the following categories: 

government, multinational mining companies, listed companies, unlisted companies and individuals.

Loans to 

jointly 

controlled 

entities

R’000

 Available-

for-sale 

financial

assets 

R’000

 Financial 

assets 

at fair 

value 

through 

profit or 

loss 

R’000

 Contract 

and 

trade 

debtors 

R’000

 Receiv-

ables 

R’000

 Cash and 

cash 

equiva-

lents 

R’000

 Total 

R’000

31 December 2012

Government  –    –    –    394 008  28 730  –    422 738 

Multinational mining companies  –    –    –    30 466  –    –    30 466 

Listed companies  –    5 615  –    108 221  –    1 078 240  1 192 076 

Unlisted companies  77 967  6  50 812  307 748  52 598  447  489 578 

Individuals  –    –    –    –    508  –    508 

 77 967  5 621  50 812  840 443  81 836  1 078 687  2 135 366 

31 December 2011

Government  –    –    –    566 879  54 280  –    621 159 

Multinational mining companies  –    –    –    171 491  –    –    171 491 

Listed companies  –    42 177  –    136 509  –    715 609  894 295 

Unlisted companies  56 456  6  –    209 128  57 232  428  323 250 

Individuals  –    –    –    6 635  939  –    7 574 

 56 456  42 183  –    1 090 642  112 451  716 037  2 017 769

 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

7. OTHER INCOME

Dividends received  546  –   

Rent received  –    146 

 546  146 

8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Fair value losses  –    –   

– Fair value gains  31 659  –   

Fair value losses on financial instruments

– Interest rate swaps  (2 482)  –   

(Loss)/profit on sale of subsidiaries  (312) 24 475

Loss on sale of jointly controlled entities  (4 622) –

Profit on sale of associates 441 –

24 684 24 475

The fair value gain of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss relates to the group's investment in Lehating Mining 

(Pty) Ltd. Refer to note 20 for further details.

The fair value loss on financial instruments relates to an interest rate swap entered into by one of the group’s subsidiaries in 

Botswana. Refer to note 33 for further details.
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 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

9. OPERATING PROFIT

The following items have been (charged)/credited in arriving at operating profit:

Raw materials  (1 649 588)  (1 832 229)

Subcontractors  (1 186 455)  (1 164 351)

Staff costs (refer note 40)  (1 032 043)  (1 213 414)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Owned assets  (206 995)  (155 153)

Plant and equipment and rehabilitation asset  (200 123)  (145 297)

Furniture and fittings  (6 824)  (9 747)

Land and buildings and surface properties  (48)  (109)

Leased assets

Plant and equipment and rehabilitation asset  (79 174)  (75 544)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  (300)  (20 413)

(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (97)  4 249 

Gross amount  (113)  4 941 

Taxation  16  (692)

Profit on sale of available-for-sale financial assets  4 050  –   

Gross amount  4 979  –   

Taxation  (929)  –   

Amortisation of intangible assets  (619)  3 479 

Gross amount  (860)  325 

Taxation  241  3 154 

Auditors' remuneration  (8 674)  (7 781)

For services as auditors  (7 732)  (6 985)

For other services  (942)  (796)

Operating leases  (23 285)  (27 682)

Office equipment  –    (1 799)

Office space – contractual  (23 285)  (24 437)

Other services  –    (1 446)

Share-based payment  (60 539)  (545)

BBBEE transaction  (60 539)  –   

Share incentive scheme  –    (545)

Competition Commission penalty – accrual  (65 000)  (10 000)

Write down of development land  (26 607)  –   

10. NET FINANCE COSTS

Bank  19 845  21 131 

Customers and other  317  2 094 

Interest received  20 162  23 225 

Foreign exchange gains  8 534 22 321

Foreign exchange losses  (14 357)  (12 027)

Foreign exchange   (5 823) 10 294

Bank loans and other borrowings  (25 199)  (17 747)

Finance leases  (46 498)  (33 351)

Domestic medium-term note programme  (27 325)  (21 150)

 (99 022)  (72 248)

Less: Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets  –    5 689 

Interest paid  (99 022)  (66 559)

Net finance costs  (84 683)  (33 040)
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11. TAXATION

South African normal taxation

Current taxation  (38 383)  (41 551)

Current year  (33 452)  (41 297)

Prior year  (4 931)  (254)

Deferred taxation  52 387  2 440 

Current year  50 330  2 344 

Prior year  2 057  96 

Secondary taxation on companies (STC)

Current year –  (3 714)

Foreign taxation

Current taxation  (6 835)  (24 286)

Current year  (8 443)  (18 910)

Prior year  1 608  (5 376)

Deferred taxation  7 424  9 574 

Current year  11 394  4 499 

Prior year  (3 970)  5 075 

Total taxation charged  14 593  (57 537)

Capital gains of R0,7 million (2011: R3,9 million) have been utilised against assessed 

losses in the current year.

% %

Reconciliation of the standard rate of taxation to effective rate

South African normal rate of taxation  28,0  28,0 

Foreign taxation  (2,9)  3,8 

Losses utilised  (4,4)  (0,2)

Secondary taxation on companies (STC)  –    2,6 

Capital gains tax (CGT)  (0,1)  1,2 

Prior year underprovision  (2,9)  (0,5)

Timing differences not accounted for under deferred tax  (19,5)  10,4 

Non-taxable items  8,7  (5,2)

Effective tax rate  6,9  40,1 

The tax rate reconciliation is prepared using the tax rate applicable to the Basil Read 

group in South Africa. The impact of tax rate differences in other countries is disclosed 

as a reconciling item.

Timing differences not accounted for under deferred taxation include the result of 

certain subsidiaries where deferred taxation on assessed losses have not been 

provided.

R’000 R’000

Estimated tax losses

Total estimated tax losses of subsidiaries at the end of the financial year available for 

utilisation against future taxable income of those companies  326 129  110 785 
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(Loss)/earnings per share  (136,54)  113,88 

The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss after 

taxation of R170 383 890 (2011: profit of R140 979 246) and the weighted average 

number of shares in issue during the year of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

Headline (loss)/earnings per share  (130,84)  139,65 

The calculation of headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated 

headline loss after taxation of R163 276 861 (2011: profit of R172 885 946) and 

the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 124 786 816 

(2011: 123 797 661) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share  (136,54)  113,88 

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss 

after taxation of R170 383 890 (2011: profit of R140 979 246) and the weighted average 

number of shares in issue during the year of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share  (130,84)  139,65 

The calculation of diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the 

consolidated headline loss after taxation of R163 276 861 (2011: profit of 

R172 885 946) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year 

of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Loss)/earnings per share  (158,21)  74,50 

The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss after 

taxation of R197 423 690 (2011: profit of R92 224 093) and the weighted average 

number of shares in issue during the year of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share  (158,21)  74,50 

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss 

after taxation of R197 423 690 (2011: profit of R92 224 093) and the weighted average 

number of shares in issue during the year of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Earnings per share  21,67  39,38 

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit after taxation 

of R27 039 800 (2011: R48 755 153) and the weighted average number of shares in 

issue during the year of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

Diluted earnings per share  21,67  39,38 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit after 

taxation of R27 039 800 (2011: R48 755 153) and the weighted average number of 

shares in issue during the year of 124 786 816 (2011: 123 797 661) shares.

R’000 R’000

Reconciliation between basic (loss)/earnings, diluted (loss)/earnings and 

headline (loss)/earnings is as follows:

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings  (170 384)  140 979 

Adjusted by the after-tax effect of the following:

Loss/(profit) on sale of subsidiary  253  (21 049)

Loss on sale of jointly controlled entity  3 760 –

Profit on sale of associate  (359) –

Profit on sale of available-for-sale financial asset  (4 050) –

(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (refer note 9)  451  (4 249)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer note 9)  7 052  24 802 

Impairment of goodwill (refer note 9) –  32 403 

Headline (loss)/earnings  (163 277)  172 886 
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

Reconciliation between weighted average number of shares and diluted 

weighted average number of shares:

Weighted average number of shares  124 787  123 798 

Adjusted by: Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 40(e)) – –

Adjusted by: “A” ordinary shares – –

Diluted weighted average number of shares  124 787  123 798 

R’000 R’000

13. DIVIDENDS

Dividends paid –  37 144 

Dividend paid per share (cents) –  30,00 

Dividend declared per share (cents)* – –
* Based on the year to which the dividend relates.

A special dividend of 175 cents per share was declared on 14 March 2013 following the completion of the disposal of 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd.

No dividend was declared in respect of the 2011 financial year.

In the prior year, a final dividend of 30 cents per share in respect of the 2010 financial year was declared on 24 March 2011 

and paid on 6 June 2011.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Land and 

buildings 

R’000

 Mining 

assets 

R’000

 Plant and 

equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 

and 

fittings 

R’000

 Total 

R’000

At 1 January 2011

Cost  55 936  5 527  1 432 129  127 712  1 621 304 

Accumulated depreciation  (4 797) –  (651 199)  (91 918)  (747 914)

Net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

Year ended 31 December 2011

Opening net book amount  51 139  5 527  780 930  35 794  873 390 

Additions  43 375 –  576 321  28 214  647 910 

Disposal of subsidiary (refer note 47)  (18)  (3 190)  (3 505)  (1 743)  (8 456)

Disposals – –  (24 553)  (10 012)  (34 565)

Depreciation  (1 005) –  (229 390)  (11 842)  (242 237)

Impairment  (619)  (2 337)  (20 947)  (899)  (24 802)

Exchange differences – –  16 602  667  17 269 

Transferred to assets held for sale  (62 296) – – –  (62 296)

Closing net book amount  30 576 –  1 095 458  40 179  1 166 213 

At 31 December 2011

Cost  35 923 –  1 957 063  122 523  2 115 509 

Accumulated depreciation  (5 347) –  (861 605)  (82 344)  (949 296)

Net book amount  30 576 –  1 095 458  40 179  1 166 213 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

 Land and 

buildings 

R’000

 Mining 

assets 

R’000

 Plant and 

equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 

and 

fittings 

R’000

 Total 

R’000

Year ended 31 December 2012

Opening net book amount  30 576 –  1 095 458  40 179  1 166 213 

Additions  3 523 –  477 746  20 424  501 693 

Disposals  (3 816) –  (48 670)  (1 876)  (54 362)

Depreciation  (1 667) –  (281 426)  (17 343)  (300 436)

Impairment  (300) –  (6 752) –  (7 052)

Exchange differences  27 –  (170)  155  12 

Transferred to assets held for sale  (4 064) –  (5 912)  (23 965)  (33 941)

Closing net book amount  24 279 –  1 230 274  17 574  1 272 127 

At 31 December 2012

Cost  26 599 –  2 276 385  39 912  2 342 896 

Accumulated depreciation  (2 320) –  (1 046 111)  (22 338)  (1 070 769)

Net book amount  24 279 –  1 230 274  17 574  1 272 127 

The impairment in the current year relates to specific items of plant in the engineering division. The recoverable amount of 

this plant was externally valued based on fair value less costs to sell which was determined to be higher than value in use. 

Due to the specialised nature and age of the plant concerned, a forced sale value was used as the recoverable amount.

Book value of plant and equipment subject to instalment sale agreements (refer note 29) are as follows:

 Land and 

buildings 

R’000

 Mining 

assets 

R’000

 Plant and 

equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 

and 

fittings 

R’000

 Total 

R’000

At 31 December 2012

Instalment sale agreements

Cost – –  797 568 –  797 568 

Accumulated depreciation – –  (247 475) –  (247 475)

– –  550 093 –  550 093 

At 31 December 2011

Instalment sale agreements

Cost – –  780 920 –  780 920 

Accumulated depreciation – –  (142 995) –  (142 995)

– –  637 925 –  637 925 

A full register of the group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office.

Assets-under-construction, included in plant and equipment, amount to R4,3 million (2011: R13,5 million).



174

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

 Goodwill 

R’000

 Contract-

based 

intangibles 

R’000

 Marketing-

related 

intangibles

R’000 

 Total 

R’000

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2011

Cost  801 828  80 177  27 119  909 124 

Accumulated amortisation –  (64 585)  (1 356)  (65 941)

Accumulated impairment – – – –

Net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

Year ended 31 December 2011

Opening net book amount  801 828  15 592  25 763  843 183 

Amortisation charge –  (9 429)  (1 356)  (10 785)

Impairment – Sladden International  (32 403) – –  (32 403)

Closing net book amount  769 425  6 163  24 407  799 995 

At 31 December 2011

Cost  801 828  80 177  27 119  909 124 

Accumulated amortisation –  (74 014)  (2 712)  (76 726)

Accumulated impairment  (32 403) – –  (32 403)

Net book amount  769 425  6 163  24 407  799 995 

Year ended 31 December 2012

Opening net book amount  769 425  6 163  24 407  799 995 

Amortisation charge –  (860)  (1 130)  (1 990)

Transferred to assets held for sale  (362 039) –  (23 277)  (385 316)

Closing net book amount  407 386  5 303 –  412 689 

At 31 December 2012

Cost 439 789  80 177 – 519 966

Accumulated amortisation –  (74 874) – (74 874)

Accumulated impairment  (32 403) – –  (32 403)

Net book amount  407 386  5 303 –  412 689 

Goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash-generating units identified according to the business segments that are 

expected to benefit from the business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the following 

business segments:

 2012

R’000 

 2011 

R’000

Construction  282 097  282 097 

Mining  34 779  34 779 

Developments – –

Engineering  90 510  452 549 

 407 386  769 425 
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The group tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if there are indicators that goodwill might be impaired. 

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use 

cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period. Cash flows beyond 

the one-year period are extrapolated up to between two and three years using an estimated growth rate of 5%. These cash 

flow projections are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 19,5%.

The goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life. Goodwill is tested for impairment and any subsequent losses are taken 

to the income statement.

The impairment charge in the prior year arose due to the poor financial performance of Sladden International (Botswana) 

(Pty) Ltd. Value-in-use calculations determined according to the method detailed above resulted in the group recognising an 

impairment charge of R32,4 million in the 2011 financial year. No class of asset other than goodwill was impaired.

All cash-generating units to which goodwill applies have been tested for impairment in the year under review. None of these 

units were found to be impaired.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the Valente Brothers group was determined to have a 

finite life based on the expected duration of the longest contract in the acquired group. The contract-based intangible was 

written off over a period of 17 months, ending in November 2011.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the TWP group was determined to have a finite life 

based on the expected duration of the longest contract in the acquired group. The contract-based intangible was written 

off over a period of 24 months, ending in December 2011. 

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd has been determined to 

have a finite life based on the expected duration of the property development. It is being amortised over a maximum period 

of 120 months, of which 74 months are remaining.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the Gerolemou/Mvela Phanda group was determined to 

have a finite life based on the longest contract in the acquired group. The contract-based intangible asset was written off over 

a period of 24 months, ending in August 2011.

The marketing-related intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of the TWP group has been determined to have a finite 

life and is being amortised over a maximum period of 240 months, of which 206 months are remaining. This marketing-

related intangible forms part of the TWP entity that is being disposed of and has been reclassified as an asset held for sale.

The amortisation charge has been included in ‘Depreciation, impairment and amortisation’ in the income statement 

(refer note 9).
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16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Shares at cost  5 772  15 771 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  575  3 482 

Foreign exchange movements  (1 078)  (1 078)

Total investment in jointly controlled entities 5 269 18 175

Loans to jointly controlled entities  77 967  56 456 

Less: Current portion transferred to current assets –  (16 580)

Total non-current investment in jointly controlled entities  83 236  58 051 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances

At the beginning of the year  74 631  20 423 

Acquisition of jointly controlled entity  1  56 449 

Shares at cost  1  10 000 

Loan account acquired –  46 449 

Disposal of jointly controlled entity  (8 622) –

Shares at cost  (10 000) –

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated loss  1 378 –

Recognition of jointly controlled entity at fair value on acquisition –  5 730 

Share of profits for the year after tax  (4 285)  (2 957)

Gross amount  (5 951)  (4 107)

Taxation  1 666  1 150 

Loans to jointly controlled entities  31 206  526 

Loans recovered from jointly controlled entities  (9 695)  (4 462)

Foreign exchange differences –  (1 078)

Balance at the end of the year  83 236  74 631 

The following information relates to the company’s direct and indirect interest in jointly 

controlled entities including the group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entities:

Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd –  8 622 

Shares at cost –  10 000 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated loss –  (1 378)

Loans to jointly controlled entities – –

Foreign exchange movements – –

Number of shares held: 0 (2011: 50)

Proportion owned: 0% (2011: 50%)

Nature of business: Energy logistics

Savanna City Developments (Pty) Ltd  

(previously Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Ltd)  16 317  15 611 

Shares at cost  1  1 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit – –

Loans to jointly controlled entities  16 316  15 610 

Foreign exchange movements – –

Number of shares held: 50 (2011: 50)

Proportion owned: 50% (2011: 50%)

Nature of business: Mixed integrated housing development
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R’000
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 R’000

16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd  31 813 –

Shares at cost  1 –

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  1 312 –

Loans to jointly controlled entities  30 500 –

Foreign exchange movements – –

Number of shares held: 50 (2011: 0)

Proportion owned: 50% (2011: 0%)

Nature of business: Property investment company

TWSP (Pty) Ltd (previously TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd)  31 182  45 906 

Shares at cost  5 730  5 730 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated loss  (5 762)  (733)

Loans to jointly controlled entities  32 292  41 987 

Foreign exchange movements  (1 078)  (1 078)

Number of shares held: 5 000 (2011: 5 000)

Proportion owned: 50% (2011: 50%)

Nature of business: Provision of EPCM work

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Ltd  3 924  4 492 

Shares at cost  40  40 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  5 025  5 593 

Loans from jointly controlled entities  (1 141)  (1 141)

Foreign exchange movements – –

Number of shares held: 40 000 (2011: 40 000)

Proportion owned: 50% (2011: 50%)

Nature of business: Mineral processing plant design and control engineering

 83 236  74 631 

During the year, the group acquired 50% of Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd. Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd is the 

owner of the Basil Read head office campus.

On 1 January 2012, the group disposed of its 50% stake in Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R4 million. 

The group acquired its 50% interest in Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd during the 2011 financial year for a purchase consideration 

of R10 million.

In the prior year, the group disposed of 50% of TWSP (Pty) Ltd (previously TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd) for a sale consideration 

of R5,7 million. Previously disclosed as a subsidiary, TWSP (Pty) Ltd was reclassified as a jointly controlled entity.

The directors value the unlisted investment in jointly controlled entities at R83 236 119 (2011: R74 631 155). 

This approximates its fair value.

Refer to note 43 for further details regarding the investments in jointly controlled entities.
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R’000

 2011 

 R’000

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Shares at cost  9 965  10 225 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  55 727  6 630 

Foreign exchange differences  641  187 

Total investment in associates 66 333 17 042

Loans from associates  (20 695)  (37 876)

 45 638  (20 834)

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances

At the beginning of the year  (20 834)  1 413 

Acquisition of associate  3 169  10 000 

Disposal of associate  (3 429)  –   

Share of profits for the year after tax  49 097  6 708 

Gross amount  63 573  6 614 

Taxation  (14 476)  94 

Loans to associates  17 466  5 689 

Loans recovered from associates  (285)  (44 831)

Foreign exchange differences  454  187 

Balance at the end of the year  45 638  (20 834)

The following information relates to the company’s direct and indirect interest in 

associate companies including the group’s net investment in the associate:

Beaufort West Energy Holding (Pty) Ltd  6 215  –   

Shares at cost  3 169  –   

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  2 007  –   

Loans to associates  1 039  –   

Foreign exchange movements  –    –   

Number of shares held: 23 (2011: 0)

Proportion owned: 23% (2011: 0%)

Nature of business: Alternative energy production

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd  7 883  3 834 

Shares at cost  32  32 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated loss  (381)  (127)

Loans to associates  8 232  3 929 

Foreign exchange movements  –    –   

Number of shares held: 20 (2011: 20)

Proportion owned: 20% (2011: 20%)

Nature of business: Construction of roads, buildings and civil engineering structures

Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd  11 377  (38 025)

Shares at cost  –    –   

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  55 644  6 619 

Loans from associates  (44 908)  (44 831)

Foreign exchange movements  641  187 

Number of shares held: 28 (2011: 28)

Proportion owned: 28% (2011: 28%)

Nature of business: Opencast mining
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 R’000

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd  19 754  12 649 

Shares at cost  6 571  10 000 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated loss  (1 590)  –   

Loans to associates  14 773  2 649 

Foreign exchange movements  –    –   

Number of shares held: 23 (2011: 35)

Proportion owned: 23% (2011: 35%)

Nature of business: Alternative energy production

Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd  409  708 

Shares at cost  193  193 

Attributable post-acquisition net accumulated profit  47  138 

Loans to associates  169  377 

Foreign exchange movements  –    –   

Number of shares held: 49 (2011: 49)

Proportion owned: 49% (2011: 49%)

Nature of business: Distributor and sprayer of bituminous and tar products

 45 638  (20 834)

During the year, the group acquired a 23% interest in Beaufort West Energy Holding (Pty) Ltd for a purchase consideration  

of R3,2 million.

During the year, the group disposed of a 12% interest in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd for a sale consideration of R3,9 million. 

The group acquired its 35% stake in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd during the 2011 financial year for a purchase consideration  

of R10 million.

In the prior year, the group acquired a 28% interest in Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd for no consideration.

The directors value the unlisted investment in associates at R90 545 837 (2011: R23 996 798), excluding the loan from Majwe  

Mining Joint Venture, which is valued at R44 907 893 (2011: R44 831 007). This approximates its fair value.

Refer to note 44 for further details regarding the investments in associates.
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R’000
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 R’000

18. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method 
using a principal tax rate of the fiscal authority as indicated below:

Botswana: 22% (2011: 22%)

Namibia: 34% (2011: 34%)

South Africa: 28% (2011: 28%)

Zambia: 35% (2011: 35%)

The movement on the deferred taxation account is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year  15 021  4 025 

Movements during the year attributable to:

Disposal of subsidiaries –  (9 395)

Temporary differences  60 105  20 960 

Transferred to assets held for sale  1 245  (610)

Forex adjustment  1  41 

Balance at the end of the year  76 372  15 021 

The movement in the group’s deferred taxation asset during the year is as follows:

 Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
R’000

 Provisions, 
accruals and 

retentions 
R’000

 Assessed 
losses and 

other 
R’000

 Total 
R’000

Balance as at 1 January 2011  (9 506)  41 891  46 950  79 335 

Disposal of subsidiaries  –  –  (9 395)  (9 395)

Credited/(charged) to the income statement  (9 554)  21 611  (13 021)  (964)

Charged to the statement of comprehensive income  –  –  (182)  (182)

Transferred to assets held for sale  –  –  (610)  (610)

Foreign exchange differences  –  –  801  801 

Balance as at 31 December 2011  (19 060)  63 502  24 543  68 985 

Credited/(charged) to the income statement  5 850  30 721  19 793  56 364 

Credited to the statement of comprehensive income  –  –  1 092  1 092 

Transferred to assets held for sale  2 458  –  (3 679)  (1 221)

Foreign exchange differences  3  –  (22)  (19)

Balance as at 31 December 2012  (10 749)  94 223  41 727  125 201 

Balance as at 1 January 2011  (75 001)  10 296  (10 605)  (75 310)

Credited/(charged) to the income statement  21 308  (10 326)  11 124  22 106 

Foreign exchange differences  (788)  28  –  (760)

Balance as at 31 December 2011  (54 481)  (2)  519  (53 964)

Credited/(charged) to the income statement  10 357  (9 788)  2 080  2 649 

Transferred to assets held for sale  –  2 901  (435)  2 466 

Foreign exchange differences  32  (12)  –  20 

Balance as at 31 December 2012  (44 092)  (6 901)  2 164  (48 829)

Combined balance as at 31 December 2011  (73 541)  63 500  25 062  15 021 

Combined balance as at 31 December 2012  (54 841)  87 322  43 891  76 372 

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 

Deferred tax has not been provided on estimated assessed losses of subsidiary companies amounting to R192,8 million 
(2011: R51,3 million).

Management deems the recognised deferred tax asset as recoverable.
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Unlisted investments

At the beginning of the year  31 911  24 844 

Additions  1 157  4 628 

Mark-to-market adjustment through equity 1 557 2 439

Disposals  (34 619) –

Investment at cost (29 640) –

Mark-to-market adjustment through equity (4 979) –

At the end of the year  6  31 911 

The following information relates to the group’s interest in unlisted investments:

Stanlib investment –  31 905 

The group held an investment product with Stanlib Asset Management. 

The underlying investment mainly comprised a diversified portfolio of listed equity 

securities. An additional R1,2 million (2011: R4,6 million) was invested in the 

product during the year. The investment matured in April 2012.

Desbel Sewe (Pty) Ltd  6  6 

Mvela Phanda Construction (Pty) Ltd holds an investment in Desbel Sewe (Pty) 

Ltd, a hotel management company.

The directors value the unlisted investments at R5 993 (2011: R31 910 685). 

This approximates their fair value.

Listed investments

At the end of the year  5 615  10 272 

At the beginning of the year  10 272  11 420 

Additions  2 612 –

Disposals –  (6)

Mark-to-market adjustment through equity  (5 366)  (1 142)

Transferred to assets held for sale  (1 903) –

The following information relates to the group’s interest in listed investments:

Through the TWP group, the group holds an investment in Bindura Nickel 

Corporation (BNC), listed on the Zimbabwean Stock Exchange with operations 

in Zimbabwe.  This investment was transferred to assets held for sale.

The group holds an investment in African Eagle Resources plc, a UK-listed 

mineral exploration and development company operating in Zambia, Tanzania 

and Mozambique.

The carrying value of listed investments approximates their fair value.

 5 621  42 183 
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Unlisted investments

At the beginning of the year – –

Additions  19 153 –

Mark-to-market adjustment through profit and loss  31 659 –

At the end of the year  50 812 –

The following information relates to the group’s interest in unlisted investments:

Lehating Mining (Pty) Ltd

On 1 October 2012, the group acquired a 13,3% investment in Lehating Mining 

(Pty) Ltd, a mining company.  50 812 –

The directors value the unlisted investments at R50 812 444 (2011: Rnil). 

This approximates their fair value.

 50 812 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented within “Investing 

activities” in the statement of cash flows.

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 

recorded in “Other gains/(losses) – net” in the income statement (note 8).

21. INVENTORIES

Consumables  77 475  41 666 

Finished goods  374  463 

Spares  3 387  728 

 81 236  42 857 

22. DEVELOPMENT LAND

Development land  402 375  398 686 

Development land comprises land purchased for the purposes of property 

development and subsequent resale. Due to the nature of property developments, 

the full value of development land may not be realised in the coming 12-month period.

Reconciliation of carrying value of development land

Purchase consideration of land  44 472  44 765 

Capitalisation of development costs and installation of bulk services  342 180  311 194 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs  42 330  42 727 

Write down of development land to net realisable value  (26 607) –

 402 375  398 686 

Movements in development land are as follows:

Opening balance  398 686  351 938 

Sale of erven  (2 561)  (12 682)

Sale consideration of land  (293)  (1 452)

Capitalisation of development costs and installation of bulk services  (1 871)  (9 266)

Capitalisation of borrowing costs  (397)  (1 964)

Capitalisation of development costs and installation of bulk services  32 857  53 741 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs –  5 689 

Write down of development land to net realisable value  (26 607) –

 402 375  398 686 

The write down in the current year relates to the group’s investment in Rolling Hills Estate, a lifestyle residential 

development in the Mpumalanga highlands.
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23. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS

Contract debtors 550 682  830 530 

Contract debtors 558 307  842 460 

Provision for impairment of contract debtors  (7 625)  (11 930)

Trade receivables 40 792  26 744 

Trade receivables 41 531  27 654 

Provision for impairment of trade receivables  (739)  (910)

Retention debtors  89 682  128 786 

Retention debtors  90 650  129 754 

Provision for impairment of retention debtors  (968)  (968)

Work in progress  202 461  322 128 

Costs incurred to date  8 115 264  6 040 122 

Profit recognised to date 489 636  (59 646)

Progress payments received and receivable  (8 402 439)  (5 658 348)

 883 617  1 308 188 

Contract debtors to the value of R12 million (2011: R12 million) of Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Ltd are ceded as security 

for the bank overdraft facilities in place. At year-end, the total utilised overdraft facility amounted to Rnil (2011: Rnil) 

(refer note 25).

The age analysis of contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors is as follows:

31 December 2012

Contract debtors

Fully 

performing

R’000

Past due 

but not 

impaired

R’000

Impaired

R’000

Total

R’000

Government  227 827  3 778  48 231 653

Multinational mining companies 22 865 662  2 534 26 061

Listed companies 77 374 5 601 – 82 975

Unlisted companies 194 664 17 879 5 043 217 586

Individuals –  32 –  32 

522 730 27 952 7 625 558 307

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months

R’000 

 Total 

R’000

Past due balances 10 766 5 513 11 673 27 952

No security is held against these balances.
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23. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS (continued)

31 December 2012

Trade receivables

Fully 

performing

R’000

Past due 

but not 

impaired

R’000

Impaired

R’000

Total

R’000

Government – – – –

Multinational mining companies 262 – – 262

Listed companies – – – –

Unlisted companies 25 310 15 220 739 41 269

Individuals – – – –

25 572 15 220 739 41 531

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months

R’000 

 Total 

R’000

Past due balances 10 392 4 813 15 15 220

No security is held against these balances.

Retention debtors

Fully 

performing

R’000

Past due 

but not 

impaired

R’000

Impaired

R’000

Total

R’000

Government  71 266 – –  71 266 

Multinational mining companies – – – –

Listed companies  4 777 – –  4 777 

Unlisted companies  13 639 –  968  14 607 

Individuals – – – –

 89 682 –  968  90 650 

No security is held against these balances.

31 December 2011

Contract debtors

Fully 

performing

R’000

Past due 

but not 

impaired

R’000

Impaired

R’000

Total

R’000

Government  284 386  90 999  1 356  376 741 

Multinational mining companies  120 570  89 626  7 501  217 697 

Listed companies  88 660  12 239  135  101 034 

Unlisted companies  128 833  10 542  2 853  142 228 

Individuals  4 675 –  85  4 760 

 627 124  203 406  11 930  842 460 
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23. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS (continued)

31 December 2011 (continued)

Contract debtors (continued)

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months

R’000 

 Total 

R’000

Past due balances  167 052  14 449  21 905  203 406 

No security was held against these balances.

Trade receivables

Fully 

performing

R’000

Past due 

but not 

impaired

R’000

Impaired

R’000

Total

R’000

Government – – – –

Multinational mining companies – – – –

Listed companies – – – –

Unlisted companies  12 605  14 139  910  27 654 

Individuals – – – –

 12 605  14 139  910  27 654 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months

R’000

4 – 6 months

R’000

 7 – 12 months

R’000 

 Total 

R’000

Past due balances  14 124 –  15  14 139 

No security was held against these balances.

Retention debtors

Fully 

performing

R’000

Past due 

but not 

impaired

R’000

Impaired

R’000

Total

R’000

Government  115 063 – –  115 063 

Multinational mining companies  270 – –  270 

Listed companies  7 530 – –  7 530 

Unlisted companies  5 923 –  968  6 891 

Individuals – – – –

 128 786 –  968  129 754 

No security was held against these balances.
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23. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the group’s contract debtors, trade receivables, retention 

debtors and work in progress are denominated in the following currencies:

South African rand 630 152  1 070 838 

US dollar 130 697  116 069 

Botswana pula 98 229  121 169 

Mozambique meticais  24 539  112 

 883 617  1 308 188 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of contract debtors are as follows:

At the beginning of the year  11 930  18 453 

Provision for impairment 3 558  340 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  (362)  (6 632)

Unused amounts reversed –  (231)

Transferred to assets held for sale  (7 501) –

7 625  11 930 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

At the beginning of the year  910  1 125 

Provision for impairment 1 105  1 630 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  (1 276)  (1 845)

Unused amounts reversed – –

739  910 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of retention debtors are 

as follows:

At the beginning of the year  968  968 

Provision for impairment – –

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible – –

Unused amounts reversed – –

 968  968 

The creation and release of provision for impaired contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors have been 

included in “Contracting and other costs” in the income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally 

written off, when there is no expectation of recovering amounts due.

The other classes within contract and trade debtors do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 

The group may hold payment guarantees as security.
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24. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments  5 345  18 773 

Staff debtors  508  939 

Deposits  12 017  8 501 

VAT receivable  28 730  54 280 

Other receivables  52 598  57 232 

 99 198  139 725 

The following receivables are included as part of other receivables:

–  An amount of R23,1 million (2011: R22,2 million) due from the non-controlling 

interest party of Basil Read Construction Middle East LLC.

–  An amount of R9,2 million (2011: R9,1 million) due from a subcontractor relating to 

an advance given to the subcontractor to procure plant and equipment.

–  Various sundry amounts due to the group for plant hire, transport recoveries and sale 

of formwork.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances  1 076 693  713 911 

Cash on hand  1 994  2 126 

 1 078 687  716 037 

Bank overdraft  (31 853)  (62 308)

 1 046 834  653 729 

The group’s policy is to hold deposits with banks and financial institutions that have a minimum short-term credit rating of 

‘F1’ as rated by Fitch Ratings. In certain instances, country regulations may require locally registered entities to operate 

banking accounts with local banking institutions, which may not meet the minimum rating requirement.

26. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

During the 2012 financial year, a decision was made by the group’s management to dispose of TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd in line 

with the strategy to focus on organic growth and reduce debt. TWP Holdings and its subsidiaries formed part of the 

engineering segment. The sale was concluded during the 2013 financial year. 

In terms of IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations the discontinued operation must be tested for 

impairment. The fair value of the discontinued operation exceeds the carrying amount of the discontinued operation and no 

impairment is required.

The assets and liabilities relating to Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd (part of the construction segment) were presented 

as held for sale in the 2011 financial year following the approval of the group’s management to sell the company. The sale was 

concluded during the 2012 financial year. Refer to note 47 for further details relating to the disposal.
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26. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

Assets and liabilities

Assets of company classified as held for sale

Property, plant and equipment  33 941  62 296 

Intangible asset  385 316 –

Deferred income tax assets  1 221  610 

Available-for-sale financial asset  1 903 –

Contract and trade debtors  310 492 –

Current income tax asset  8 729 –

Receivables and prepayments  21 111  3 837 

Cash and cash equivalents  10 827  24 

 773 540  66 767 

Liabilities of company classified as held for sale

Deferred income tax liabilities  2 466 –

Trade and other payables  144 558  107 

Current income tax liabilities  773 –

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  35 927 –

Bank overdraft  11 939 –

 195 663  107 

Income statement of discontinued operations

Revenue  1 340 681  909 511 

Expenses  (1 290 363)  (833 746)

Net finance costs  7 550  (2 967)

Profit before tax of discontinued operations  57 868  72 798 

Tax  (30 828)  (24 043)

Profit after tax of discontinued operations  27 040  48 755 

Movement in fair value adjustment reserve  339  (1 593)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations  27 379  47 162 

Cash flows of discontinued operations

Operating cash flows  63 666  54 363 

Investing cash flows  (17 876)  (27 201)

Financing cash flows – –

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents –  (1 653)

Total cash flows  45 790  25 509 
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27. STATED CAPITAL

 Number 

 No par 

value 

ordinary 

shares 

 No par 

value “A” 

ordinary 

shares 

Treasury 

shares  Total 

of shares  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 

Ordinary shares

Authorised

300 000 000 ordinary no par value shares  

(2011: 150 000 000)

Issued

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the beginning of the year  123 797 536  948 687 –  (20)  948 667 

Add: Previously held as treasury stock  125 – –  1  1 

At the end of the year  123 797 661  948 687 –  (19)  948 668 

Year ended 31 December 2012

At the beginning of the year 123 797 661  948 687 –  (19)  948 668 

Ordinary shares issued  7 883 238  99 014 – –  99 014 

Add: Previously held as treasury stock  5 000 – –  7  7 

At the end of the year  131 685 899  1 047 701 –  (12)  1 047 689 

“A” ordinary shares

Authorised

33 607 507 “A” ordinary no par value shares  

(2011: nil)

Issued

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the beginning and end of the year – – – – –

Year ended 31 December 2012

At the beginning of the year – – – – –

“A” ordinary shares issued  33 607 507 –  336 –  336 

At the end of the year  33 607 507 –  336 –  336 

Total share capital

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the end of the year  123 797 661  948 687 –  (19)  948 668 

Year ended 31 December 2012

At the end of the year 165 293 406  1 047 701  336  (12)  1 048 025 

All shares issued by the company are fully paid up.

The unissued shares were not placed under the control of the directors by resolution of the shareholders until the 

forthcoming annual general meeting. The directors are not authorised, by resolution of the shareholders and until the 

forthcoming annual general meeting, to issue ordinary shares for cash.
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27. STATED CAPITAL (continued)

Reconciliation of closing balance
 Number 

of shares 

 Total 

R’000

Year ended 31 December 2011

Group issued share capital  123 797 661  948 668 

Treasury shares held by the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 40)  13 382  19 

 123 811 043  948 687 

Year ended 31 December 2012

Group issued share capital 165 293 406  1 048 025 

Treasury shares held by the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 40)  8 382  12 

 165 301 788  1 048 037 

2012
 R’000 

2011
 R’000 

28. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Balance at the beginning of the year  22 901  6 404 

Transactions with non-controlling interest parties (refer notes 46 and 47) –  4 843 

Disposal of subsidiary (refer note 47) –  15 704 

Total comprehensive income for the year  1 867  (4 050)

Balance at the end of the year  24 768  22 901 
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Instalment sale agreements

Total amount outstanding  498 622  587 591 

The instalment sale agreements for plant and equipment bear interest between the 
prime overdraft rate plus 5% and prime less 2% per annum and are repayable in 
monthly instalments of between R2 865 and R178 584 over a period of between one 
and five years.

The agreements are secured by plant and equipment with a book value of  
R550 093 221 (2011: R637 924 904 ). Refer to note 14 for further details.

Banking loan

Total amount outstanding –  61 111 

A banking loan was entered into in prior years, in terms of which interest was payable 
at the local prime overdraft rate less 0,26%. The capital portion of the loan was 
repayable in 36 equal monthly instalments of R5 555 556. The final payment was made 
in November 2012. 

Domestic medium-term note programme

Total amount outstanding  378 545  378 603 

On 14 December 2010, the group raised R125 million under this programme. The 
note, BSR04, was listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa on 20 December 2010 
and bore interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 2,35%. Interest was 
payable quarterly. This bond was fully redeemed on 20 June 2012.

On 28 June 2011, the group raised R150 million under this programme. The note, 
BSR05, was listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa on 30 June 2011 and bears 
interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 2,47%. Interest is payable 
quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 1 July 2013. The interest rate applicable at 
year-end was 7,545%.

On 2 December 2011, the group raised R100 million under this programme. The note, 
BSR07, was listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa on 7 December 2011 and 
bore interest at the six-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 0,40%. Interest was 
payable on maturity. This bond was fully redeemed on 7 June 2012.

On 5 June 2012, the group raised R100 million under this programme. The note, 
BSR08, was listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa on 7 June 2012 and bore 
interest at the six-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 0,45%. Interest was payable on 
maturity. This bond was fully redeemed on 7 December 2012.

On 18 June 2012, the group raised R125 million under this programme. The note, BSR09,  
was listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa on 20 June 2012 and bears interest  
at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 2,00%. Interest is payable quarterly and  
the capital sum is payable on 20 December 2013. The interest applicable at year-end was 7,125%.

On 4 December 2012, the group raised R100 million under this programme. The note,  
BSR10, was listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa on 7 December 2012 and  
bears interest at the six-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 0,45%. Interest is payable  
on maturity and the capital sum is payable on 7 June 2013. The interest applicable at  
year-end was 5,806%.

 877 167  1 027 305 

Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities  (562 980)  (508 071)
Instalment sale agreements  (184 435)  (218 357)
Banking loan –  (61 111)
Domestic medium-term note programme  (378 545)  (228 603)

Total non-current interest-bearing borrowings  314 187  519 234 
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The present value of future minimum payments on instalment sale agreements is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months  184 435  218 357 
Due between 1 and 5 years  314 187  369 234 

Thereafter – –

 498 622  587 591 

The present value of future minimum payments on banking loans is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months –  61 111 
Due between 1 and 3 years – –

Thereafter – –

–  61 111 

The present value of future minimum payments on the domestic medium-term note 
programme is as follows:

Due within the next 12 months  378 545  228 603 

Due between 1 and 2 years –  150 000 

Thereafter – –

 378 545  378 603 

The fair value of interest-bearing borrowings is as follows:

Instalment sale agreements  498 622  587 591 

Banking loans –  61 111 

Domestic medium-term note programme  378 545  378 603 

 877 167  1 027 305 

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in the 
following currencies:

South African rand  712 785  768 924 

Botswana pula  164 382  258 381 

 877 167  1 027 305 

The group has R1,0 billion (2011: R1,0 billion) undrawn borrowing facilities at 
the end of the year. These facilities are annual facilities and are subject to  
review at various dates during 2013.

30. OTHER BORROWINGS

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd  13 250 13 250

Deferred payment: Previous shareholders of Sladden International  
(Botswana) (Pty) Ltd – 6 399

Total amount outstanding  13 250 19 649

Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities – –

Total non-current other borrowings  13 250 19 649

The carrying amounts of other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

South African rand  13 250 13 250

Botswana pula – 6 399

 13 250 19 649
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30. OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Due to a continued dispute with the previous shareholders of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd, the timing of all future 
payments is uncertain.

The deferred payment relating to the acquisition of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd was payable annually in 
April in three instalments. The first instalment of R19,7 million consisted of a guaranteed payment of R6,6 million and a 
R13,1 million payment that was conditional on the company meeting a profit warranty. Due to the company’s inability 
to meet this profit warranty, the conditional portion of the deferred payment was reversed in prior years. The second 
instalment of R7,9 million was conditional on the company meeting a profit warranty. The third and final instalment 
comprises a guaranteed payment of R10,3 million and a R10,6 million payment that is conditional on the company meeting a 
profit warranty. Due to the company’s inability to meet profit warranties in prior years, the remaining conditional payments 
were reversed in the prior year. The final guaranteed payment was reversed in the year under review due to a legal 
settlement reached with the previous shareholder and is included in “Administration and other operating overheads” in the 
income statement.

2012
 R’000 

2011
 R’000 

31. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Employee provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  59 013  68 599 

Provisions created  150 275  135 355 

Provisions reversed  (73 770)  (61 590)

Provisions utilised  (52 521)  (83 709)

Transfer to liability held for sale  (35 927) –

Foreign exchange differences  (12)  358 

Balance at the end of the year  47 058  59 013 

Employee provisions consist mainly of employee incentives which are awarded based 
on individual performance and are paid within three months of the financial year-end.

Contract provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year  161 890  68 449 

Provisions created 163 341  160 034 

Provisions reversed  (70 907)  (38 652)

Provisions utilised  (138 467)  (27 941)

Balance at the end of the year  115 857  161 890 

Contract provisions consist mainly of provision for losses to end-of-site and provision 
for end-of-site maintenance period.

Other provisions

Balance at the beginning of the year –  15 187 

Provisions created – –

Provisions reversed – –

Provisions utilised –  (15 187)

Balance at the end of the year – –

Other provisions consist mainly of provisions for onerous leases.

Balance at the end of the year – current provisions  162 915  220 903 

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors and accruals  1 119 569  1 079 316 

Shareholders for dividends  584  622 

Advance payments received for contract work  1 079 113  513 315 

 2 199 266  1 593 253 
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2012
 R’000 

2011
 R’000 

33. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value loss  2 482 –

Foreign exchange differences  24 –

 2 506 –

The derivative financial instrument relates to an interest rate swap in place in one of 
the group’s subsidiaries in Botswana, whereby a floating interest rate on instalment 
sale agreements was swapped for a fixed interest rate.

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share-based payment

– BBBEE transaction  60 539 –

– Share incentive scheme –  545 

 60 539  545 

The share-based payment in the current year relates to a BBBEE transaction that was successfully concluded with  
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd (SIOC).

In terms of the transaction, the group issued 7 883 238 ordinary shares at an issue price of R12,56 per share and  
33 607 507 “A” ordinary shares at an issue price of R0,01 per share to SIOC.

No share-based payment was accounted for on the issue of the 7 883 238 ordinary shares as the issue price of R12,56 per 
share was above the closing market price of R9,68 per share on Thursday, 15 November 2012, being the date of issue of 
the shares.

The economic substance of the issue of the “A” ordinary shares is the granting of a call option on Basil Read shares. 
On initial recognition, being the date on which the “A” ordinary shares were issued, i.e. 15 November 2012, the derivative 
financial liability has been measured at fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation-based option pricing model. The following 
assumptions have been used in this model:

– spot price (R)  9,68 

– volatility (%) 34,49%

– grant date  15 November 2012 

– maturity date  15 November 2015 

– extended maturity  15 November 2016 

– notional loan balance (R)  421 774 213 

– loan interest rate (%)  72% of prime 

– dividend yield (%)  2,77% 

Information pertaining to the share-based payment relating to the share incentive scheme can be found in note 40(e).
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2012
 R’000 

2011
 R’000 

35. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating (loss)/profit  (120 545)  280 946 

Adjustment for non-cash items:  360 675  232 135 

Depreciation  300 436  242 237 

Share-based payment  60 539  545 

Impairment loss  7 052  24 802 

Write down of development land  26 607 –

Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment  113  (4 941)

Profit on sale of available-for-sale financial asset  (4 979) –

Loss/(profit) on sale of subsidiary  312  (24 475)

Loss on sale of jointly controlled entity  4 622 –

Profit on sale of associate  (441) –

Fair value adjustment  (29 177) –

Reversal of other borrowings – deferred payment to previous shareholders  

of Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd  (6 399)  (16 818)

Amortisation of intangible assets  1 990  10 785 

Operating cash flow  240 130  513 081 

Movements in working capital:  793 368  (346 657)

Inventories  (38 379)  1 790 

Development land  (30 296)  (46 748)

Contract and trade debtors  114 079  (426 595)

Receivables and prepayments  19 416  (49 226)

Trade and other payables  750 609  103 394 

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (22 061)  70 728 

Cash generated by operating activities  1 033 498  166 424 

Excluded from the cash flow statement are additions to fixed assets amounting to Rnil (2011: R436 million) which were 

funded by instalment sale agreements.
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 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

36. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends due at the beginning of the year  (622)  (497)

Dividends declared per the statement of changes in equity –  (37 144)

Dividends due at the end of the year  584  622 

Dividends paid  (38)  (37 019)

37. TAXATION PAID

Net taxation due at the beginning of the year  11 777  (16 101)

Normal taxation and STC charged to the income statement  (75 248)  (102 722)

Disposal of subsidiaries –  1 337 

Transferred to assets held for sale  (7 956) –

Net taxation due at the end of the year  (41 794)  (11 777)

Taxation paid  (113 221)  (129 263)

38. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The group has the following guarantees and suretyships outstanding at the year-end:

Payment guarantees  17 156  53 561 

Performance and construction guarantees  1 767 529  1 442 781 

Bond retention guarantees  761 586  356 323 

Bid and other bonds  185 858  164 405 

 2 732 129  2 017 070 

It is not expected that any loss will arise out of the issue of the above guarantees.

39. CAPITAL AND OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for at the statement of financial position date – –

Capital expenditure approved and not yet contracted for  166 472  200 000 

Operating lease commitments contracted for at the statement of financial position date:

Due within the next 12 months  51 219  53 152 

Due between 1 and 2 years  75 447  52 918 

Thereafter  486 187  356 294 

 612 853  462 364 

The operating leases for office space are payable in monthly instalments of between R6 300 and R2 500 601. The longest 

lease expires in 11 years.

The operating leases for the rental of the Basil Read head office campus in Boksburg is with Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) 

Ltd, a related party. The leases expire in 11 years.
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 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

40. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a. Staff costs  1 895 402  1 622 286 

Salaries and wages  1 820 123  1 521 395 

Share-based payment –  545 

Pension costs – defined contribution plans  52 418  48 754 

Social security costs  22 861  51 592 

Segment employees analysis  Number  Number 

Number of employees employed by the group: Geographical  6 539  6 493 

Local  5 473  6 279 

International  1 066  214 

b. Defined contribution and defined benefit plan

The Basil Read Group Pension Fund, the Basil Read Group Provident Fund and the 

Construction Industry Retirement Benefit Plan cover permanent employees of the 

group and its subsidiary companies. The pension fund is a defined benefit plan while 

the provident fund and Construction Industry Retirement Benefit Plan are both 

defined contribution plans. All three funds are registered under the Pension Funds 

Act of 1965 as privately administered funds.

The Basil Read Group Pension Fund was actuarially valued on 30 September 2007 

and subsequently rolled forward to 31 December 2009. The surplus 

apportionment, as required by the Pension Funds Second Amendment Act 2001, 

was approved by the Financial Services Board during January 2007.

 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

Present value of funded obligations  (25 546)  (59 188)

Fair value of plan assets  32 405  64 678 

Surplus  6 859  5 490 

Unrecognised due to paragraph 58(b) limit  (6 859)  (5 490)

The principal actuarial assumptions used for valuation purposes were as follows:

Discount rate 5,00% 8,25%

Expected return on assets 5,00% 6,50%

Future salary increases n/a n/a

Future pension increases n/a 3,10%

The group has not recognised any portion of the pension fund surplus in its balance sheet. The directors do not expect 

a significant portion of this surplus to be allocated to the group once the final apportionment has been approved by the 

trustees of the fund.
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 2012

 R’000 

 2011

 R’000 

40. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

b. Defined contribution and defined benefit plan (continued)   

Reconciliation of present value of funded obligations

Balance at the beginning of the year  59 188  46 772 

Service cost – –

Member contributions – –

Interest cost  3 720  4 872 

Actuarial loss  30 131  7 838 

Benefits paid  (63 137)  (294)

Risk premiums – –

Amount settled – –

Curtailment loss  (4 356) –

Balance at the end of the year  25 546  59 188 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Balance at the beginning of the year  64 678  46 602 

Expected return on assets  3 616  4 405 

Contributions – –

Risk premiums – –

Benefits paid  (63 137)  (294)

Actuarial gain  32 224  13 965 

Amount settled  (4 976) –

Balance at the end of the year  32 405  64 678 

The assets of the Basil Read Group Pension Fund were invested as follows:

Cash 78,1% 86,1%

Equity 0,0% 7,3%

Bonds 21,9% 6,6%

Total 100,0% 100,0%

Five-year analysis

 Present value 

of funded 

obligations 

R’000 

 Fair value of 

plan assets

 R’000 

As at 31 December 2008  43 512  48 051 

As at 31 December 2009  44 815  47 603 

As at 31 December 2010  46 772  46 602 

As at 31 December 2011  59 188  64 678 

As at 31 December 2012  25 546  32 405 

c.  Company contribution

The company, on the advice of the actuary, determines the company contribution rate in respect of the Basil Read 

Group Pension Fund.

d.  Medical aid

The company continuously reviews its contribution and benefit structures in its various medical aid schemes to ensure 

that these are well positioned against steeply rising healthcare costs. The group has no current exposure to post-

retirement medical aid costs.
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40. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e.  Share incentive scheme

In terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue options to 

directors and qualifying employees. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the market price of the shares 

less a maximum discount of 10%. Options are conditional on the employee being in the service of the group on the 

vesting date. The group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

First grant

In terms of the first issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds the right to issue shares to employees 

who exercised this option in September 2002. The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of 

R1,40 per share when the group issues these shares at the vesting periods indicated below. The scheme is administered 

through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of these unissued shares amounted to R97 759 (2011: R199 304) based 

on the group’s year-end share price.

The movement in the rights to acquire Basil Read shares in terms of issue one is as follows:

 Number

 2012

 ’000

 Number

 2011

 ’000

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  14  14 

Rights exercised during the year  (5) –

Lapsed during the year due to resignations – –

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  9  14 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited 

to the following vesting periods:

September 2005  8  8 

September 2006 – –

September 2007  1  6 

 9  14 

Third grant

In terms of the third issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds 

the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this option in November 2007. 

The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R13,95 per 

share when the group issues these shares at the vesting periods indicated below. 

The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of 

these unissued shares amounted to R19 997 906 (2011: R26 451 600) based on 

the group’s year-end share price.

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  1 876  1 876 

Rights exercised during the year  (33) –

Lapsed during the year due to resignations – –

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  1 843  1 876 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited 

to the following vesting periods:

November 2008  911  926 

November 2009  462  471 

November 2010  470  479 

 1 843  1 876 

The following share options allocated to executive directors are still outstanding at 

year-end:

Vested  310  310 

Non-vested – –

 310  310 
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40. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

e. Share incentive scheme (continued)

Third grant (continued)

 Number

 2012

 ’000

 Number

 2011

 ’000

The following share options allocated to key management are still outstanding 

at year-end:

Vested  515  515 

Non-vested – –

 515  515 

Fourth grant

In terms of the fourth issue of share options, the group’s share incentive trust holds 

the right to issue shares to employees who exercised this option in April 2009. 

The qualifying employees are able to acquire such shares at a price of R13,95 per 

share when the group issues these shares at the vesting periods indicated below. 

The scheme is administered through the Basil Read Share Trust. The fair value of 

these unissued shares amounted to R17 237 938 (2011: R22 648 830) based on 

the group’s year-end share price.

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year  1 606  1 625 

Rights exercised during the year  (17) –

Lapsed during the year due to resignations –  (19)

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  1 589  1 606 

The maturity date and maximum amount of shares that can be purchased are limited 

to the following vesting periods:

April 2010  793  802 

April 2011  397  402 

April 2012  399  402 

 1 589  1 606 

The following share options allocated to executive directors are still outstanding at 

year-end:

Vested  175  131 

Non-vested –  44 

 175  175 

The following share options allocated to key management are still outstanding at 

year-end:

Vested  622  467 

Non-vested –  155 

 622  622 

f.  Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments

Full details of audited directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments are provided in the directors’ report, under the 

following sections:

– Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments (page 135)

– Directors’ and prescribed officers’ equity-settled instruments (page 137)

– Interests of directors and officers in share capital (page 139)

– Interests of directors and officers in share incentive scheme (page 140)
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41. SEGMENT REPORT

The group mainly operates in South Africa, sub-Saharan Africa, Australia and South America. The group’s client base consists 

mainly of government and mining institutions. Approximately three-quarters of the group’s revenue from continuing 

operations is generated in South Africa.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic executive management 

committee that are used to make strategic decisions.

The committee manages the business in terms of four segments: construction, developments, engineering and mining. 

Assets and liabilities are allocated to each of these segments and are managed accordingly.

In terms of revenue and profitability, the construction segment has been further broken down into buildings, civil engineering 

and roads to be consistent with the internal reporting reviewed by the committee.

Although the developments segment does not meet the qualitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, management has 

concluded that this segment should be reported, as it is closely monitored by the strategic executive management committee 

as a growth area with a unique risk profile.

Intersegment revenue is charged at market rates prevailing at the time of the transaction. The revenue from external 

customers reported to the strategic executive management committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the 

income statement.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive management committee with respect to assets are measured in a manner 

consistent with that of the financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the 

physical location of the asset.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive management committee with respect to liabilities are measured in a 

manner consistent with that of the financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.
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41. SEGMENT REPORT (continued)

The segment information provided to the strategic executive management committee for the reportable segments for the 

year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:

Operating 

profit 

%

Construc-

tion

R’000

Develop-

ments

R’000

Engineering

R’000

Mining

R’000

Inter-

segment

 elimination

R’000

 Total 

R’000

Revenue  4 169 478  25 028  466 129  1 196 993  (364 163)  5 493 465 

Buildings  776 918 – – –  (24 489)  752 429 

Civil engineering  1 355 016 – – –  (59 975)  1 295 041 

Roads  2 037 544 – – –  (103 154)  1 934 390 

Mining – – –  1 196 993  (176 545)  1 020 448 

Developments –  25 028 – – –  25 028 

Engineering – –  466 129 – –  466 129 

Operating profit  (3,11)  (277 225)  (30 036)  54 008  82 390 –  (170 863)

Buildings  2,94  22 109 – – – –  22 109 

Civil engineering  (1,95)  (25 295) – – – –  (25 295)

Roads  (14,17)  (274 039) – – – –  (274 039)

Mining  8,07 – – –  82 390 –  82 390 

Developments  (120,01) –  (30 036) – – –  (30 036)

Engineering  11,59 – –  54 008 – –  54 008 

Depreciation  (109 251)  (137) –  (176 781) –  (286 169)

Impairment  (300) – – – –  (300)

Net finance costs  (28 744)  (14 785)  (3 793)  (37 361) –  (84 683)

Property, plant and 

equipment  635 835  3 018  8 621  624 653 –  1 272 127 

Additions to property, 

plant and equipment  306 107  14  5 041  172 720 –  483 882 

Goodwill  282 097 –  90 510  34 779 –  407 386 

Inventories  41 149 – –  40 087 –  81 236 

Cash and cash 

equivalents  826 471  5 283  96 562  118 518 –  1 046 834 

Interest-bearing 

borrowings  510 215 – –  366 952 –  877 167 

Other borrowings  13 250 – – – –  13 250 

Order book  7 645 000  50 000  1 050 000  1 500 000 –  10 245 000 
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41. SEGMENT REPORT (continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Operating 

profit 

%

Construc-

tion

R’000

Develop-

ments

R’000

Engineering

R’000

Mining

R’000

Inter-

segment

 elimination

R’000

 Total 

R’000

Revenue  4 393 491  38 276  202 748  1 190 739  (504 309)  5 320 945 

Buildings  830 914 – – –  (74 871)  756 043 

Civil engineering  1 051 399 – – –  (30 513)  1 020 886 

Roads  2 511 178 – – –  (138 899)  2 372 279 

Mining – – –  1 190 739  (260 026)  930 713 

Developments –  38 276 – – –  38 276 

Engineering – –  202 748 – –  202 748 

Operating profit  3,86  81 294  9 065  7 142  107 680 –  205 181 

Buildings  0,88  6 647 – – – –  6 647 

Civil engineering  0,55  5 617 – – – –  5 617 

Roads  2,91  69 030 – – – –  69 030 

Mining  11,57 – – –  107 680 –  107 680 

Developments  23,68 –  9 065 – – –  9 065 

Engineering  3,52 – –  7 142 – –  7 142 

Depreciation  (84 697)  (128)  (3 360)  (142 512) –  (230 697)

Impairment  (1 948) –  (22 854) – –  (24 802)

Net finance income/(costs)  (15 742)  (9 469)  11 848  (19 677) –  (33 040)

Property, plant and 

equipment  504 305  3 141  41 804  616 963 –  1 166 213 

Additions to property, 

plant and equipment  193 394  52  43 499  410 965 –  647 910 

Goodwill  282 097 –  452 549  34 779 –  769 425 

Inventories  6 157 –  83  36 617 –  42 857 

Cash and cash equivalents  419 296  5 238  (975)  230 170 –  653 729 

Interest-bearing 

borrowings  566 845  61 111 –  399 349 –  1 027 305 

Other borrowings  19 649 – – – –  19 649 

Order book  7 700 000  200 000  2 600 000  2 000 000 –  12 500 000
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties during the year:

Costs incurred by the group:

Nature of relationship/Amounts paid to

Nature of 

transaction

2012

R’000

 2011 

R’000

Shareholders

Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd Directors’ fees  799  655 

Directors

Amounts paid to other non-executive directors Directors’ fees  2 449  1 852 

Amounts paid to executive directors Remuneration and incentives  10 739  19 955 

Prescribed officers

Amounts paid to prescribed officers Remuneration and incentives  9 804  10 549 

Management

Amounts paid to key management# Cash portion of package  19 851  19 883 

Amounts paid to key management# Benefits  2 812  2 983 

Amounts paid to key management# Incentive bonus  2 750  8 250 

Associate companies and joint ventures

Sugar Creek Trading 101 (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  16 316  15 610 

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd  Loan*   30 500 –

TWP Australia (Pty) Limited  Loan*  32 292  41 987 

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  (1 141)  (1 141)

Beaufort West Energy Holding (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  1 039 –

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  8 232  4 293 

Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  (44 908)  (44 832)

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  14 773  2 649 

Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd  Loan*  169  377 

#  Key management include the directors of the group’s two largest operating subsidiaries, Basil Read (Pty) Ltd and TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd. Details of 
share options awarded to key management can be found in note 40.

* Refer notes 16 and 17 for further details.
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2012

 R’000 

2011

 R’000 

43. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

Jointly controlled operations

The group’s aggregate proportionate share of jointly controlled operations:

Assets

Non-current assets  422 532  416 214 

Current assets  292 909  279 355 

 715 441  695 569 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  341 743  381 460 

Current liabilities  373 698  314 109 

 715 441  695 569 

Income statement

Revenue  1 516 593  1 223 400 

Cost  (1 538 115)  (1 193 352)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (21 522)  30 048 

Two-thirds of the revenue from jointly controlled operations is generated by the 

following three joint ventures:

– Basil Read Bothakga Burrow joint venture

– Basil Read Newport joint venture

– Kusile Civil Works joint venture

Jointly controlled entities

The group’s proportionate share of jointly controlled entities:

Assets

Non-current assets  98 543  5 344 

Current assets  84 073  103 784 

 182 616  109 128 

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  (15 478)  (10 363)

Non-current liabilities  104 195  25 219 

Current liabilities  93 899  94 272 

 182 616  109 128 

Income statement

Revenue  11 523  15 945 

Cost  (15 808)  (18 902)

Net loss for the year  (4 285)  (2 957)
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2012

 R’000 

2011

 R’000 

44. ASSOCIATES

The group’s proportionate share of associates:

Assets

Non-current assets  69 057  46 642 

Current assets  157 221  130 852 

 226 278  177 494

Equity and liabilities

Reserves  64 388  7 574 

Non-current liabilities  285 –

Current liabilities  161 606  169 920 

 226 279  177 494 

Income statement

Revenue  251 662  52 596 

Cost  (202 565)  (45 888)

Net profit for the year  49 097  6 708 
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45. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES

The following information relates to the group’s financial interest in direct and indirect investments that are material to 

the group:

Issued

ordinary

share 

capital

 Proportion held

Currency

2012

%

 2011

 % 

Subsidiaries

Abrina 6830 (Section 21) ZAR 100  100 

Angloafrican Underwriting Managers (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 51  51 

African Road Maintenance and Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 100  100 

Basil Read (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Basil Read Mining Botswana (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 2 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Ltd (incorporated in the United Kingdom) GBP 1 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Middle East LLC (incorporated in  

Abu Dhabi) AED 20 200 000 49  49 

Basil Read Construction Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated  

in Namibia) NAD 100 100  100 

Basil Read Construction Sierre Leone Ltd (incorporated in  

Sierre Leone) SLL 100 000 000 100  100 

Basil Read Energy (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Homes (Pty) Ltd ZAR 2 100  100 

Basil Read International (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mauritius (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Mauritius) USD 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mining (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mining Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 10 100  100 

Basil Read Mining SA (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Basil Read Mozambique Limitada (incorporated in Mozambique) MZM 1 500 000 100  100 

Basil Read Nigeria Ltd (incorporated in Nigeria) NGN 2 000 000 100  100 

Basil Read Properties No. 2 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 389 000 100  100 

Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 –  100 

Basil Read Tanzania (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Tanzania) TZS 2 000 000 100  100 

Basil Read Uganda (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Uganda) UGX 100 100  100 

Basil Read Zambia Ltd (incorporated in Zambia) ZMK 5 000 100  100 

B & E Africa (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Swaziland) ZAR 200 100  100 

B & E Botswana (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 200 100  100 

B & E Lesotho (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Lesotho) ZAR 200 100  100 

Blasting & Excavating Namibia (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Namibia) NAD 200 100  100 

Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Blue Wave Properties 183 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

City Square Trading 949 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Codevco (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 100  100 

Contract Plumbing and Sanitation (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Effluent Technologies (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 
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45. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

Issued

ordinary

share 

capital

 Proportion held

Currency

2012

%

 2011

 % 

Subsidiaries (continued)

Facets Interiors (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Matomo Engineering Namibia (Pty) Ltd NAD 100 100  100 

Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Mvela Phanda Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 10 000 100  100 

Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 70  70 

P. Gerolemou Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Phambili Pipelines (Pty) Ltd ZAR 730 100  100 

Portal – TPC Architects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Portal Partnership Incorporated ZAR 50 000 100  100 

Richtrau No. 111 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Roadcrete Africa (Pty) Ltd ZAR 4 900 100  100 

Roadcrete Mkhatjwa (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

Siyavuya Mining (Pty) Ltd* ZAR 100 49  49 

Sladden International (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (incorporated  

in Botswana) BWP 500 000 100  100 

SprayPave (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

Swaziland Construction Company (Pty) Ltd  

(incorporated in Swaziland) SZL 2 100  100 

TPS.P Arquitectos Limitada MZM 20 000 97,5  97,5 

TPS Siyakha Architects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Tubo Jacked Pipelines (Pty) Ltd ZAR 300 100  100 

TWP Environmental Services (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd ZAR 286 171 209 100  100 

TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Limpopo Engineering (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100  100 

TWP Matomo Process Plants (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 100  100 

TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 100  100 

Valente Brothers (Pty) Ltd ZAR 200 100  100 

Jointly controlled entities

Savanna City Developments (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 50  50 

Siyaya Energy (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 –  50 

Thunderstruck Investments (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100  50 –

TWSP (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Australia) AUD 10 000 50  50 

Vhumbanani Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 80 000 50  50 
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45. SCHEDULE OF GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

Issued

ordinary

share 

capital

 Proportion held

Currency

2012

%

 2011

 % 

Jointly controlled operations

Basil Read Bothakga Burrow joint venture BWP n/a 70  70 

Basil Read Genesis joint venture NAD n/a 80  80 

Basil Read Lutamo joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

Basil Read Newport joint venture ZAR n/a 85  85 

Basil Read Quinisa joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Basil Read Phambili Pipelines joint venture ZAR n/a 100  100 

Basil Read Sivukile joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

BRCD joint venture ZAR n/a 80  80 

BRDC N17 joint venture ZAR n/a 80  80 

BRGDT joint venture ZAR n/a 55  55 

CBR joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

DCT joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

Germiston Hospital Contractors joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

GSC joint venture ZAR n/a 60  60 

Kopano joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Kusile Civil Works joint venture ZAR n/a 25  25 

Kusile Silos joint venture ZAR n/a 28 –

Mbombela Stadium joint venture ZAR n/a 40  40 

MPC/NHC joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

MPC/SSB joint venture ZAR n/a 66  66 

PGTN joint venture ZAR n/a 60  60 

Realeka/MPC joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Roadcrete Africa joint venture ZAR n/a 100  100 

Runway Contractors joint venture ZAR n/a 70  70 

SSBR Kusile joint venture ZAR n/a 50  50 

Trekkopje joint venture NAD n/a 33,3 33,3

Associates

Binga Constuçoes Mozambique Limitada  

(incorporated in Mozambique) MZM 30 000 000 49  49 

BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 20  20 

Majwe Mining Joint Venture (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in Botswana) BWP 100 28  28 

Metrowind (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 28  35 

Mmila Projects (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 30  30 

N17 Toll Operators (Pty) Ltd ZAR 1 000 25  25 

Protea Parkway Concession (Pty) Ltd ZAR 100 25  25 

SBB Mozambique Limitada MZM 10 000 000 30  30 

The holding company’s interest in the aggregate net losses earned by subsidiaries amounted to R163,2 million for the year 

(2011: profits of R152,5 million).

*  Siyavuya Mining (Pty) Ltd is classified as a subsidiary as the group has effective control.
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46. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2012

There were no business combinations in the year under review.

For the year ended 31 December 2011

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd

On 30 September 2011, the group acquired the remaining 12,5% of the share capital of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd, thereby 

giving the group an effective 100% interest in the company.

 R’000 

Carrying value of non-controlling interest share acquired  (3 200)

Purchase price paid –

Loss on transactions with non-controlling interests  (3 200)

Loss on transactions with non-controlling interests has been allocated as follows:

Retained income  (2 710)

Foreign currency translation reserve  (490)

 (3 200)

Subsequent to the acquisition of the remaining 12,5% of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd, the group disposed of 50% of the company. 

Refer to note 47 for further information.

47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd

During February 2012, the group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd. The company 

is a property-owning company.

Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the construction segment.

Details of net assets disposed are as follows:
 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received  66 348 

– asset raised –

Total sale consideration  66 348 

Carrying value of net assets disposed  (66 660)

Loss on sale  (312)

The assets and liabilities as of February 2012 disposed of are:

 Fair value 

R’000

 Disposee’s 

carrying 

amount

R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  24  24 

Property, plant and equipment  62 296  62 296 

Receivables and prepayments  3 837  3 837 

Deferred income tax asset  610  610 

Trade and other payables  (107)  (107)

Net assets  66 660  66 660 

Purchase consideration received in cash  66 348 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (24)

Cash inflow on disposal  66 324 
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd

On 1 January 2011, the group disposed of 100% of the share capital of Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd. The company is a 

property-owning company.

Basil Read Contracting (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the construction segment.

Details of net assets disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received  93 975 

– asset raised –

Total sale consideration  93 975 

Fair value of net assets disposed  (89 470)

Profit on sale  4 505 

The assets and liabilities as of 1 January 2011 disposed of are:

 Fair value 

R’000

 Disposee’s 

carrying 

amount

R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents – –

Property, plant and equipment  91 666  91 666 

Receivables and prepayments  892  892 

Deferred income tax liabilities  (2 185)  (2 185)

Trade and other payables  (284)  (284)

Current income tax liabilities  (619)  (619)

Net assets  89 470  89 470 

Purchase consideration received in cash  93 975 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed –

Cash inflow on disposal  93 975 

Newport Construction (Pty) Ltd

On 1 June 2011, the group disposed of 30% of the share capital of Newport Construction 

(Pty) Ltd, thereby giving the group an effective 70% interest in the company.

  R’000  

Carrying value of non-controlling interest share disposed  (1 643)

Purchase consideration received  2 000 

Gain on transactions with non-controlling interests  357 
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd

On 30 September 2011, the group disposed of 50% of the share capital of TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd. The jointly controlled 

entity was renamed TWSP (Pty) Ltd.

TWP Australia (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the engineering segment.

Details of net liabilities disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received  5 730 

Total sale consideration  5 730 

Fair value of net liabilities disposed  25 601 

Derecognition of foreign currency translation reserve  (3 923)

Recognition of jointly controlled entity at fair value  5 730 

Profit on sale  33 138 

The assets and liabilities as of 30 September 2011 disposed of are:

 Fair value 

R’000

 Disposee’s 

carrying 

amount

R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  586  586 

Property, plant and equipment  5 247  5 247 

Deferred income tax assets  9 395  9 395 

Contract and trade debtors  16 730  16 730 

Receivables and prepayments  808  808 

Shareholder loan account  (46 449)  (46 449)

Trade and other payables  (10 581)  (10 581)

Current income tax liabilities  (1 337)  (1 337)

Net assets  (25 601)  (25 601)

Purchase consideration received in cash  5 730 

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (586)

Cash inflow on disposal  5 144 
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47. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd

On 31 December 2011, the TWP Group disposed of its full 74% share held in TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd.

TRG Trading (Pty) Ltd was included as part of the engineering segment.

Details of net liabilities disposed are as follows:

 R’000 

Sale consideration:

– cash received –

Total sale consideration –

Fair value of net liabilities disposed  2 536 

Derecognition of non-controlling interest  (15 704)

Loss on sale  (13 168)

The assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2011 disposed of are:

 Fair value 

R’000

 Disposee’s 

carrying 

amount

R’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  13  13 

Property, plant and equipment  3 209  3 209 

Inventory  3 053  3 053 

Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (2 060)  (2 060)

Shareholder loan  (6 000)  (6 000)

Trade and other payables  (751)  (751)

Net assets  (2 536)  (2 536)

Purchase consideration received in cash –

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed  (13)

Cash outflow on disposal  (13)

48. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 23 October 2012, the group entered into a sale of shares agreement with WorleyParsons Ltd (WorleyParsons) whereby 

WorleyParsons RSA Group (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of WorleyParsons, will acquire the entire issued share capital of TWP 

Holdings (Pty) Ltd for a cash consideration of R900 million. All conditions precedent to the transaction were met during the 

2013 financial year and the transaction was successfully concluded on 12 March 2013.

The transaction excludes Basil Read Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd and TWP Matomo Process Plant (Pty) Ltd which conduct 

the Basil Read EPC business as well as TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd and LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd (previously 

TPS.P Architects (Pty) Ltd). These companies will continue to operate autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries 

of Basil Read. 
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for the year ended 31 December 2012

Company income statement

Company statement of comprehensive income 

Notes

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Dividends received  –  35 000 

Other admin and operating overheads  (5 950)  (5 554)

Operating (loss)/profit  (5 950) 29 446

Interest received 49  7 3 083

Interest paid 49  (3)  (29)

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (5 946)  32 500 

Taxation  (102)  (3 714)

(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations  (6 048) 28 786

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Net profit for the year from discontinued operations 53  30 000  – 

Net profit for the year  23 952 28 786

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

Net profit for the year 23 952 28 786

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year 23 952 28 786
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as at 31 December 2012

Company statement of financial position 

Notes

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

ASSETS

Non-current assets  610 546  922 103 

Investments in subsidiaries 50  610 544  922 101 

Available-for-sale financial assets 51  2  2 

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 52  159  206 

Non-current assets held for sale 53  528 214  30 516 

Total assets  1 138 919  952 825 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves  1 135 908  952 067 

Stated capital 54  1 048 037  948 687 

Retained earnings  87 871  3 380 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 55  3 011  758 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets

classified as held for sale 53  –  – 

Total equity and liabilities  1 138 919  952 825 



216 Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Company statement of changes in equity

Company statement of cash flows

 Share 

capital 

 R’000 

 Retained

earnings 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Balance at 1 January 2011  948 687  11 193  959 880 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  28 786  28 786 

Share-based payment (refer note 56)  –  545  545 

Dividend paid  –  (37 144)  (37 144)

Balance at 31 December 2011  948 687  3 380  952 067 

Consideration received for the issue of shares  99 350  –  99 350 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  23 952  23 952 

Share-based payment (refer note 56)  –  60 539  60 539 

Balance at 31 December 2012  1 048 037  87 871  1 135 908 

Notes

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

Cash flow from operating activities  26 205  (8 239)

Cash generated by operating activities 57  26 341  29 440 

Net finance income 49  4  3 054 

Dividends paid 58  (38)  (37 019)

Taxation paid 59  (102)  (3 714)

Cash flow from investing activities

Loans (advanced to)/repaid by subsidiaries  (125 602)  8 318 

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares  99 350  – 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (47)  79 

Cash and cash equivalents – at the beginning of the year 206 127

Cash and cash equivalents – at the end of the year 52 159  206
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Notes to the company financial statements

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

49. NET FINANCE INCOME 

Interest paid

Bank loans and other borrowings  (3)  (29)

Interest received  7  3 083 

Bank  7  30 

Other  –  3 053 

 4  3 054 

50. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted investments

Shares at cost  170 297  662 386 

Share-based payments  86 847  62 433 

Loans to subsidiaries  353 400  197 282 

610 544 922 101

Details of the group’s investments in subsidiaries are as follows:

Basil Read (Pty) Ltd  432 482  259 708 

Shares at cost  1  1 

Share-based payment  79 081  62 433 

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  353 400  197 274 

TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd  –  662 385 

Shares at cost  492 089  662 385 

Share-based payment  36 125  – 

Transferred to assets held for sale  (528 214)  – 

BSR Engineering (Pty) Ltd  178 062  – 

Shares at cost  170 296  – 

Share-based payment  7 766  – 

Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd  –  – 

Interest-free loans to subsidiary  –  4 528 

Interest-bearing loan to subsidiary  –  25 988 

Transferred to assets held for sale  –  (30 516)

Blue Wave Properties 183 (Pty) Ltd

Interest free loans to subsidiary  –  8 

 610 544  922 101 

Unless indicated, the above loans are interest free. Partial loans to Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd were charged 

interest at the local prime overdraft rate plus 2,75%.

During the year, TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd and the following subsidiaries and joint venture were legally bound together through 

a reorganisation: TWP Limpopo Engineers (Pty) Ltd, TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd, Effluent Technologies (Pty) Ltd, TWP 

Environmental Services (Pty) Ltd, TWP Projects DRC SPRL, TWP SúdAmerica and Lisinfo 203 Trading (Pty) Ltd.

BSR Engineering (Pty) Ltd is the holding company of the excluded entities in terms of the disposal of TWP, namely Basil Read 

Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd, TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd, LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd, TWSP (Pty) Ltd and Outsource Plant 

Solutions SA (Pty) Ltd.

At 31 December 2012, the net asset value of the group was R1,8 billion (2011: R1,8 billion) and the market capitalisation was 

R1,4 billion (2011: R1,7 billion), based on the group’s year-end share price.
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 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

51. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Listed investments

At the beginning and the end of the year  2  2 

The carrying value of listed investments approximates their fair value.

52. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances 159 206

53. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

During the 2012 financial year, a decision was made by the group’s management to 

dispose of TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd in line with the strategy to focus on organic 

growth and reduce debt. TWP Holdings and its subsidiaries formed part of the 

engineering segment. The sale was concluded during the 2013 financial year. 

In terms of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations  

the discontinued operation must be tested for impairment. The fair value of the 

discontinued operation exceeds the carrying amount of the discontinued operation 

and no impairment is required.

The assets and liabilities relating to Basil Read Properties No. 3 (Pty) Ltd (part of the 

construction segment) were presented as held for sale in the 2011 financial year 

following the approval of the company’s management to sell the company. The sale was 

concluded during the 2012 financial year.

Asset and liabilities

Assets classified as held for sale

Investment in subsidiaries  528 214  30 516 

 528 214  30 516 

Income statement of discontinued operations

Revenue  –  – 

Expenses  –  – 

Dividends received  30 000 –

Net finance costs  –  – 

Profit before tax of discontinued operations  30 000  – 

Tax  –  – 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations  30 000  – 

Cash flows of discontinued operations

Operating cash flows  30 000  – 

Investing cash flows  –  – 

Financing cash flows  –  – 

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  –  – 

Total cash flows  30 000  – 
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54. STATED CAPITAL

 Number of

shares 

 No par 

value 

ordinary

 shares 

 R’000 

 No par value

“A” ordinary

shares 

 R’000 

 Total 

 R’000 

Ordinary shares

Authorised

300 000 000 ordinary no par value shares (2011: 150 000 000)

Issued

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the beginning and end of the year  123 811 043  948 687  –  948 687 

Year ended 31 December 2012

At the beginning of the year  123 811 043  948 687  –  948 687 

Issued in terms of BBBEE transaction – net of costs  7 883 238  99 014 –  99 014 

At the end of the year  131 694 281  1 047 701  –  1 047 701 

“A” ordinary shares

Authorised

33 607 507 “A” ordinary no par value shares (2011: Nil)

Issued

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the beginning and end of the year  –  –  –  – 

Year ended 31 December 2012

At the beginning of the year  –  –  –  – 

Issued in terms of BBBEE transaction – net of costs  33 607 507  –  336  336 

At the end of the year  33 607 507  –  336  336 

Total share capital

Year ended 31 December 2011

At the end of the year  123 811 043  948 687  –  948 687 

Year ended 31 December 2012

At the end of the year  165 301 788  1 047 701  336  1 048 037 

The unissued shares were not placed under the control of the directors by resolution of the shareholders until the 

forthcoming annual general meeting. The directors are not authorised, by resolution of the shareholders and until the 

forthcoming annual general meeting, to issue ordinary shares for cash.
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 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

55. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors and accruals  2 427  136 

Shareholders for dividends  584  622 

 3 011  758 

The carrying value of trade and other payables approximates their fair 

value due to the short-term maturities of these balances.

56. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share-based payment

– BBBEE transaction  60 539  – 

– Share incentive scheme  –  545 

 60 539  545 

The share-based payment in the current year relates to a BBBEE transaction that was successfully concluded with 

SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd (SIOC).

In terms of the transaction, the group issued 7 883 238 ordinary shares at an issue price of R12,56 per share and  

33 607 507 “A” ordinary shares at an issue price of R0,01 per share to SIOC.

No share-based payment was accounted for on the issue of the 7 883 238 ordinary shares as the issue price of  

R12,56 per share was above the closing market price of R9,68 per share on Thursday, 15 November 2012, being the  

date of issue of the shares.

The economic substance of the issue of the “A” ordinary shares is the granting of a call option on Basil Read shares. 

On initial recognition, being the date on which the “A” ordinary shares were issued, i.e. 15 November 2012, the derivative 

financial liability has been measured at fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation-based option pricing model. The following 

assumptions have been used in this model:

– spot price (R) 9,68

– volatility (%) 34,49%

– grant date  15 November 2012 

– maturity date  15 November 2015 

– extended maturity  15 November 2016 

– notional loan balance (R)  421 774 213 

– loan interest rate (%)  72% of prime 

– dividend yield (%)  2,77% 

Information pertaining to the share-based payment relating to the share incentive scheme can be found in note 40(e).



Basil Read integrated  
annual report 2012 221

F
in

an
ci

al
 r

ev
ie

w

 2012 

 R’000 

 2011 

 R’000 

57. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit  24 050  29 446 

Adjustment for non-cash items:  –  – 

Operating cash flow  24 050  29 446 

Movements in working capital:

Trade and other payables  2 291  (6)

Cash generated by operating activities  26 341  29 440 

58. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends due at the beginning of the year  (622)  (497)

Dividends declared per the statement of changes in equity  –  (37 144)

Dividends due at the end of the year  584  622 

Dividends paid  (38)  (37 019)

59. TAXATION PAID

Taxation due at the beginning of the year  –  – 

STC charged to the income statement  (102)  (3 714)

Taxation due at the end of the year  –  – 

Taxation paid  (102)  (3 714)

60. BORROWING POWERS

The company has unlimited borrowing powers in terms of its constitutional documents.  

61. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company has issued sureties for unlimited amounts in respect of amounts advanced to and sureties issued on behalf of 

subsidiary companies. It is not expected that any loss will arise out of the issue of these guarantees. 

62. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 23 October 2012, the group entered into a sale of shares agreement with WorleyParsons Ltd (WorleyParsons) whereby 

WorleyParsons RSA Group (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of WorleyParsons, will acquire the entire issued share capital of TWP 

Holdings (Pty) Ltd for a cash consideration of R900 million.  All conditions precedent to the transaction were met during the 

2013 financial year and the transaction was successfully concluded on 12 March 2013.  

The transaction excludes Basil Read Matomo Projects (Pty) Ltd and TWP Matomo Process Plant (Pty) Ltd which conduct 

the Basil Read EPC business as well as TWP Investments (Pty) Ltd and LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd (previously 

TPS.P Architects (Pty) Ltd). These companies will continue to operate autonomously and as wholly owned subsidiaries 

of Basil Read.          
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as at 31 December 2012

Shareholders’ information

SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS

The following are the shareholders beneficially holding, directly or indirectly, in excess of 2% of the share capital: 

Number of 

shares held

% of 

shares held

Ordinary shares
Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd  11 099 813  6,71 
The Townshend Family Trust  9 337 047  5,65 
Industrial Development Corporation  9 090 909  5,50 
Public Investment Commissioners  8 001 494  4,84 
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd  7 883 243  4,77 
Pictet et cie Banquiers  3 632 934  2,20 

“A” ordinary shares
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd  33 607 507  20,33 

DESCRIPTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Ordinary shares

Number of 

shareholders

%  of

shareholders

Number of

 shares held

% of 

shares held

Public shareholding
Corporate entities/nominees/trusts/individuals  3 713  99,81  103 315 026  62,51 

 3 713  99,81  103 315 026  62,51 

Non-public shareholding
Share Incentive Scheme  1  0,03  20 096  0,01 
Major black economic empowerment partners  2  0,05  18 983 056  11,48 
Directors (direct and indirect)  3  0,08  9 376 103  5,67 

 6  0,16  28 379 255  17,16 

Total ordinary shares  3 719  99,97  131 694 281  79,67 

“A” ordinary shares
Public shareholding
Corporate entities/nominees/trusts/individuals  –    –    –    –   

 –    –    –    –   

Non-public shareholding
Share Incentive Scheme  –    –    –    –   

Major black economic empowerment partners  1  0,03  33 607 507  20,33 
Directors (direct and indirect)  –    –    –    –   

 1  0,03  33 607 507  20,33 

Total “A” ordinary shares  1  0,03  33 607 507  20,33 

Total shares  3 720  100,00  165 301 788  100,00 

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS ACCORDING TO COUNTRY
South Africa  3 646  98,02  157 750 667  95,43 
Switzerland  3  0,08  3 666 084  2,22 
United States of America  13  0,35  2 241 908  1,36 
United Kingdom  16  0,43  606 549  0,37 
Netherlands  2  0,05  370 551  0,22 
Namibia  21  0,56  321 180  0,19 
Portugal  1  0,03  116 692  0,07 
Lesotho  1  0,03  99 983  0,06 
Luxembourg  2  0,05  69 353  0,04 
Hong Kong  2  0,05  25 420  0,02 
Botswana  6  0,16  18 629  0,01 
Zimbabwe  3  0,08  8 280  0,01 
Canada  1  0,03  5 500  –   
Swaziland  2  0,05  792  –   
Greece  1  0,03  200  –   

 3 720  100,00  165 301 788  100,00
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

(Registration number 1984/007758/06)

Share code: BSR  ISIN: ZAE000029781

(Basil Read or the company or the group)

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your 

Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional 

adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-eighth annual general meeting (annual general meeting) of shareholders of Basil Read will be 

held at 10:00am on Thursday, 6 June 2013 at Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg, for the purpose of 

considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions set out hereafter.

The board of directors of the company (the board) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 of the 

Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the 

company are entitled to participate in and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 31 May 2013. Accordingly, the last day to 

trade in Basil Read shares in order to be recorded in the register to be entitled to vote will be Friday, 24 May 2013.

1. To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the company and the group for the financial year ended 

31 December 2012, including the reports of the auditors, directors and the audit and risk committee.

2. To re-elect Mr TA Tlelai who, in terms of Article 28.8 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, retires by rotation at 

this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election.

3. To re-elect Mr SS Ntsaluba who, in terms of Article 28.8 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, retires by rotation at 

this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election. 

 

 The board recommends the reappointment of each director offering himself for re-election and shareholders are referred to 

the abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of the respective directors which appear on page 10 and page 11 of the annual 

report to which this notice is attached. 

4. To confirm, in terms of Article 28.2 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, the appointment of Ms NV Lila as 

independent non-executive director of the company.  

5. To confirm, in terms of Article 28.2 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, the appointment of Dr CE Manning 

as independent non-executive director of the company.  

6. To confirm, in terms of Article 28.2 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, the appointment of Mr PC Baloyi as 

independent non-executive director of the company.  

7. To confirm, in terms of Article 28.2 of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, the appointment of Mr ACG Molusi 

as non-executive director of the company.

 An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each newly appointed director appears on page 10 and page 11 of the annual 

report to which this notice is attached. 

8. To appoint Ms NV Lila as a member and chairperson of the company’s audit committee. 

9. To appoint Mr CP Davies as a member of the company’s audit committee. 

10. To appoint Mr SS Ntsaluba as a member of the company’s audit committee.

11. To appoint Mr PC Baloyi as a member of the company’s audit committee. 

 An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each member of the audit committee appears on page 10 and page 11 of the 

annual report to which this notice is attached. 

12. To confirm the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as independent auditors of the company with Mr Faan Lombard, 

being the individual registered auditor who has undertaken the audit of the company for the ensuing financial year and to 

authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

Notice of annual general meeting
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Notice of annual general meeting continued

The minimum percentage of voting rights required for each of the resolutions set out in item number 1 to 12 above to be adopted 

is more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on each of the resolutions by shareholders present or represented by 

proxy at the annual general meeting.

As special business, to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following resolutions:

13. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

“Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the 

annual remuneration payable to the non-executive directors of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company) for their services as 

directors of the company for the financial year ending 31 December 2013, be and is hereby approved as set out on page 136 

of the annual report to which this notice is attached.”

Explanatory note

In terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, a company is required to pre-approve the payment of remuneration to 

non-executive directors for their services as directors for the ensuing financial year by means of a special resolution passed by 

shareholders of the company within the previous two years. 

Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of 

the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

14. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

Approval of remuneration policy

“Resolved that the remuneration policy of the directors of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company), as set out in the 

remuneration report commencing on page 92 of the annual report to which this notice is attached, be and is hereby approved as 

a non-binding advisory vote of shareholders of the company in terms of the King III Report on Corporate Governance.”

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 

50% of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

15. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 

  Adoption of the Deed of Amendment regarding the existing Basil Read Share Incentive Trust

   “Resolved that the Basil Read Holdings Limited (Basil Read or the company) Deed of Amendment regarding the existing Basil 

Read Share Incentive Trust (Master’s Reference Number IT9247/98), which has been tabled at this annual general meeting and 

initialled by the chairperson of the annual general meeting for purposes of identification, the salient terms of which are set out 

on page 226 of the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached, be and is hereby approved and adopted by the 

Basil Read shareholders.”

   The purpose of the Deed of Amendment is to bring the current Basil Read Share Incentive Trust in line with the Companies 

Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) as well as the JSE Listings Requirements. A copy of the existing Basil Read Share Incentive Trust and 

the Deed of Amendment is available for inspection during normal business hours at the company’s registered office or on the 

company’s website (www.basilread.co.za).

   In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the approval of a 75% majority of the votes cast by all shareholders present or 

represented by proxy in annual general meeting, is required for this ordinary resolution number 2 to become effective, 

excluding, if applicable, all votes attaching to all shares owned or controlled by persons who are existing participants in the 

Basil Read Trust Deed. 

16. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 

  Approval of dividend

   “Resolved that the payment of a special gross dividend of 175c (one hundred and seventy-five cents) per ordinary share 

be approved.”

  Explanatory note

   The board proposes to declare a special gross dividend of 175c (one hundred and seventy-five cents) per share, to be paid to 

shareholders on 24 June 2013. The special dividend has been declared from income reserves and no secondary tax on 

companies’ credits has been used. A dividend withholding tax of 15% (fifteen percent) will therefore be applicable to all 

shareholders who are not exempt therefrom. The net dividend will therefore amount to 148.75c (one hundred and forty-eight 
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point seven five cents) per share. The board is satisfied that the requirements as per section 46 of the Companies Act, 2008 

(Act 71 of 2008), as amended, will be met, in particular, the board of directors of the company has passed a resolution to the 

effect that it reasonably appears that the company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test immediately after completing the 

proposed distribution.

17. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

  Signature of documents

   “Resolved that each director of Basil Read Holdings Limited (the company) be and is hereby individually authorised to sign all 

such documents and do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of those resolutions to be 

proposed at the annual general meeting convened to consider the resolutions which are passed, in the case of ordinary 

resolutions, or are passed and registered by the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, in the case of special 

resolutions.”

   Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 

50% of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

18. OTHER BUSINESS

  To transact such other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting of the company.

VOTING AND PROXIES

Special resolutions to be adopted at this annual general meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the 

votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting. Ordinary resolutions to be 

adopted at this annual general meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more than 50% (fifty percent), unless 

specifically stated otherwise, of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at 

the meeting.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and 

act in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company. For the convenience of registered members of the company, 

a form of proxy is attached hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:

 – hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or

 – are recorded on the sub-register in “own name” dematerialised form.

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker without “own name” registration 

and who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with the relevant letter of 

representation to attend the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend in person or by proxy, they must 

provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them 

and the CSDP or broker.

Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd, at least 48 hours, 

excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

Kindly note that meeting participants, which includes proxies, are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before 

being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s 

licences and passports.

By order of the board

A Ndoni

Company secretary

Boksburg 

6 May 2013
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Salient terms of the deed of amendment

Salient clause in deed of amendment: Explanation regarding amendment: 

3.7 the deletion of clause 3.7 and the substitution therefore with the following new clause 
3.7 –

3.7 No person shall be entitled to participate under the scheme for as long as he 
holds office as a trustee of the trust.  Furthermore, –

3.7.1 no executive director of the company may at any time hold office as a trustee 
of the trust; and

3.7.2 non-executive directors of the company, subject to any restrictions contained in 
the Act, may be appointed as trustees of the scheme, provided that they do not 
benefit from the scheme.”

The listings requirements of the JSE provide that 
executive directors may not be appointed as 
trustees of schemes.  As such, this amendment 
was made to bring the existing Basil Read Share 
Incentive Trust (the “Existing Trust”) document in 
line with the requirement.

3.9 the deletion of clause 3.9 and the substitution therefore with the following new 
clause 3.9 –

3.9 All decisions of the trustees shall be taken by simple majority vote.  

The Existing Trust currently requires unanimous 
assent, which can be impractical.  As such, the 
amendment requires a majority of the trustees 
to vote in favour of any decision.

3.12 the insertion of new clauses 3.11, 3.12, 3.13, 3.14 and 3.15. The insertion of these new clauses allows for 
greater clarity of the powers and voting rights of 
the trustees. 

3.14 the deletion of clause 9.2 and 9.3 and the substitution therefore with the following new 
clause 9.2 and 9.3 –

9.2 Subject to 9.5 and the prior approval, if required, of any securities exchange on 
which shares are listed, the prior authority of the shareholders of the company in 
general meeting shall be required if the aggregate number of shares which may be 
acquired by all participants under the scheme together with any other scheme is 
to exceed 6 584 714 shares. 

9.3 Subject to 9.5 and the prior approval, if required, of any securities exchange on 
which shares are listed, the prior authority of the shareholders of the company in 
general meeting shall be required if the aggregate number of shares that may be 
acquired by any one participant in terms of the scheme together with any other 
scheme is to exceed 658 471 shares.

Number of ordinary shares which may be utilised 
for the scheme has been updated from 2 755 000  
to 6 584 714 ordinary shares to reflect the 
increase in Basil Read’s authorised ordinary shares 
in issue.

Number of ordinary shares which may be utilised 
per any one eligible participant for the scheme has 
been updated from 275 500 to 658 471 ordinary 
shares per person to reflect the increase in the 
total number of ordinary shares available to be 
utilised by the scheme.

3.20 the insertion of the following new clause 22 –

22.  TAX LIABILITY

22.1 Notwithstanding any other provision in this deed, if the company, an employer 
company or the trustees are obliged (or would suffer a disadvantage of any 
nature if they were not) to account for, withhold or deduct any (a) tax in any 
jurisdiction which is payable in respect of, or in connection with, the granting of 
any option, the settlement to a participant of shares, the payment of a cash 
amount and/or otherwise in connection with the scheme and/or (b) any amount 
in respect of any social security or similar contributions which would be 
recoverable from a participant in respect of the granting of any option, 
settlement to a participant of shares, the payment of a cash amount and/or 
otherwise in connection with the scheme (the obligations referred to in (a) and 
(b) hereinafter referred to as a “Tax/Social Liability”), then the company, the 
employer company or trustees (as the case may be) shall be entitled to account 
for, withhold or deduct such Tax/Social Liability or the company, the employer 
company and/or the trustees (as the case may be) shall be relieved from the 
obligation to settle any shares to a participant or to pay any amount to a 
participant in terms of the scheme until that participant has either  

22.1.1 made payment to the relevant employer company or the trustees of an 
amount equal to the Tax/Social Liability; or

22.1.2 entered into an arrangement which is acceptable to the relevant 
employer company or the trustees to secure that such payment is made 
(whether by authorising the sale of some or all of the shares to be 
settled to him and the payment to the relevant person of the relevant 
amounts out of the proceeds of the sale or otherwise).

22.2 The company is hereby irrevocably and in rem suam nominated, constituted and 
appointed as the sole attorney and agent of a participant, in that participant’s 
name, place and stead to sign and execute all such documents and do all such 
things as are necessary to give effect to the provisions of 22.1.2.

22.3 Each participant shall ensure that he is in good standing with the South Africa 
Revenue Service and shall endeavour to assist the company, employer company 
or trustees with any and administration requirements arising from any  
Tax/Social Liability.”

The insertion of this new clause provides the 
company with the ability to address any tax or 
social liability arising from the granting of an 
option or settlement of a participant’s shares.
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Form of proxy

BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR  ISIN: ZAE000029781
(Basil Read or the company or the group)

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:
 – hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders); or
 – have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own name” registration,

at the twenty-eighth annual general meeting of shareholders of the company to be held at Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, 
Boksburg, at 10:00am on Thursday, 6 June 2013 and any adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general 
meeting must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and 
request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter of representation to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy 
and vote. If they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders 
must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone work (        ) Telephone home (        ) Cell (        )

being the holder/custodian of ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see note):

1.  or failing him/her,

2.  or failing him/her,

3.   the chairperson of the meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company convened for purpose of considering 
and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed thereat (resolutions) and at each 
postponement or adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against such resolutions, and/or abstain from voting, in respect of the ordinary shares 
in the issued share capital of the company registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the company and group for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2012

2. To approve the re-election as director of Mr TA Tlelai who retires by rotation 

3. To approve the re-election as director of Mr SS Ntsaluba who retires by rotation 

4. To confirm the appointment of Ms NV Lila as director of the company 

5. To confirm the appointment of Dr CE Manning as director of the company 

6. To confirm the appointment of Mr PC Baloyi as director of the company

7. To confirm the appointment of Mr ACG Molusi as director of the company

8. To approve the appointment of Ms NV Lila as member and chairperson of the audit 
committee

9. To approve the appointment of Mr CP Davies as member of the audit committee

10. To approve the appointment of Mr SS Ntsaluba as member of the audit committee

11. To approve the appointment of Mr PC Baloyi as member of the audit committee

12. To confirm the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors of the company 
together with Mr Faan Lombard for the ensuing financial year

13. Special resolution number 1 
Approval of the non-executive directors’ remuneration for the financial year ending 
31 December 2013

14. Ordinary resolution number 1 
Approval of the remuneration policy

15. Ordinary resolution number 2 
Adoption of the Deed of Amendment

16. Ordinary resolution number 3 
Approval of dividend

17. Ordinary resolution number 4 
Signature of documents

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant number of votes exercisable.
A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his stead. A proxy so 
appointed need not be a member of the company.
Signed at on      2013

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)
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Notes to form of proxy

1. The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in 
electronic form in “own name”.

2. All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the annual general meeting 
must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and 
the CSDP or broker.

3. A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies 
(none of whom need be a shareholder of the company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the 
chairperson of the meeting”. The person whose name stands first on this form of proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting will 
be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those proxy(ies) whose names follow. Should this space be left blank, the proxy will be exercised 
by the chairperson of the meeting. 

4. A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s 
instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 
space provided. If an “X” has been inserted in one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by the 
shareholder concerned. Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual 
general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to 
use all the votes exercisable by the shareholders or by the proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded 
may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy.

5. A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the annual general meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity or 
other legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in respect of which the 
proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 
forty-eight hours before the commencement of the annual general meeting.

6. If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, or 
gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly be put before the annual general 
meeting be proposed, such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7. The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 
compliance with these notes.

8. A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairperson of the annual general meeting, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, shall 
be deemed to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the annual general meeting.

9. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

10. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this 
form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.

11. A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant documents 
establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the company.

12. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

 – any one holder may sign the form of proxy;
 – the vote(s) of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of ordinary 
shareholders appear in the company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be 
accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

13. Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd:

Hand deliveries to: Postal deliveries to:
Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd
13th Floor PO Box 4844
Rennie House Johannesburg
19 Ameshoff Street 2000
Braamfontein

to be received by no later than 10:00am on Tuesday, 4 June 2013 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the annual general meeting), which 
date, if necessary, will be notified on SENS.

14. A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must be 
signed and not merely initialled.

Summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act:

A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing a proxy, and, subject to the rights of a shareholder to 
revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restrictions set out in the 
instrument appointing the proxy.

The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy chooses to act directly 
and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a 
proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes 
a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of (a) the date stated in the 
revocation instrument, if any; and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the company as required in the first sentence 
of this paragraph.

If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice 
that is required by the Companies Act or the company’s memorandum of incorporation to be delivered by the company to the shareholder, 
must be delivered by the company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) directed the company to do so 
in writing; and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so.

Attention is also drawn to the “Notes to form of proxy”.

The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any shareholder from attending the annual general meeting. 
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED

Registration number: 1984/007758/06

Share code: BSR

ISIN: ZAE000029781

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Basil Read Campus

7 Romeo Street

Hughes Extension

Boksburg 1459

Private Bag X170 Bedfordview 2008

Tel:  +27 11 418 6300

Fax: +27 11 418 6334

COMPANY SECRETARY

Andiswa Ndoni

SPONSOR

Macquarie First South Capital (Pty) Ltd

The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, South Wing

Sandown 2146

BANKERS

Nedbank Corporate Banking – Gauteng

1st Floor

Corporate Place Nedbank

135 Rivonia Road

Sandown 2196

First National Bank of Southern Africa Limited

5th Floor

No 3 First Place

Bank City

Harrison Street

Johannesburg 2001

Financial year-end 31 December

Annual general meeting 6 June 2013

REPORTS

Half-year interim report August 2013

Audited results March 2014
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